SYNTHESIS AND CHARACTERISATION OF MAGNETIC GRAPHENE-NANOPARTICLE COMPOSITES FOR WATER PURIFICATION.

Nduduzo Nkanyiso Malinga

Submitted in fulfilment of the Doctor of Philosophy in Engineering to the College of Agriculture, Engineering and Science (CAES),

University of KwaZulu-Natal

February 2021

Supervisor: Dr A. L. L. Jarvis

Declarations

As the candidate's Supervisor I agree/ do not agree to the submission of this thesis.

Signed:

Date:

11th October 2021

.....

Declarations

- I, Nduduzo Nkanyiso Malinga declare that:
 - (i) The research reported in the thesis is my original work, unless where indicated.
 - (ii) The thesis has not been submitted for examination for any degree in other University.
 - (iii) This thesis does not contain other person's data, graphs or other information, unless specifically acknowledged (referenced) as being sourced from other researchers.
 - (iv) This thesis does not contain other persons' writing, unless specially acknowledged as sourced other researchers. In the case where other been quoted then:
 - a. Their words have been re-written but the general information attributed to them has been referenced
 - b. Where their exact words have been used, then their writing has been inside quotation marks and referenced
 - (v) This thesis does not contain text, graphs or tables which are copied and pasted from the Internet, unless specifically acknowledged, and the source being detailed in the References sections.

Signed:... (Mr N.N. Malinga)

Date : 28 January 2021.....

ABSTRACT

The synthesis of reduced graphene oxide is investigated in this work, with a focus on water purification. The work stems from the interest gained from the discovery of graphene and its high surface area. The study focused on the synthesis of reduced graphene oxide. This afforded the synthesis of reduced graphene oxide nanoparticles composites and doped reduced graphene oxide. The composites were produced with magnetic nickel, cobalt and cobalt ferrite nanoparticles. The doped reduced graphene oxide was synthesized using nitrogen and boron as dopants. The prepared samples were rGO, N-rGO, B-rGO, Co-rGO, Ni-rGO and FeCo-rGO. All the samples were characterized using Transmission Electron Microscopy (TEM), Fourier Transform Infra-red (FTIR) spectroscopy, Thermal Gravimetric Analysis (TGA), Differential Scanning Calorimetry (DSC), Raman Spectroscopy and X-ray Diffraction (XRD). All the samples were found to have magnetic properties. The composites have superparamagnetic properties and FeCo-rGO had the highest magnetization at 12.54 emu.g⁻¹. The conductivity results showed that the doped samples and composites had better conductivity than rGO with the Ni-rGO having the highest conductivity of 62695.82 S.m⁻¹. All samples had conductivity which were similar to semiconductors. The prepared samples have high surface area and a large number adsorption sites and thus were used in applications of water purification in the removal of Cr(VI) ions from solution. The Co-rGO was found to have the ability to adsorb the Cr(VI) in form of CrO₄²⁻ while other samples catalysed reduction of Cr(VI) to Cr(III). Thus Co-rGO was used in the removal of Cr(VI) ions from solution. The adsorption of Cr(VI) ions occurs through electrostatic interaction between CrO₄²⁻ and Co-rGO. The optimum conditions for the removal of chromium ions were experimentally determined. The conditions, were a dosage of 300 mg.L⁻¹, a pH of 8, contact time 90 minutes and temperature was 298 K. The removal efficiency was affected by the concentration of chromium ions and there was 90 % removal efficiency for the concentration of 20 mg.L⁻¹

Acknowledgements

I would like to acknowledge everybody who helped me out throughout the craziest.

List of Symbols

μ	Carrier mobility (cm ² .V.s ⁻¹)
ρ	Resistivity $(\Omega.m)$
σ	Conductance (S.m ⁻¹)
σ_{xy}	Hall conductivity (4e ² .h ⁻¹)
X	magnetic susceptibility (cm ³ .g ⁻¹)
Xs	mass susceptibility (G ⁻¹ .g ⁻¹ .Oe ⁻¹)
χ_{mol}	molar susceptibility (G ⁻¹ .mol ⁻¹ .Oe ⁻¹)
λ	wavelength (nm)
θ	angle (°)
е	Charge of electron (1.602 × 10^{-19} C)
3	is the Polanyi constant
Er	is the dielectric constant
fr	is the resonant frequency (GHz)
В	Magnetic induction
β	is the constant of the sorption energy (mol ² .J ⁻²)
h	Plank's constant (6.626 × 10^{-34} J.s)
Ε	Energy (eV)
E_y	Young's modulus (N.m ⁻¹)
1	orbital angular momentum (kg.m ² .s ⁻¹)
Н	magnetic field intensity (Oe)
H_c	coercive fields (<i>Oe</i>)

V_g	gate voltage (J.C ⁻¹)
μ_l	orbital magnetic momentum (A.m)
m	mass (kg)
т	magnetic moment (erg. $G^{-1} \equiv emu$)
М	magnetization (A.m ⁻¹)
$M_{\rm s}$	saturation magnetization (emu.g ⁻¹)
Mr	remnant Magnetization (emu.g ⁻¹)
M_{m}	maximum magnetization (emu.g ⁻¹)
μ	magnetic permeability (G.Oe -1)
μ_r	relative permeability
μ_0	vacuum permeability (G.Oe ⁻¹)
μ_B	Bohr magneton
μο	permeability of free
k_1	is the rate constant (min ⁻¹)
k_2	is the second order rate constant (mol ⁻¹ .dm ³ .min ⁻¹)
q _e	amounts of Cr (VI) adsorbed at equilibrium (mg g ⁻¹)
k_2	Second order rate constant (g.mg ⁻¹ .min ⁻¹)
G	Gibbs free energy (kJ.mol ⁻¹)
R	Ideal gas constant (8.314 J.mol ⁻¹ .K ⁻¹)
Н	Enthalpy (kJ.mol ⁻¹)
γ	Gyromagnetic ratio (s ⁻¹ . <i>Oe</i> ⁻¹)

Table of Contents

Chapter 1: Introduction	1
1.1. Aims and Objectives	3
1.2. Contributions and Publications	4
1.3. Thesis outline	5
Chapter 2: Literature Review	9
2.1. Graphene	10
2.1.1. History of Graphene	11
2.1.2. Synthesis of Graphene	12
2.1.3. Properties of Graphene	19
2.1.4. Methods of Characterisation	20
2.1.5 Doping Techniques	31
2.2. Nanoparticles	39
2.3. Graphene Composites	42
2.4.1. Synthesis and characterization of magnetic graphene nanoparticles	
Composites	43
2.4.2. Applications	45
Chapter 3: Theory	. 56
3.1. Origin of Magnetism	. 57
3.2. Magnetisation	60
3.3. Classification of magnetic order in solids	61
3.4. Magnetic Hysteresis loop	71
Chapter 4: Experimental	
4.1. Materials	79
4.2. Equipment	80
4.3. Synthesis	86
Chapter 5: Results and Discussion	97

5.1. Synthesis and Characterization	98
5.1.1. Synthesis of graphene from chemical exfoliation	
5.1.2. Synthesis of doped reduced graphene oxide	107
5.1.3. Synthesis of Reduced Graphene Oxide nanoparticle composite	117
5.2. Characterisation of Nanoparticles	123
5.3. Magnetisation	128
5.4. Conductivity	133
Chapter 6: Removal of Cr(VI) from aqueous media	141
6.1 Removal of Cr(VI) from aqueous media using Co-rGO	142
6.2 Reduction of Cr(VI) to Cr(III) using Ni-rGO, FeCo-rGO and rGO	164
6.3 Conclusion	165
Chapter 7: Conclusions	174
7.1. General Conclusion	175
7.2. Future Recommendations	177
Chapter 8: Appendices	191
8.1. Application of Ni-rGO, FeCo-rGO in Patch Antenna	191
8.2 Raw Data	196

List of Figures

Figure 1.1: Chemical structure of (a) Graphene and (b) Graphene oxide.

Figure 1.2: Schematic diagram of the unzipping of SWCNT into graphene sheet.

Figure 2.1: Diagram showing etching of copper from the graphene support.

Figure 2.2: Comparison of the recovered starting material from the different methods of producing graphene oxide with the recovery of the staring material shown with the Hummer's method having the most recovered graphite.

Figure 2.3: Graphene, as the basic building block of carbon materials such as: fullerenes, carbon nanotubes and graphite.

Figure 2.4: Sketch showing the graphite lattice, with the 2 carbon atoms and vector planes.

Figure 2.5: Sketch showing the energy band of graphene with the insert showing the intersection at K point.

Figure 2.6: Diagram showing the band energy spectrum of double layers graphene.

Figure 2.7: Diagram showing quantum Hall effect. The sketch shows σ_{xy} , of mono layer graphene as function of the number of charge carriers, n is depicted in red and the longitudinal resistivity is depicted in green.

Figure 2.8: Diagram of the electric effect in few-layer graphene. (a) Shows the few layer graphene resistivity ρ on V_g for different temperatures in Kelvin (T= 5, 70 and 300 K). (b) Shows the changes in the films conductivity, (c) shows the Hall coefficient versus the Vg at T= 5 K and (d) shows the charge carrier dependence on temperature

Figure 2.9: Diagram showing the mechanical strength testing of graphene using AFM with diamond cantilever.

Figure 2.10: Illustration of nitrogen doping using CVD, N-6 is pyridinic nitrogen, N-5 is pyrrolic nitrogen and N-Q is graphitic nitrogen. Figure 2.11: Illustration of the formation of B-graphene, (a) is the schematic diagram of the method; (b) is the formed product and (c) reaction mechanism.

Figure 2.12: Illustration of the formation of ECG.

Figure 2.13: Micrograph of graphene from (a) TEM and (b) HRTEM.

Figure 2.14: Diffractogram showing graphite and GO (left), graphene (right).

Figure 2.15: Diffractogram pattern showing multi layers of graphene [62], where (a) are mono and double layers, (c) – (k) are multilayered. S is the number of layers of graphene.

Figure 2.16: Thermogram showing TG5A and DSC spectra (a) graphene oxide and (b) thermally reduced graphene oxide.

Figure 2.17: Raman spectra of different carbon materials showing different characteristic vibrational modes. (a) Raman spectra of graphite and graphene, (b) Raman spectra of different carbon materials with the different characteristic vibrational modes labeled and (c) Raman of graphite and graphene showing the 2D peaks of different layers graphene and how the shape changes as number of layers are increased.

Figure 2.18: VSM magnetic response of nitrogen doped graphene.

Figure 2.19: Pictures showing the used of Fe_3O_4 /graphene in the removal of Pb(II) and methylene blue.

Figure 3.1: Illustration of an electron moving in a closed orbit.

Figure 3.2: Sketch of the magnetic ordering of paramagnetism showing random orientation

Figure 3.3: Magnetic ordering of ferromagnetic species.

Figure 3.4: The graphical illustration of solution of equation 4.3.19 and 4.3.20.

Figure 3.5: Temperature T dependence of the saturation magnetization Ms and the inverse susceptibility above the Curie point of a ferromagnetic material.

Figure 3.6: Typical hysteresis loop of a sample undergoing magnetization.

Figure 4.1: FTIR ATR, Analytical Lab.

Figure 4.2: High Resolution TEM JOEL JEM 2100, Microscopy & Microanalysis Unit.

Figure 4.3: Simultaneous DSC-TGA, Q600 SDT TA Instruments.

Figure 4.4: Lakeshore 735 vibrating sample magnetometer (VSM), Condensed matter Physics Lab.

Figure 4.5: Cryochamber, Kiethley G221 current source, Kiethley 2182A nanovolt meter and Lakeshore 336 temperature controller, Materials Lab.

Figure 4.6: Bruker D8 Advanced Chemistry department (WC) UKZN.

Figure 4.7: diagram showing formation using expanded graphite, (a) expandable graphite and (b) expanded graphite.

Figure 4.8: Apparatus for doping of the reduced graphene oxide, (a) stainless steel tray, (b) tantalum tray.

Figure 5.1: Graph showing the FTIR of graphene oxide from Tour's and Hummer's method.

Figure 5.2: TEM data of graphene oxide from Tour's (a) and Hummer's method (b).

Figure 5.3: Graph showing the diffractogram of GO from (a) Tour's method and from (b) modified Hummer's method.

Figure 5.4: Infra-red spectrum of reduced graphene oxide.

Figure 5.5: Photomicrograph of reduced Graphene oxide (Tour's method) (a) TEM image and (b) SEM

Figure 5.6: Raman spectrum of reduced graphene oxide (from the reduction of graphene oxide from Tour's method).

Figure 5.7: Thermal analysis spectra of reduced graphene oxide showing (a) TGA and (b) DSC data.

Figure 5.8: XRD spectrum of reduced graphene oxide.

Figure 5.9: Infra-red spectrum of samples B-rGO and N-rGO.

Figure 5.10: TEM image of (a) N-rGO, (b) STEM image of N-rGO, (c) STEM carbon mapping for N-rGO, (d) STEM nitrogen mapping.

Figure 5.11: EDX of N-rGO, showing existance of carbon, nitrogen and oxygen in the sample.

Figure 5.12: TEM image of (a) B-rGO, (b) STEM image of B-rGO, (c) STEM carbon mapping for B-rGO, (d) STEM boron mapping for B-rGO.

Figure 5.13: EDX of B-rGO showing existance of carbon, boron and oxygen in the sample.

Figure 5.14: SEM images of (a) N-rGO and (b) B-rGO.

Figure 5.15: Thermograms of doped reduced graphene oxide TG (a) and DSC (b).

Figure 5.16: Raman spectra of doped reduced graphene.

Figure 5.17: XRD spectra for rGO, N-rGO and B-rGO.

Figure 5.18: Infra-red spectra of rGO, Co-rGO, Ni-rGO and FeCo-rGO.

Figure 5.19: TEM images of (a) Co-rGO, (b) Ni-rGO and (c) FeCo-rGO.

Figure 5.20: (a) SAED pattern of Ni-rGO, (b) SAED pattern of Co-rGO and (c) SAED pattern of FeCo-rGO.

Figure 5.21: XRD spectra of rGO, Co-rGO, Ni-rGO and FeCo-rGO.

Figure 5.22: Thermal analysis spectra of graphene composites (a) TGA and (b) DSC.

Figure 5.23: Raman spectra of metal nanoparticles reduced graphene oxide composite.

Figure 5.24: TEM images of prepared nanoparticles (a) Co-NP, (b) Ni-NP and (c) CoFeO-NP.

Figure 5.25: Particle size distribution of nanoparticles (a) Co-NP and (b) Ni-NP.

Figure 5.26: Particle size distribution of nanoparticles (CoFeO-NP).

Figure 5.27: XRD diffractogram of Co-NP.

Figure 5.28: XRD diffractogram of (a) Ni-NP and (b) CoFeO-NP

Figure 5.29: Magnetic hysteresis loops of rGO, B-rGO and N-rGO.

Figure 5.30: Typical magnetic hysteresis loops of samples (a) graphene-nanoparticle hybrids

Figure 5.31: Photograph showing easily magnetized Co-rGO.

Figure 5.32: Typical magnetic hysteresis loops of samples (a) cobalt ferrite and nickel nanoparticles, (b) cobalt nanoparticles.

Figure 5.32: Typical magnetic hysteresis loops of samples (a) cobalt ferrite and nickel nanoparticles, (b) cobalt nanoparticles.

Figure 5.33: Graph of resistivity vs temperature for rGO, N-rGO and B-rGO.

Figure 5.34: Graph of resistivity vs temperature for (a) rGO, Ni-rGO and FeCo-rGO and (b) Co-rGO.

Figure 6.1: BET analysis of Co-rGO.

Figure 6.2: Picture showing removal of chromate ion in water using Co-rGO

Figure 6.3: Effect of initial parameters such (a) dosage, (b) pH, (c) concentration and (d) contact time on removal efficiency of Cr(VI).

Figure 6.4: Point zero charge of Co-rGO.

Figure 6.5: Proposed scheme of the adsorption Cr(VI) ions on Co-rGO.

Figure 6.6: Adsorption kinetics curves of the Cr(VI) on the Co-rGO.

Figure 6.7: Adsorption isotherms (Langmuir, Freundlich and Lui) Cr(VI) on Co-rGO at different temperatures (a) 298 K, (b) 308 K and (c) 318 K.

Figure 6.8: Van'Hoff plot for the adsorption of Cr(VI) on Co-rGO.

Figure 6.9: The removal efficiency of recycled Co-rGO

Figure 6.10: Plot of UV/Vis spectrum of 100 ppm Cr(VI)standard, Cr(VI) after adding Ni-rGO and, FeCo-rGO.

Figure 8.1: Picture showing patch used in the experiment (a) plain patch, (b) patch antenna with Ni-rGO drop casted and (c) measurement of patch using network analyzer.

Figure 8.2: (a) TEM image of Ni-rGO and (b) selected area electron diffraction of Ni-rGO.

Figure 8.3: Measured and simulated reflection coefficient [S1, 1] of the Ni-rGO patch antenna.

Figure 8.4: Simulated values Voltage Standing Wave Ratio of the Ni-rGO patch antenna.

Figure 8.5: Measured and simulated reflection coefficient [S1, 1] of the Ni-rGO patch antenna with defected ground structure (DGS).

Figure 8.6: Simulated values Voltage Standing Wave Ratio of the Ni-rGO patch antenna with defected ground structure (DGS).

Figure 8.7: Simulated values radiation pattern of Ni-rGO patch antenna (a) without DGS and (b) with DGS.

Figure 8.8: Simulated results of the reflection coefficient of Co-rGO, FeCo-rGO, B-rGO and N-rGO.

List of Tables

Table 2.1: Table of different methods of producing GO, and starting materials.

Table 5.1: Summarized data from EDX of boron and nitrogen doped graphene.

Table 5.2: Table of elemental analysis.

Table 5.3: Table of Raman spectroscopy data, D-bands, B-bands and *Ip/Ig* ratio.

Table 5.4: Table of Raman spectroscopy data, D-bands, B-bands and ID/IG ratio

Table 5.5: Table of magnetization data for the all the prepared samples.

Table 5.6: Table of resistivity and conductivity for the prepared samples.

Table 6.1: Table of constants and correlation coefficients.

Table 6.2: Table of constant and adsorption isotherms

Table 6.3: Maximum adsorption capacities for the adsorption of (VI) on carbon based materials.

Table 6.4: Table of thermodynamic parameters.

Table 8.1: Table of parameters and value for the simulations of patch antenna.

Table 8.2: Table of resonant frequency, bandwidth, directivity and gain for Ni-rGO patch antenna.

Table 8.3: Table of simulated data: resonant frequency, bandwidth, directivity and gain for Co-rGO, FeCo-rGO, N-rGO and B-rGO.

Chapter 1: Introduction

Chapter 1: Introduction

1.1. Graphene

Graphene is a mono layered arrangement of carbon atoms which are fused benzene rings and thus the graphene exhibits two dimensional properties. Graphene was first isolated in 2004 by Andre Geim and Konstantin Novoselov [1]. Upon its discovery, it was characterized to show that it had remarkable electrical conductivity, thermal conductivity and good mechanical strength. The high conductivity is attributed to the electronic structure of the graphene. Properties are influenced by the manner in which the graphene was fabricated [1].

1.1.1. Synthesis of Graphene

Graphene can be obtained by mechanical exfoliation of pyrolitic graphene. This method uses 'scotch tape' to cleave off multi-layered graphite, to which the processes is repeated until mono-layered is obtained [1]. The short comings of this method it produces graphene sheets with different sizes and shapes which lead to low yields of graphene sheets [1]. The other methods used in producing graphene, are Chemical Vapour Deposition (CVD), solvothermal and chemical exfoliation [2]. Chemical Vapour Deposition is method used to grow graphene sheets on metal substrates. The operating temperature of the CVD is about 900 °C, where a carbon source is decomposed to vapour form and carbon atoms nucleate and grow on a metal substrate and forms graphene sheets [3]. The process yields few-layered graphene instead of single-layered graphene [3].

The most common method of producing is common method to produce graphene is through chemical exfoliation [2, 4]. This method produces an intermediate product which is known as graphene oxide (GO). Graphene oxide is produced from the oxidation of graphite using sulfuric acid and potassium permanganate as oxidants [5]. The graphene oxide is then reduced using a reducing agent such as hydrazine hydrate forming reduced graphene oxide [4]. Figure 1.1 shows the structure of graphene oxide and graphene. The other method of producing graphene is using carbon nanotubes [6, 7]. This method uses chemicals to unzip the nanotubes into graphene sheets. Single walled carbon nanotubes (SWCNT) are unzipped using a palladium compound to form mono-layered graphene sheets [6]. Multi-layered graphene is produced from unzipping milti-walled carbon nanotubes using a mixture of sulfuric acid and potassium permanganate as oxidants [7]. The oxidation unzips the layers of carbon nanotube to form multi-layered graphene sheets[7]. Figure 1.2, is the schematic unzipping of single walled carbon nanotubes into mono-layered graphene. The drawback of this method is that materials are expensive to buy.



Figure 1.1: Chemical structure of (a) Graphene and (b) Graphene oxide [5].





1.1.2. Application of graphene

The applications of graphene are found across several fields which include energy related applications [2], water purification [8] and sensors [9]. The research in this thesis is split into two parts: (1) the production of magnetic reduced graphene oxide and (2) study of the applications of the magnetic reduced graphene oxide. The magnetic reduced graphene oxide is produced via doping and secondly using reduced graphene oxide as a 'scaffold' for magnetic nanoparticles. Here graphene was doped with nitrogen and boron, the other is the production of graphene nanometal composites.

The fabricated graphene composites in this study are magnetic nanoparticles which are 'decorated' on graphene. Internationally there has been a focus on magnetic nanoparticles since the 1990s [10]. Magnetic nanoparticles are superparamagnetic, which is dependent on the size of the nanoparticles [11]. The combination of the nanoparticle and graphene united both properties of graphene (large surface area) and magnetic nanoparticles which will be useful as bulk material. Magnetic nanoparticle composites applications have been recently commercially manufactured, for examples Schottky barrier devices [12], nonlinear optical materials [13] and antenna material [14].

The aims of the thesis are to explore the methods of making magnetic graphene and investigate its use in pollution control. The synthesis of bulk doped graphene and the graphene composites are produced from the chemical exfoliation of natural flake graphite [2] with appropriate modifications. Graphene production, or more strictly speaking reduced graphene oxide, is a result of graphene oxide, an intermediate of the exfoliation process. The exfoliation process makes use of the oxidation of graphite in strong concentrated acid, such as sulfuric acid, in the presence of potassium permanganate. Graphene oxide was subsequently used in the production of graphene in the form of reduced graphene oxide, reduced doped graphene oxide and nanometal reduced graphene oxide composites. The prepared samples were characterized by a variety of techniques.

1.1. Aims and Objectives.

The central aim was the production of a magnetic graphene nanomaterial with a large surface area which could adsorb pollutants effectively.

The central aim is split up as follows:

- The synthesis and characterization of graphene oxide: this is done by use of the Tour's and modified Hummer's method. The synthesized graphene oxide was characterized using a variety of methods.
- 2. The synthesis and characterization of reduced graphene oxide: the reduction of graphene oxide uses hydrazine hydrate as a reducing agent.
- 3. The synthesis of magnetic reduced graphene oxide:
- (i) Doping and characterization of nitrogen doped reduced oxide and boron reduced oxide.
- (ii) The synthesis and characterization of metal nanoparticle reduced graphene oxide composites. The formed samples are cobalt nanoparticle-reduced

graphene oxide (Co-rGO), nickel nanoparticle-reduced graphene oxide (NirGO), cobalt ferrite nanoparticle-reduced graphene oxide (FeCo-rGO).

- (iii) The characterization of all prepared samples using the following techniques: Fourier Transform Infrared spectroscopy (FTIR), powder X-Ray diffraction spectroscopy (XRD), Raman Spectroscopy, Elemental Analysis and Transmission Electron Microscopy (TEM), Vibrating Sample Magnetometer (VSM) and conductivity studies.
- 4. Conductivity studies on rGO, N-rGO, B-rGO, Ni-rGO, Co-rGO and FeCo-rGO.
- 5. Removal of chromate ions from solution using Co-rGO. This is an application of nanometal reduced graphene oxide composite. Co-rGO was selected for the ease removal with a magnet in an aqueous solution. The removal efficiency of the Cr(VI) was evaluated, with the effects of dosage of Co-rGO, pH of the solution, temperature and contact time. The adsorption kinetics was evaluated along with a variety of isotherms.
- 6. The kinetic studies of the adsorption of Cr(VI) on Co-rGO. The adsorption kinetics was evaluated along with a variety of isotherms. The thermodynamic studies of the adsorption process and the regeneration of the Co-rGO.

1.2. Contributions and Publications

1.2.1. Contributions

The central contribution of this study is the proof that doped reduced graphene oxide has superparamagnetic response. There was a gap in the body of knowledge where the adsorption of Cr (VI) using Co-rGO. What was missing was conductivity in the relation to temperature changes. The other gap was in the use of rGO samples in antenna research which is given in Chapter 8:Appendices section The nanometal graphene composites have superparamagnetic response and can be applied in water purification purposes with removal of heavy metal ions in aqueous solution.

1.2.2. Publications

- <u>Nduduzo Malinga</u>, Leigh Jarvis, Magnetic Properties of Reduced Graphene Oxide-Nanoparticle Composites, *Journal of Nanostructure in Chemistry*, vol. 10, pp. 55 – 68, 2020.
- <u>Nduduzo Malinga</u>, Leigh Jarvis, Adsorption of Cr(VI) from aqueous media using magnetic Co-reduced graphene oxide, *Korean Journal of Chemical Engineering*, vol. 37, pp. 1915 – 1925, 2020.

1.3. Outlines of the thesis.

The outline of the dissertation follows below:

Chapter 2 discusses the discovery and history of graphene and an introduction to nanoparticles. The properties of graphene, nanoparticles are highlighted in this chapter, as well as the different synthetic techniques. The applications of graphene are documented as well.

Chapter 3 discusses the theory of the magnetic properties of solids.

Chapter 4 outlines the experimental techniques used in this study. They include the synthesis and characterization of reduced graphene oxide, doped reduced graphene oxide and nanoparticle reduced graphene oxide.

Chapter 5 outlines the results and discussion of the study, where the objectives of this thesis are discussed.

Chapter 6 details the application of Co-rGO in the removal of Cr(VI) in aqueous media. The study focuses on the performance of the Co-rGO as a sorbent material. The adsorption isotherms, kinetic and thermodynamic studies are also investigated to evaluate the performance of the Co-rGO in the removal of Cr(VI).

References

[1] K.S. Novoselov, A.K. Geim, S.V. Morozov, D. Jiang, Y. Zhang, S.V. Dubonos,

I.V. Grigorieva, A.A. Firsov. "Electric Field Effect in Atomically Thin Carbon Films," *Science*, vol. 306, pp. 666 – 669, 2004.

[2] A.C. Ferrari, F. Bonaccorso, V. Fal'ko, *et al*, "Science and technology roadmap for graphene, related two-dimensional crystals, and hybrid systems," *Nanoscale*, vol. 7, pp. 4587 - 5062, 2015.

[3] X. Li, W. Cai, J. An, S. Kim, J. Nah, D. Yang, R. Piner, A. Velamakanni, I. Jung, E. Tutuc, S.K. Banerjee, L. Colombo, R.S. Rouff, "Large area aynthesis of high-quality and uniform graphene films on copper foils," *Science*, vol.324, pp. 1312 – 1314. 2009

[4] S. Gilje, S. Han, W. Minsheng , L.W. Kang, R.B Kaner, "A chemical route to graphene for device applications," *Nano Letters*, vol. 7, pp. 3394 – 3398, 2007.

[5] D.C. Marcano, D.V. Kosynkin, j.M. Berlin, A.S. Stinitsii, Z. Sun, A. Slesarev, L.B. Alemany, W. Lu, J.M. Tour, "Improve synthesis of graphene oxide", ACS Nano, vol. 8, pp. 4806 – 4814, 2010.

[6] S. Mondal, S. Ghosh, C.R. Raj, "Unzipping of single-walled carbon nanotube for the development of electrocatalytically active hybrid catalyst of graphitic carbon and Pd nanoparticles," ACS Omega, vol. 3, 622 – 630, 2018.

[7] A.L. Higginbotham, D.V. Kosynkin, A. Sinitsikii, Z. Sun, J.M. Tour, "Lower –defect graphene oxide nanoribbons from multiwalled carbon nanotubes" *ACS Nano*, vol. 4, pp. 2059 – 2069, 2010.

[8] A.K. Mishra and S. Ramaprabhu, "Functionalized graphene sheets for arsenic removal and desalination of sea water," *Desalination*, vol. 28, pp. 39- 45, 2011.

[9] Y. Wang, Y. Li, L. Tang, J. Lu, J. Li, "Application of graphene-modified electrode for selective detection of dopamine," *Electrochemistry Communications*, vol. 11, pp. 889 – 892, 2009. [10] Z.X. Tang, C.M. Sorensen, K.J. Klabunde, G.C. Hadjipanayis. "Preparation of Mn ferrite fine particles from aqueous solution," *Journal of Colloid Interface Science*, vol. 146, pp. 38 – 46, 1991.

[11] Q. Chen, Z.J. Zhang, "Size-dependent superparamagnetic properties of MgFe₂O₄ spinel Ferrite nanocrystallites, *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 73, pp. 3156 – 3158, 1998.

[12] J. Zhang, Z. Wu, M. Zhang, W. Niu, M. Gao, Y. Zhou, W. Liu, X. Wang, R. Zhang,
Y. Xu, "Effect of Superparamagnetic Fe3O4 Nanoparticles on Schottky Barriers of
Graphene," *IEEE Transactions on magnetics*, vol. 51, pp. 2600204 – 2600207, 2011.

[13] M. Saravanan, T.C.S. Girisun, "Enhached nonlinear optical absorption and optical limiting properties of superparamagneric spinel zinc ferrite decorated reduced graphene oxide nanostructures," *Applied Surface Science*, vol. 392, pp. 904 – 911, 2017.

[14] T. Huang, M. He, Y. Zhou, S. Li, B. Ding, W. Pan, S. Huang, Y. Tong, "Solvothermal fabrication of CoS nanoparticles anchored on reduced graphene oxide for high-performance microwave absorption," *Synthetic Metals*, vol. 224, pp. 46 – 55, 2017.

Chapter 2: Literature Review

Chapter 2: Literature Review

2.1. Graphene

2.1.1. History of Graphene

Graphene was first discovered in 2004 by Andre Geim and Konstantin Novoselov, by the mechanical exfoliation method [1]. The fabrication process involves the cleaving of the layers off from graphite. In 2010 the researchers received the Nobel Prize for Physics for their pioneering work on graphene. Since then, there has been an intensification in graphene research. The graphene work by Geim et al also gave rise to research of two-dimensional materials such as graphyne, hexagonal boron nitride and bismuth telluride, which were thought to be unstable [2]. The work on graphene was seen before in literature prior to the work done by Geim and Novoselov. In 1998 Forbeaux worked on multi- layered graphite material, which was crystalline upon annealing [3]. The experiment resulted in the formation epitaxial multilayered "graphene". Since the multi layered graphene was on substrates, it was hard to characterize and the technique that ended up being used was angular resolved inversed photo emission spectroscopy, which is a surface technique used to characterize thin films. Up until Geim's research, work on 2D materials were limited to theoretical research [2, 4], which was based on the theory that multi-layered materials have weak van der Waal's interlayer coupling, and that thin films decomposed when below a certain thickness [4].

Throughout the years people have been "cleaving" bulk material into thin films, such as writing on blackboard with chalk [4] and writing with pencil (graphite) on paper, yielding "pseudographene" [5]. Eventually graphene was made from the mechanical exfoliation of graphene from graphite. The mechanical exfoliation of the graphite resulted in few-layered graphene [1]. The graphene obtained was found to be twodimensional and was stable at room temperature. The most significant find was that it can be used in field-effect (gated) electronics from the study of its electronic properties by the multi-terminal Hall bar device [1]. This sparked interest in the science research community, and graphene has been produced in a variety of ways to date.

2.1.2. Synthesis of Graphene

Graphene is synthesized using several different methods from different starting materials. The most widely known method is mechanical exfoliation which is popularly known as the "Scotch tape method" mechanical exfoliation, results in pristine graphene [1]. The method is called the Scotch tape method, because the method peels off multilayered graphene from graphite using sticky tape. The other methods include chemical vapor deposition (CVD) [6, 7], chemical exfoliation [8] and ultrasonic exfoliation [9], which are discussed in detail below.

2.1.2.1. Chemical Vapor Deposition

Chemical vapor deposition (CVD) of graphene is carried out by the decomposition of carbon material on a substrate. In this technique the precursor material can either be solid, liquid or gas [6,7]. The first use of CVD to grow carbon materials on a metal substrate was done in 1966, where methane was decomposed at T = 900°C and formed graphite, which was used as a support material for electron microscopy [9]. In 1969 carbon rings, which were polycrystalline, were synthesized from the decomposition of acetylene and ethylene on platinum. It was also proposed that graphite formed, by first forming graphene as the initial monolayer on the metal surface [10]. The first graphene-like substance obtained by CVD was grown on an iridium substrate. At the time iridium was an ideal substrate, since it produced pristine graphene. However, it was difficult to transfer the graphene onto other substrates and iridium was expensive. More recently cost-effective base metals can be used instead [11, 12].

Thermal CVD is used to grow graphene on metal substrates like Ni, Co and Fe [6]. The process yields few-layered graphene instead of single-layered graphene. The growth of graphene is achieved by the carbon source in vapour form decomposing in a furnace and nucleating on a metal substrate with temperatures in the region of about 1000 °C [13]. The nuclei will grow and form thin graphene polycrystalline films.

The choice of substrate will determine the type of graphene produced (i.e. the number of layers) and thus substrates are chosen to suit desired applications. Copper is mostly used as a substrate, as it selectively yields single layered graphene. On the other, hand nickel (111) is suited for the production of mono- and bi-layered graphene and polycrystalline nickel produces few-layered graphene [6, 14 - 16]. The graphene obtained from the CVD experiment is transferred from the metal substrate to an etching solution, where the graphene is etched from the metal substrate [6]. When graphene is grown on a nickel substrate, the nickel is removed by firstly adding PPMA as a sacrificial layer and then nickel is removed by a diluted hydrochloric acid (HCl) [17]. Graphene that is grown on a copper substrate follows a similar approach; the difference is in the etching, where iron (III) chloride (FeCl₃) solution is used instead of hydrochloric acid [18]. Figure 2.1 shows the removal of graphene from a copper substrate.



Figure 2.1: Diagram showing etching of copper from the graphene support [18].

2.1.2.2. Chemical Exfoliation

The process of chemical exfoliation of graphite to graphene involves the use of chemicals as mechanical means. This widely used method is the production of graphene oxide, which is then reduced to "reduced graphene oxide" (rGO), and the method of choice for this research.

Graphene oxide was first synthesized by Brodie in 1859, which involved the addition of potassium chlorate (KClO₃) in a slurry of graphite with fuming nitric acid (HNO₃) [19]. The product he obtained was washed and dried. The product obtained was then subjected to the oxidation reaction several times, until a light yellow product was obtained, which was found to contain carbon, hydrogen and oxygen. His method was improved by Staudenmaier, which employed the addition of sulfuric acid and multiple additions of aliquots of potassium chlorate (KClO₃) over the course of the reaction [20, 21]. The product obtained is an oxidized product and one reaction was used. However, the drawbacks were that the process was time consuming and the reaction evolved chlorine dioxide which is both toxic and an explosive hazard [20, 21]. Both these methods were then improved by Hummer and Offerman in 1958, and the reagents used were sulfuric acid (H₂SO₄), sodium nitrate (NaNO₃) and potassium permanganate (KMnO₄) [22]. The elimination of the potassium chlorate in the preparation of graphene oxide resulted in a product obtained in a day. The Hummer's method however was found to produce a product that has incomplete oxidation of graphite and evolved toxic NOx gases. Researchers thus focused on improving the method. The first improved method was introduced by Kovtyukhova, where a preoxidation treatment step was done. The pretreatment involved refluxing graphite with a mixture of H₂SO₄, sodium thiosulfate (K₂S₂O₈) and phosphorus pentoxide (P₂O₅) for several hours [23]. The product was filtered, washed and dried before Hummer's method was employed. Other improvements to the Hummer's method are the addition of extra amount of potassium permanganate [24], and Tour's method, which only uses sulfuric acid, phosphoric acid and potassium permanganate [24].

The oxidation of graphite from the Hummer's or the modified Hummer's method results in the formation of functional groups on the network of the graphite; the typical groups formed are hydroxyl, epoxide, carbonyl and carboxylic acid [24]. The graphite is oxidized by the activation of MnO_4^- by the acid, as described by the equations given below [25]:

 $KMnO_4 + 3 H_2SO_4 \rightarrow K^+ + MnO_3^+ H_3O^+ + 3 HSO_4^ MnO_3^+ + MnO_{4^-} \rightarrow Mn_2O_7$

The scheme shows how the formation of Mn₂O₇ aids in the oxidation graphite. The bimetallic form of manganese has been reported to detonate in the presence of organic compounds and at elevated temperatures [25, 26], thus it is important that the reaction is cooled. The order in which the reagents are added to the reaction vessel is also important. In Figure 2.2, the image compares the amount of the recovered graphite as the starting material. The Tour's method with is given as the improved method, had the least recovered graphite indicating the higher yields of graphene oxide than the other methods. In the comparison of the 3 methods, the Tour's method is the superior method when compared to the Hummer's and modified Hummer's methods in the production of graphene oxide.



Figure 2.2: Comparison of the recovered starting material from the different methods of producing graphene oxide, with the Hummer's method having the most recovered graphite [24].

The use of Tour's method where phosphoric acid is used, has been shown to yield more of the graphene oxide product [24]. The products obtained from the addition of phosphoric acid have more intact 6-membered rings in the basal plane of the graphene oxide [27-28]. It has been proposed that the phosphate ions form 5-membered phosphor rings that prevent further oxidation of graphene oxide and thus preventing pores which is illustrated by Scheme 2.1. The pores in the graphene matrix are formed from over oxidation, which are defects in the graphene. The scheme outlines the advantage of using two acids in the oxidation of graphite, thus preventing over oxidation and g defects. The pores also degrade the electronic properties because of the break in electron delocalization. Table 2.1 shows the different methods and starting materials. The Hummer's method and modified Hummer's method have NOx releasing compounds from NaNO₃ and HNO₃. Both methods also produce less yield of graphene oxide as outlined in Figure 2.2.



Scheme 2.1: Scheme proposing the use of two acids in the oxidation process to prevent over oxidation of the graphite (adapted from ref [25]).

Methods	Graphite/g	H_2SO_4/mL	H ₃ PO ₄ /mL	KMnO ₄ /g	NaNO ₃ /g	HNO ₃ /mL	Yield/g
Hummer's	3	69	-	9	1.5	-	2.3
Modified	3	90	-	9	-	30	3.2
Hummer's							
Tour's	3	360	40	9	-	-	5.1

Table 2.1: Table of different methods of producing GO, and starting materials

After the graphite is chemically exfoliated into graphene oxide, graphene can be produced from the reduction of the graphene oxide. The reduction serves to deoxygenate the graphene oxide, to form graphene, by reforming the carbon-carbon double bonds [29]. There are many reducing agents that effectively reduce graphene oxide which include anhydrous hydrazine [29], hydrazine hydrate [30] and sodium borohydride [31]. It was demonstrated by Gilje that reduced graphene oxide exhibits p-type semi-conductive behavior [29]. The conductivity of the reduced graphene oxide is higher than to graphene oxide, but fails when compared to pristine graphene, which is a factor of 10 to 100 better [32 - 34]. The significant difference in the conductivity of pristine graphene and reduced graphene oxide is due the residual functional groups and vacancies which are introduced during the oxidation process which are not removed in the reduction process [27]. The defects from the chemical exfoliation degrade the electronic properties of graphene when compared to graphene obtained from mechanical exfoliation [35]. The reduced graphene oxide has a high surface area for the anchoring of nanoparticles [36].

2.1.2.3. Ultrasonic exfoliation

Graphene can be obtained by using ultrasonic energy to exfoliate different layers of graphite in an organic solvent which is viscous. The solvents include dimethylformamide, N-methyl-pyrrolidone [37], tetraethyleneglycol diacrylate [38] fluorobenzonitrile and pentafluoropyridine [38]. The method employing liquid exfoliation is a soft method of the production and thus the graphene flakes obtained have less defects and the electronic properties are maintained [37]. The ideal solvent for the ultrasonic exfoliation of graphite, must be one with a surface tension of less than 40 mN m⁻¹. This allows for the graphite flakes to be easily separated and the solvent to stabilize the graphene [37]. The mechanism proposed is that there is an implosion of cavity bubbles, which then produce high pressures and temperatures. This results in violent collisions between particles, which give rise to radicals that break up C-C bonds [38]. The graphite is exfoliated into graphene and increasing the sonication time, increases the concentration of graphene dispersed in the solvent. The graphene can be separated from the un-exfoliated graphite by washing and centrifugation, which will separate the layers. Spectroscopic analysis of the graphene flakes obtained shows low defects and are of high quality.

2.1.3. Properties of Graphene

2.1.3.1. Physical structure

As mentioned before, graphene was first isolated from the mechanical exfoliation of graphite. The parent material of graphene is graphite and the properties of the two entities are different. Graphite is composed of multi layered carbon sheets that are weakly coupled to form a 3D crystal lattice [2]. The graphite is made up of 2D layers of sp² hybridized carbon that are arranged in a honeycomb lattice [39]. Every carbon bonded has sigma (σ) bonds and pi (π) bonds. The pi bonds make up the delocalized
п-electrons network [40]. A single layer of the carbon matrix of fused honeycomb lattice is graphene [40].

Graphene is composed of a monolayer of carbon atoms and displays a long-range crystalline order [10]. Even though graphene is defined as a monolayer of fused benzene rings, graphene can be defined as having up to 10 layers of carbon matrices. The 10 layer graphene was found to have the graphene properties compromised, as it exhibits the properties of graphite. The limit of multilayered graphene is thus 10 layers [41]. The structure of graphene is shown in Figure 2.3. The figure shows that graphene is 2D material with high crystal quality and is the building block for carbon materials such as nanotubes, graphite and fullerenes [40].



Figure 2.3: (a) Graphene, as the basic building block of carbon materials such as (b) fullerenes, (c) carbon nanotubes and (d) graphite [40].

2.1.3.2. Electronic properties of graphene

Graphene is described to be both a 2D zero-overlap semimetal [1, 42], and a semiconductor with zero band gap [43]. The honeycomb lattice in the graphene, from the fused benzene rings forming the backbone, impart the π delocalized electrons in the graphene matrix. As a result 2D graphene is gapless, which in turn makes the material to have ballistic conduction and higher carrier mobility [1]. The electronic properties of graphene were studied initially through the Hall effect, using graphene films to which a gate voltage was applied. That is how the electronic properties of graphene and had electronic properties typically associated with that of a 2D semimetal. A device that was made from thicker layers of graphene had properties that were a cross between 2D and 3D electronic properties [1]. This shows that the electronic properties of single, double and multilayered graphene are distinctly different due to the presence of higher numbers of charge carries in thicker layers of graphene [1, 4].

Graphene has an electronic structure that follows the tight-binding approximation. The unit cell of the graphene has two atoms, which amounts to two conical points per Brillouin zone, where the band crossing occurs (Figure 2.4) [43]. At crossing point the electron energy is linearly dependent on the wave vector [44]. The energy states of the sigma bonds are removed from the energy at the point of contacts of the conduction and valance bands. This implies that the Fermi level of graphene lies on the pi bands [43]. The behavior exhibited is from symmetry considerations and thus has robust long-range hopping processes.



Figure 2.4: Sketch showing the graphite lattice, with the 2 carbon atoms and vector planes [44].

The surface of the Fermi level for graphene is characterized by having six double cones and the position where the cones touches each other, is a the Fermi level. The Fermi level is at E = 0, where the valence and conduction bands meet, and this proves that graphene is a zero band gap semiconductor. The Fermi level of the graphene can be changed by application of an electric field, which can create localized charge carriers either electron or holes, depending on the polarity of the electric field. This effect gives the structure and properties of doped graphene [5]. Monolayer graphene has a cosinelike energy bands and as is shown in Figure 2.5. The bands intersect at the K point of the Brillouin zone and the insert in the figure shows that the energy spectrum is linear around the Fermi level [44].



Figure 2.5: Sketch showing the energy band of graphene with the insert showing the intersection at the K point [51].

The curvature in the energy band spectrum of the conductive and valence bands indicates the effective mass and the linear behavior at the Fermi level suggests that the graphene has a band structure with zero effective mass [5]. The graphene has an electronic spectrum that closely resembles the Dirac spectrum for massless fermions. The Dirac equation is used to describe a particle with a spin of ½ with relativity [43]. Since the electron has a spin of half, the Dirac equation applies to them as well. The crystal structure of graphene can be used to explain the phenomenon that the charge carriers of graphene can be described by a Dirac-spectrum, rather than Schrödinger's equation. The mechanism is explained by that there are two equivalent carbon atoms in the sublattice, which leads to quantum-mechanical tunneling between sublattices. The result is the formation of two energy bands, which intersect near the edge of the Brillouin zone, yielding a conical energy spectrum [43].

The phenomenon that graphene has an electronic spectrum which can be described by a Dirac-spectrum allows for parallels to be draw between graphene and particle physics, and it thus can be studied further by studying the physical properties of the graphene. One method that can be used is Klein tunneling which uses the Klein paradox [43]. The Klein paradox is defined as "the unimpeded penetration of relativistic particles through high and wide potential barriers" [45]. A potential barrier is usually smaller than the gap that separates the electrons from the holes band in semiconductors. This means that the probability of penetration is affected by the barrier height and width [44]. However, in graphene the width and the height have no effect on the probability of penetration. Graphene can thus be subjected to a counterintuitive relativistic process, where an incident electron penetrates through a potential barrier and the transmission will be weakly dependent on the barrier height [43]. In this relativistic effect, the incident electron creates a positron inside the barrier and by matching the electron and positron wave functions across the barrier, it leads to the probability tunneling of the Klein paradox [43]. In graphene the Klein paradox can be studied using bench top experiments.

Multilayer graphene has a different energy band diagram, which can be seen in Figure 2.6. The figure shows the band diagram of double layer graphene. It is observed that the two levels in the valence and conduction band do not intersect at the K point, but overlap. The insert in the figure shows that the spectrum is nonlinear around the K point and parabolic in nature [44]. The overlap is small in the conduction and valence bands, which is also characteristic of bulk graphite [44]. This indicates that double layered graphene is a semimetal, just like graphite. Therefore, we can conclude that when the number of layers of graphene are increased, the band structure will resemble that of graphite [44].



Figure 2.6: Diagram showing the band energy spectrum of double layer graphene [44].

Mono-layer graphene has unique transport properties when compared to those of few layered graphene. The 2D nature of mono layer graphene forces charge carriers to be contained within the plane and the quantum Hall effect may be observed [43]. The quantum Hall conductivity is a function of the charge carrier concentration, n, in an applied constant magnetic field [43] at low temperatures. By changing the magnetic field or the electron concentration, the Fermi energy can be tuned to coincide with Landau levels. This can change the properties of metals and semiconductors [43]. The quantum Hall Effect of graphene follows a half-integer quantum Hall Effect, unlike in traditional semiconductors [46, 47]. The evidence can be found in the period of the quantum Hall effect plateau occurances. The plateaus were expected to occur at Hall

conductance,
$$\sigma_{xy} = \frac{4e^2}{h}N$$
, $N \in \mathbb{Z}$, however they occur at $\sigma_{xy} = \frac{2e^2}{h}(N + \frac{1}{2})$, $N \in \mathbb{Z}$ [46].

This is caused by the presence of an electron and a hole at Landau state at zero energy. The Landau level follow quantum mechanics and therefore they are the discreet, quantized energy levels that a charged particle may occupy in the presence of an applied magnetic field [43]. In Figure 2.9, the quantum hall conductivity is plotted as a function of n, in magnetic field. It should be noted that the quantum Hall effect, decreases with the corresponding increase in the number of graphene layers. In the case of double layer graphene, the plateaus occur at full integer values. This is because

fermions in double layer graphene have a non-zero mass at n = 0 which can also be seen in Figure 2.7 [43, 47].



Figure 2.7: Diagram showing the quantum Hall effect. The sketch shows σ_{xy} , of monolayer graphene as function of the number of charge carriers. (n is depicted in red and the longitudinal resistivity is depicted in green) [47].

2.1.3.3. Conductivity.

Graphene has ambipolar electric field effect which means that in graphene the charge carriers can be easily tuned between electrons and hole with concentration up to 10^{13} cm⁻² [40]. Under ambient conditions, graphene has a charge carrier mobility, μ , of 15 000 cm² V⁻¹ s⁻¹ [1, 46 - 48]. The mobility has been shown to be affected by temperature [48]. This is important, because μ in graphene is very high for n >10¹² cm⁻² in

electrically and chemically-doped devices [48]. There is an occurrence of ballistic transport at micron range [48]. In the nanometer range the electron transport becomes ballistic where the length of the conductor becomes extremely small compared to the mean free path and the electron transport has negligible electrical resistivity caused by scattering [49]. The mean free path of electrons are relatively large which reduces energy loses.

Graphene electronic properties were studied first with multi terminal Hall bar devices that supply a gate voltage (V_g) to graphene [1]. Figure 2.8 shows that the sheet resistivity of few layer graphene (ρ) is dependent on V_g . The resistivity shows it peak and the Hall coefficient R_H displays a reversal of its sign at the same V_g value. This typical ambipolar field effect of semiconductors [1]. In graphene the zero conductance area is absent, which is caused by the pinning of the Fermi level inside the band gap and the electron transport occurs in 2D [1].



Figure 2.8: Diagram of the electric effect in few-layer graphene. (a) Shows the few layer graphene resistivity ρ on V_g for different temperatures in Kelvin (T= 5, 70 and 300 K). (b) Shows the changes in the films conductivity, (c) shows the Hall coefficient versus the Vg at T= 5 K and (d) shows the charge carrier dependence on temperature [1].

The electric field effect of the material allows its conductivity to be controlled. Since graphene has a distinct ambipolar electric field effect, it can rival or replace silicone silicon transistors [50, 28]. Graphene also has a linear current –voltage characteristic and currents greater than 10⁸ A cm⁻² can be sustained [1]. We can quantify the planar conductivity as,

$$\sigma = en\mu \tag{2.1}$$

where the mobility, μ , is limited by acoustic phonons of n = 10¹² cm⁻² and since μ = 200 000 cm² V⁻¹ s⁻¹, therefore the 2D sheet resistivity is calculated 31 Ω m [47]. Graphene has a high thermal conductivity equal to \approx 5 000 W mK⁻¹ which is higher than metallic

conductors (copper is \approx 401 W.mK⁻¹). Graphene can also withstand higher current densities than copper [50, 51].

2.1.3.4. Mechanical properties

Graphene has an extremely high specific strength, equal to 48 000 kN.m.kg⁻¹, which is significantly higher than that of steel (154 kN.m.kg⁻¹). The mechanical properties of any material stem from the crystal structure of the material [52]. The contributing factors are mostly the characteristics of the pristine crystal lattice, grain boundaries and structural defects, such as dislocations [52]. The elastic properties of a solid will be affected by ideal intra-atom interactions, a defect free crystal lattice and lattice geometry [52]. The strength will be affected by the defects, i.e. the strength of a solid with defects will decrease dramatically when a mechanical load is applied when compared to the ideal strength it can possess without defects. In the case of nanomaterials, defects can be absent, while on a microscale they are always present. On the nanoscale, the defects can be absent in the matter which they are fabricated and thus a non-deformed state can be thus obtained, which then causes the nanomaterial to have superior strength close to its ideal strength [52].

In the case of graphene, small pristine graphene membranes can be obtained without defects. They were analyzed for mechanical properties by Lee and coworkers where single layer of graphene was transfered to a substrate with holes. The mechanical properties were studied with Atomic Force Microscopy (AFM) and the process is illustrated in Figure 2.9 [53].



Figure 2.9: Diagram showing the mechanical strength testing of graphene using AFM with a diamond cantilever [53].

The AFM study was used to determine or measure the elastic properties and intrinsic breaking strength of graphene, using the non-indentation method [60]. The graphene membrane was modelled as a 2D membrane. The Young's modulus was determined to be 342 N.m⁻¹, with a standard deviation of 30 N.m⁻¹ [53]. To compare value with other materials, the parameter can be now expressed by dividing with the interlayer spacing of its parent material, graphite, which is 0.335 nm [1, 52, 53]. The intrinsic strength of graphene correspond brittle fracture of graphene and determined to be 42 N.m⁻¹ or 130 GPa [52, 53].

2.1.3.5. Doping of Graphene

There are several methods of doping graphene, which is the addition of group elements, in small quantities, to graphene. The main elements that are used to dope graphene are nitrogen, boron and sulfur, to name a few [11]. The doping of graphene is used to create a band gap for a specific application. The methods used to dope graphene are CVD [54], hydrothermal [57] thermal [58], solvothermal [59] and ball milling [60].

2.1.3.5.1. Chemical Vapour Deposition

CVD has been used to dope graphene using a copper film as catalyst and a silicone substrate, upon which the graphene sheets are deposited. The production of nitrogen doped graphene produces pyrrolic, pyridinic and graphitic nitrogen on graphene. This method utilizes graphene as carbon source and ammonia as nitrogen source in the presence of methane, hydrogen and argon [54]. The nitrogen gas forms a plasma, which replaces carbon atoms. It has been recorded to form ~3 % nitrogen. Figure 2.10, shows the three types of nitrogen in a graphene matrix, where the pyridinic and pyrrolic nitrogen leads to the formation of pores in the graphene sheet.



Figure 2.10: Illustration of nitrogen doping using CVD, N-6 is pyridinic nitrogen, N-5 is pyrrolic nitrogen and N-Q is graphitic nitrogen [54].

2.1.3.5.2. Hydrothermal doping

Hydrothermal doping of graphene is the reduction of graphene oxide using hydrazine of ammonia [57]. The method produces doped reduced graphene oxide, which is a

multilayered graphene. The method has challenges of scaling up the process, as well as the high costs of reagents. Another method is to form nitrogen doped graphene hydrogels, where the graphene oxide is reacted with urea. The reaction takes place inside an autoclave and as the name suggests, the hydrogel is 97 % water. The water is removed by freeze drying and the doped graphene formed is 6 % nitrogen.

2.1.3.5.3. Thermal doping

Thermal doping is a widely used method to form boron doped reduced graphene oxide. Graphene oxide is mixed with boric acid or ammonia and the mixture is thermally annealed at 900° C [54,58]. In the case of boron doping, a slurry of graphene oxide, deionized water and boric acid are used. The slurry is freeze dried and heated for thermal reduction of graphene oxide. Figure 2.11 illustrates the process and shows that the method produces a porous graphene sheet [61].



Figure 2.11: Illustration of the formation of B-rGO, (a) is the schematic diagram of the method, (b) is the formed product and (c) reaction mechanism [61].

2.1.3.5.4. Solvothermal doping

Solvothermal doping is a technique that requires graphene oxide and a solvent to be sonicated for 30 minute, or until graphene oxide is thoroughly dispersed in the solvent forming a 1 mg.mL⁻¹ dispersion [54]. The dispersion is then mixed with ammonia borane, which is source for nitrogen and boron. The method can be used in both aqueous and organic media. The dispersion is further diluted with 1 L of solvent and then refluxed for 12 hours.

2.1.3.5.5. Ball milling doping

Ball milling doping is the technique mostly used to form edge carboxylated graphite (ECG), which is a low cost method of producing oxygen doped graphene. The technique uses graphite and dry ice as reagents with the ball milled at 500 rpm and for 48 hours [60]. Figure 2.12, illustrates the formation of oxygen doped graphene.



Figure 2.12: Illustration of the formation of ECG [60].

2.1.3.6. Other Properties

2.1.3.6.1. Magnetic properties.

Graphene itself has been reported to have an intrinsic magnetization property which is a result of the extensive delocalized π electrons which align with the applied field [54]. Graphene has been labelled a weak ferromagnetic magnetic material, while doping with heteroatoms improve the magnetic properties of graphene [54, 24]. The intrinsic graphene magnetization is 0.1 emu.g⁻¹ and doping with boron increases it to 1 emu.g⁻¹ [54, 24]. This is further explored in this thesis, where graphene is doped with nitrogen. Most of the magnetization data was done at 5 K, where as in this thesis it is done at room temperature.

2.1.1.3.6.2. Optical properties

Mono layer graphene is an electron transparent material. It was discovered by Nair *et al* that graphene exhibits an opacity of 2.3 ± 0.1 %, therefore suggesting that graphene is transparent [55]. However, the opacity of the material is directly proportionally to number of layers, with each layer contributing 2.3 %. This implies that the transparency is lost as more layers of graphene is increased. Even though graphene is one atomic layer thick when white light is shone on it, the incident light causes $\pi \rightarrow \pi^*$ interaction, [55] and transmit 97 – 98 % [56, 39]. This property has allowed graphene to be applied in solar cells and flexible electronics [6].

2.1.4. Methods of Characterization.

Graphene can be characterized by the following techniques: Transmission Electron Microscopy (TEM), Scanning Electron Microscopy (SEM), Raman, Thermal Gravimetric Analysis and X-Ray Diffraction (XRD).

2.1.4.1. Electron Microscopy.

Electron microscopy is a tool to view the structure of nanomaterials. TEM is widely used to confirm the 2D structure of graphene [39]. TEM can also show the defects the structure of the graphene. High Resolution TEM has a higher accelerating voltage which allows for better resolution [62]. HTTEM can offer more information about the structure of graphene, including the number of layers in multilayer graphene. In Figure 2.13, TEM image shown in (a), shows an image of monolayered graphene sheet and (b) shows the multi-layered graphene using HRTEM. HRTEM image may be used in counting the number of graphene sheets in multilayered graphene.





2.1.4.2. X-Ray Diffraction.

X-ray diffraction has been used to analyze the crystal structure of materials. In this method, a sample is irradiated by X-rays which is diffracted by crystalline samples [63]. The relation between the incident X-ray and the spacing between the planes is given by Bragg' Law which is expressed by

$$n\lambda = 2d\sin\theta \qquad (2.2)$$

where n is an integer, λ is the wavelength of the X-ray, *d* is the spacing between the crystal planes and θ is the angle of diffraction. Most crystals have a characteristic diffraction pattern and therefore XRD can be used for qualitative purposes [59]. XRD can be used to determine the characteristic peak for graphite, graphene and graphene oxide [65, 66]. It has also been used to get the number of layers of graphene [67]. Figure 2.14 shows the diffraction patterns of graphene, graphite and graphene oxide. The graphite and graphene peaks occur at 26 ° but the graphite has sharp peaks indicating bulk crystal structure and graphene broad peak indicating nanocrystal structure.



Figure 2.14: X-ray diffraction pattern showing graphite and (a) GO and graphite [67], (b) graphene [68].

Figure 2.15 shows the XRD spectra of multilayered graphene. The technique is used to the number of layers in multilayered graphene. The sizes of the peaks of the diffractogram can be used to determine the number graphene layers in multi-layered graphene.



Figure 2.15: Diffractogram pattern showing multi layers of graphene [62], where (a) are mono and double layers, (c) – (k) are multilayered. S is the number of layers of graphene.

2.1.4.3. Thermal Analysis.

Figure 2.16 shows the results from Thermogravimetric analyser (TGA) and differential scanning calorimetry (DSC). Thermal analysis techniques are used to determine the thermal characteristics and thermal stability of graphene [66]. TGA is mainly used for the thermal stability of graphene, and DSC shows thermal processes [67]. The thermal analysis of graphene is usually done at a range of 40 - 900 °C. Graphene usually decomposes at ~ 490 °C, which is shown by TGA and the DSC shows the thermal heat energy for the decomposition of graphene, which can be observed Figure 2.17 [68]. The spectrum (a) shows the degradation of GO is shown, the first decomposition (between 100 – 230 °C) is associated with the loss of water and labile function groups such as C=O, COOH, the TGA show the mass that is lost whilst DSC shows the heat energy absorbed by the degradation process. Both in spectra (a) and (b) the degradation of graphene occurs at temperatures from ~ 500 – 650 °C, the TGA shows the spectra shows the mass that is lost in the degradation and DSC shows the heat absorbed by the degradation [68].



Figure 2.16: Thermogram showing TGA and DSC spectra of (a) graphene oxide and (b) thermally reduced graphene oxide [68].

2.1.4.4. Raman Spectroscopy

Raman is a non-destructive analytical technique used to determine the number of layers of graphene [69 – 71]. The method is versatile and can also be used for the analysis of molecules. Unlike other spectrophotometric techniques, Raman uses scattering of light rather than absorption. The technique uses a monochromatic laser which is shone on the sample being analysed and the light is scattered [70]. The scattered light has a different frequency compared to the incident beam, this allows the detector to register a reading. The molecular bonds of the sample interact with the incident beam, which causes a shift in the frequency of the scattered light. Carbon based material have been analysed by Raman Spectroscopy because of the different characteristic bands that are observed. Graphene, graphene oxide and graphite all have different characteristic bands from the Raman analysis. The characteristic bands are D, G and 2D which occurs when the samples are analysed using a laser excitation of ~ 513/514 nm. The D peaks are found in graphene, graphene oxide, and carbon nanotubes [71, 72]. A D peak is a measure of the disorder and defects found in the samples analysed, which is normally caused by impurities and disorder in sp² hybridised atoms in the samples [71, 72]. The G-Band is found in most carbon materials and it arises from the stretching vibrations of sp² hybridized C - C bonds in graphitic materials. The 2D peak and its shape can be used to determine the number of layers of graphene. The ratios of ID/IG is used to measure the degree of disorder in graphitic material. Figure 2.17 shows typical Raman spectra of different carbon materials.



Figure 2.17: Raman spectra of different carbon materials showing different characteristic vibrational modes. (a) Raman spectra of graphite and graphene [69], (b) Raman spectra of different carbon materials with the different characteristic vibrational modes labeled [71] and (c) Raman of graphite and graphene showing the

2D peaks of different layers graphene and how the shape changes as the number of layers are increased [69].

The spectra shows that the graphite has D peaks because graphitic usually has no defects in the graphene matrix as it has no functional groups in the graphene matrix, building up the graphite. G peak occurs at around 1580 cm⁻¹ and is common to most graphitic materials. 2D peaks occur for graphene and reduced graphene oxide, and normally occurs 2700 cm⁻¹.

2.1.4.5. Magnetization Measurements

A vibrating sample magnetometer (VSM) is used to determine the magnetic characteristics of a sample. The magnetization of the sample is determined under the influence of an applied external ramping magnetic field (which is called a sweeping field). The magnetization data gives the magnetic properties of the samples, such as the magnetic state and the nature of the interactions of the magnetic moments [68]. The sample holder was suspended into a Janis model cryostat in an applied magnetic field of 14 kOe. The VSM operation is based on Faraday's law of induction, which states that the induced voltage in the coil is proportional to the magnetization of the sample. Figure 2.18 shows the magnetization of nitrogen doped graphene, where at 2 K doped is superpamagnetic and at 300 K it is paramagnetic, the insert shows the initial magnetization done at 300 K.



Figure 2.18: VSM magnetic response of nitrogen doped graphene [54].

2.1.5. Applications

Graphene has the potential to be used in a number of technological applications [6], from flexible electronics [39, 75], solar cells [75], to supercapacitors [76]. In the United Kingdom there are 2585 filed patents on graphene, as reported by the U.K. Intellectual Property Office [77].

2.1.5.1. Flexible electronics applications

Graphene thin film is usually on a substrate such a thin polymer [6]. The method of fabrication was the use of CVD on a copper coated flexible PVC substrate. The copper was removed by etching [74]. The fabricated device is a graphene touch sensitive capacitor, interfaced to CMOS circuitry. The combination of graphene and silicone electronics yield high sensitive electronics, which can be used in wearable electronics and interactive e-skin [74].

Other uses of flexible electronics are in solar cells and transparent conductive films [6]. In most cases the transparent conductive thin films were generally constructed from inorganic semiconductors [78]. The mostly used semiconductor in transparent conductive thin films has been Indium tin oxide [6]. The fact is that the semiconductor is metallic makes it prone to attacks from acidic and basic species [78]. However graphene has a higher transparency than metallic semiconductor and more chemically resistant [2]. In solar cells the transparent conductive thin films are used [79]. Graphene is useful since it has a transparency of about 90 % and a sheet resistance of $10 \Omega \text{ sq}^{-1}$ [79]. This makes graphene an ideal candidate in solar cell applications. Other application includes organic light emitting diodes [6].

2.1.5.2. Energy applications

Graphene has been used in energy storage devices, such as supercapacitors, batteries and it has also been used in fuel cell applications [6]. Mostly, electrochemical capacitors have been widely explored. The uses extend to hybrid vehicles and power supply devices, which is due to its high-power density and cost effectiveness [66]. Graphene, with its high electrical conductivity, high electron mobility and high surface area makes it an ideal candidate for supercapacitors [54]. The first graphenebased supercapacitor showed to have a specific capacitance of 117 F.g⁻¹ in an aqueous solution and 75 F.g⁻¹ in ionic liquid electrolytes [54]. It has been reported that doping graphene which hetero atoms such as nitrogen can improve the capacitance [80]. The graphene was doped with nitrogen and had a nitrogen content of 10 % by weight. The doped graphene supercapacities had a specific capacitance of 326 F.g⁻¹ and the sheets were found to have superior cycling stability with a columbic efficiency of 99 % after 2000 cycles. The energy density of doped graphene is high and peaks at 25 W.h.kg⁻¹ and a power density of 7980 W.kg⁻¹ [80].

In fuel cells graphene is used in oxygen reduction electrode [81]. The cathode material is usually expensive metals such as platinum, gold and ruthenium [81]. The metals are a limited resource, while graphene production is cheap. Graphene having a high conductivity and a high surface area it will be ideal alternative for the noble metals [81]. Mostly, to be more efficient, graphene is used in conjunction with platinum nanoparticles. The nanoparticles also have high catalytic activity and can be anchored on the graphene films [82].

2.2. Graphene Composites.

2.2.1. Nanoparticles

Nanoparticles offer new approaches in tackling innovative design and novel products with the potential to have a variety of technological applications [83]. Metal nanoparticles present a new approach in the design of new products. The size of the nanoparticles can be tuned to suit applications [82 - 85]. Nanoparticles tend to have different properties that form the bulk material. This is seen in Co₂B, where bulk Co₂B is ferromagnetic and Co₂B nanoparticles are superparamagnetic [83]. Other nanoparticles which are semiconductors are the quantum dots [84]. These nanoparticles are well researched in the field of photophysics. These nanoparticles such as CdTe display a property called quantum size effect [84]. This effect occurs when exciton is confined in 3 dimensions resulting smaller particles emitting high energy photons and larger emitting lower energy photons and applications in LEDs, solar cells and photocatalysts [84]. Magnetic nanoparticles have also been looked at for applications in medicine, electronics and recording media [85].

Magnetic properties are dependent on the size and shape of nanoparticles [83,85]. Magnetic nanoparticles, unlike other nanoparticle have unique mechanical and magnetic properties [85]. The most frequently studied magnetic nanoparticles are the ferrite spinel type particles. They generally have hard and soft magnetic materials [83, 85]. The hard magnetic materials are characterized by large values of saturation magnetization and higher coerecivity while soft magnetic materials have low values of saturation magnetization and coerecivity [85].

2.2.1.1. Synthesis and Characterisation of magnetic nanoparticles

Magnetic nanoparticles are synthesized using a hydrothermal method, and a coprecipitation method for bimetallic nanoparticles [86]. Mono-metallic nanoparticles are synthesized by the reduction of metallic ions, followed by the chemisorption of ligands to stabilize the nanoparticles. The ions of interest in this study are Ni²⁺, Co²⁺ and Fe³⁺. The simplest method in making nickel nanoparticles is the addition of cobalt acetate to a solution of sodium citrate and hydrazine [86]. The sodium citrate is the stabilizing agent and the method was adopted for the synthesis of other cations by substituting the cobalt acetate with FeCl₃ and NiCl₂ respectively.

Other nanoparticles are nanometal oxides particularly dysprosium oxide and cobalt iron oxide nanoparticles. Dysprosium oxide nanoparticles are synthesized from the calcination of dysprosium hydroxide nanorods [87], while cobalt ferrites nanoparticles are made from the co-precipitation method. The cobalt acetate and iron (III) chloride are added to a boiling basic solution and then the stabilizing agent is added [88]. The nanoparticles are used to make magnetic graphene composites.

Nanoparticles and composites are characterized by TEM, HRTEM and XRD. TEM analyses the shape of the nanoparticles and HRTEM are used in to analyse defects in the structure of the particles. Both these techniques can be used to estimate the particle size of the nanoparticles. XRD is the most accurate technique for the determination of average particle size.

2.2.2. Graphene Composites

Graphene composites have received significant attention in the research space. The most cost effective method of producing graphene in the laboratory is in the form of reduced graphene oxide. However, reduced graphene oxide (rGO) does suffer from restacking from the π - π interaction [89]. Restacking occurs when the pi bonding orbitals in the graphene sheet interact with pi anti-bonding in orbitals in the adjacent sheet, which can lead to multilayered rGO to amorphous carbon. This severely impedes the surface area of the rGO and limits the number of applications [89]. To overcome this problem researchers have introduced nanoparticles between the graphitic sheets, thereby forming graphene nanoparticle composites [90]. The composites can be formed using both metallic and metallic oxide nanoparticles [90]. Graphene has a high surface to volume ratio, which allows it to be a suitable substrate to disperse nanoparticles. It has been shown that the formation of the composite changes magnetic properties, for example in the formation of graphene-Co₃O₄ are anti ferromagnetic [91].

The nanocomposite can easily be synthesized using the hydrothermal method. This means that it is a very economical and a scalable process. Depending on the target application, the concentration of the nanoparticles can be varied to meet the specifications of the desired application. The combination of nanoparticles with reduced graphene oxide improves the dispersion of nanoparticles. Therefore, the surface area of the composites is high. There is a charge transfer between the nanoparticles and the reduced graphene oxide. The charge transfer between graphene and metallic nanoparticles changes the electronic and magnetic properties in the metal graphene composite [92].

2.2.2. Synthesis and characterization of magnetic graphene nanocomposites

The most common method of synthesizing nanocomposites is the hydrothermal method [89 - 92].

The method is done using a solution of graphene oxide with metal salt and a reducing agent. Graphene oxide is mixed with a metal salt in a basic solution and refluxed for 3 to 12 hours with a reducing agent. For example, graphene oxide is graphene oxide is dispersed in water by ultra-sonication to form a graphene oxide suspension usually about 0.5 mg.mL⁻¹. Nickel chloride solution of about 17 mg mL⁻¹ and 4 % graphene oxide solution are mixed together the pH is set to 10 and reducing agent is added dropwise. The solution is refluxed for 3 hours in inert atmosphere [93].

The composite are characterized by TEM, HRTEM, Raman and XRD. The TEM analyses the shape of the nanoparticles and HRTEM are used in the analysis of tdefect in the structure of the particles. Both these techniques can be used to estimate the particle size of the nanoparticles. XRD is the most accurate technique for the determination of average particle size.

2.3. Applications of graphene oxide composites.

2.3.1. Removal of pollutants in aqueous media.

The earth is water rich planet, making water the most abundant substance on the earth's crust. It has been stated by the Food and Agriculture organization that the estimated water content on earth is roughly $1\,351 \times 10^6$ km³. Only 0.003 % is fresh water suitable for human consumption, agricultural uses, hygiene uses and industrial uses. The challenge is to distribute the water for human consumption without

harming the environment [94]. The world's population is constantly climbing at a rate about 1.2 % per annum. Freshwater remains a limited resource and the water quality is important for drinking, cooking, animal farming and crop production. The World Health Organization (WHO) and United Nation (UN) declared access to fresh drinkable water a basic human right [95]. Thus, the preservation of water quality is of the utmost importance. Water quality is greatly affected by the pollutants, which are toxic chemicals, human domestic waste and medical waste, which render the water unsafe for human consumption and the environment at large. Rapid urbanization, informal settlement and population growth increases the demand for fresh water [96]. It was also discovered by A. van Leeuwenhoek, while using a microscope, that water contains micro-organisms [97]. The microorganism contamination of drinking water brings about the outbreaks of diseases, such as cholera and diarrhea. Chemical pollution is a major cause of contamination which causes problems in the environment. The toxicity caused by chemical pollution may cause environmental problems, because some chemicals have high toxicity which in humans and animals disturbs endocrine systems. In some cases, the exposure leads to teratogenic and carcinogenic effects. This affect organism reproduction and causes vegetation damage [98]. Cost effective methods are thus needed to be developed for water remediation.

Most commons method for water remediation have been filtration, biological treatment and adsorption [99]. However filtration and biological treatment have drawbacks, such as high operating costs and production of side products. Adsorption is a versatile cost-effective method that utilize of activated carbons and magnetic graphene nanocomposites sorbent materials for adsorption. Magnetic composites such as Fe₃O₄/graphene have been shown to remove organic dyes, methelyne blue, Pb (II) and Cr(VI) ions in aqueous solution [99 - 100]. The magnetic composite can be easily removed from solution using an external magnet. Methelyne blue has positively charged centres which are attracted to the negatively charged oxygens of the Fe₃O₄. The zeta potential is an important factor when using adsorption experiments. It is the point where the net charge of the absorbent material is zero and thus determines the

electrophoretic mobility of adsorbates [101]. Fe₃O₄/graphene is negatively charged at pH values higher than 3.7 [101]. This means that in naturally occurring water, Fe₃O₄/graphene would ideal in the removal of positively charged pollutants. Figure 2.19 illustrates how Fe₃O₄/graphene is used in the removal of methelyne blue and Pb(II) ions [101]. The Fe₃O₄/graphene is easily removed using a hand held magnet which means that it can be easily regenerated.



Figure 2.19: Pictures showing the used of Fe₃O₄/graphene in the removal of Pb(II) and methylene blue [101].

The other method of water purification in the removal of dyes is using CoFe₂O₄-rGO as a catalyst in sonar luminescence [102]. A solution of an organic dye and CoFe₂O₄-rGO are placed in an ultrasonic cleaner. The ultrasonic irradiation of the composite produces sonar luminescence hot spots on the surface of the reduced graphene oxide and the light emitted is absorbed by the CoFe₂O₄, which creates electron (e⁻) and hole (h⁺) pairs. The electrons produced react with dissolved, oxygen forming reactive oxygen species which can degrade organic dyes [102].

References

K.S. Novoselov, A.K. Geim, S.V. Morozov, D. Jiang, Y. Zhang, S.V. Dubonos, I.V. Grigorieva, A.A. Firsov. "Electric Field Effect in Atomically Thin Carbon Films," *Science*, vol. 306, pp. 666 – 669, 2004.

[2] J.C. Meyer, A.K. Geim, M.I. Katsnelson, K.S. Noloselov, T.J. Booth, S. Roth, "The structure of suspended graphene sheets," *Nature*, Vol. 446, pp.60 – 63, 2007.

[3] I. Forbeaux, J.-M. Themlin, J.-M. Debever, "Heteroepitaxial graphite on 6H-SiC (0001): Interface formation through conduction-band electronic structure," *Physical Review:B*, vol. 58, pp. 16369 – 16406, 1998.

[4] K.S. Novoselov, D. Jiang, T. Booth, V.V. Khotkevich, S.M. Morozov, A.K. Geim, "Two dimensional atomic crystals," *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, vol.102, pp. 10451-10453, 2005.

[5] "Scientific background on the Nobel Prize in Physics in 2010: Graphene," The Royal Swedish Academy of Science, Sweden, 2010.

[6] A.C. Ferrari, F. Bonaccorso, V. Fal'ko, K. S. Novolselov, S. Roche, *et al*, "Science and technology roadmap for graphene, related two-dimensional crystals, and hybrid systems," *Nanoscale*, vol. 7, pp. 4587 - 5062, 2015.

[7] A.E. Karu, M. Beer, "Pyrolytic formation of highly crystalline graphite films", *Journal of Applied Physics*, vol. 37, pp. 2173 – 2181, 1966.

[8] J. Song, X. Wang, C-T. Chang, "Preparation and characterization of graphene oxide," *Journal of Nanoparticles*, vol. 2014, pp. 1 – 6, 2014.

[9] A.B. Bourlinos, V. Georgakilas, R. Zboril, T.A. Sterotis, A.K. Stubos, "Liquid-phaseExfoliation of graphite towards solubilized graphenes," *Small*, vol. 5, pp. 1841 – 1845, 2009.

[10] J.W. May, "Platinum surface LEED rings," *Surface Science*, vol. 17, pp. 267 - 270, 1969.

[11] N.A. Kholin, E.V. Rut'kov, A.Y. Tongegode, "The nature of the adsorption bond between graphite island and iridium surface," *Surface Science*, vol.139, pp. 155 -172, 1984.

[12] J. Coraux, A.T. N'Diaye, C. Busse, T. Michely, "Structural coherency of graphene on Ir (111)," *Nano Letters*, vol. 8, pp. 565 – 570, 2008.

[13] X. Li, W. Cai, J. An, S. Kim, J. Nah, D. Yang, R. Piner, A. Velamakanni, I. Jung,
E. Tutuc, S.K. Banerjee, L. Colombo, R.S. Rouff, "Large area aynthesis of high-quality and uniform graphene films on copper foils," *Science*, vol.324, pp. 1312 – 1314. 2009

[14] X. Li, C.W. Magnuson, A.Venegopal, R.M.Tromp, J. Ant. J.W. Suk, B. Han, M. Borysaik, W. Cai, A. Velamakanni, Y. Zhu, L. Fu, E.M. Vogel, E. Voelki, L. Colombo, R.S Ruoff, "Graphene Films with large domain size by a two-step chemical vapor deposition process," *Nano Letters*, vol. 10, pp. 4328 – 4334, 2010.

[15] Z. Zhang, L. Zhang, C. Zhou, "Review of chemical vapor deposition of graphene and related applications," *Accounts of Chemical Research*, vol. 46 pp. 2329 - 2339, 2012.

[15] A. Reina, X. Jai, J.Ho, D. Nezich, H. Son, V. Bulovic, M.S. Dresselhaus, J. Kong, "Large Area, few layer graphene films on arbitrary substrate by chemical vapor depositon," *Nano Letters*, vol. 9, pp. 30 – 35, 2009.

[16] X. Li, Y. Zhu, W. Cai, M. Borysiak, H. Han, D. Chen, R.D. Piner, L.Colombo, R.S. Ruoff, "Transfer of large-area graphene films for high performance transparent conductive electrodes," *Nano Letters*, vol. 9, pp. 4395 – 4363, 2009.

[17] S. Bae, S.J. Kim, D. Shin, J-H. Ahn, B.H. Hong, "Towards industrial application of graphene electrodes," *Physica Scripta*, vol. 2012, pp. 014024 - 014030, 2012. doi:10.1088/0031-8949/2012/ T146/014024

[18] B.C. Brodie, "On the atomic weight of graphite", *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London*, vol. 149, pp. 249 – 259, 1859.

[19] L. Staudenmaier, "Verfahren zur darstellung der graphitsäure," Beritche der deuteschen Chemischen Gesellschaft, vol. 31, pp. 1481 – 1487, 1898.

[20] L. Staudenmaier, "Verfahren zur darstellung der graphitsäure," *Beritche der deuteschen chemischen Gesellschaft*, vol. 32, pp. 1394 – 1399, 1899.

[21] W.S. Hummer, R.E. Offerman, "Preparation of graphitic oxide," *Journal of the American Chemical Society*, vol. 80, pp. 1339 -1339

[22] N.I. Kovtyukhova, P.J. Ollivier, B.R. Martin, T.E. Mallouk, S.A. Chizhik, E.V. Buzanova, A.D. Gorchinskiy, "Layer-by-layer assembly of ultrathin composite films from micron - sized graphite oxide sheets and polycation," *Chemistry of Materials*, vol. 11, pp. 771 -778, 1999.

[23] S. Gilje, S. Han, M.Wang, K.L. Wang, R.B. Kaner, "A chemical route to graphene for device applications," *Nano Letters*, vol. 7, pp. 3394 – 3398, 2007.

[24] D.C. Marcano, D.V. Kosynkin, j.M. Berlin, A.S. Stinitsii, Z. Sun, A. Slesarev, L.B. Alemany, W. Lu, J.M. Tour, "Improve synthesis of graphene oxide", ACS Nano, vol. 8, pp. 4806 – 4814, 2010.

[25] K.R. Koch, "Oxidation by MnO7: An impressive demonstration of the powerful oxidizing property of dimanganeseheptoxide," *Journal of Chemical Education*, vol. 59, pp 973, 1982.

[26] A. Simon, R. Dronskowski, B. Krebs, B. Hettich, "The crystal structure of MnO₇," *Angewandte Chemice International Edition in English*, vol. 26, pp. 139 - 140, 1987.

[27] C. Gómez-Navarro, J.K. Meyer, R.S. Sundaram, A. Chuvilin, S. Kurasch, M. Burghard, K. Kern, U. Kaiser, 'Atomic structure of reduced graphene oxide," *Nano Letters*, vol. 10, pp. 1144 – 1148, 2010.

[28] A.L. Higginbotham, D.V. Kosynkin, A. Sinitsikii, Z. Sun, J.M. Tour, "Lower – defect graphene oxide nanoribbons from multiwalled carbon nanotubes" *ACS Nano*, vol 4, pp. 2059 – 2069, 2010.

[29] S. Gilje, S. Han, W. Minsheng , L.W. Kang, R.B Kaner, "A chemical route to graphene for device applications," *Nano Letters*, vol. 7, pp. 3394 – 3398, 2007.

[30] S. Stankovich, D.A. Dikin, R.D. Piner, K.A. Piner, K.A. Kohlhaas, A. Kleinhammes, Y. Jia, Y. Wu, S.T. Ngyen, R.S. Ruoff, "Synthesis of graphene-based nanosheets via chemical reduction of exfoliated graphite oxide," *Carbon*, vol. 45, pp. 1558 – 1565, 2007.

[31] Z-Z. Yang, Q-B. Zheng, H-v. Qui, J. Li, J-h. Yang, "A simple reduction method of graphene of graphene oxide by sodium borohydride with CaCl₂ as a catalyst," *Carbon*, vol. 86 pp. 372 – 378, 2015.

[32] I. Jung, D.A. Dikin, R.D. Piner, R.S. Rouff, 'Tunable electrical conductivity of individual graphene oxide sheets reduced at "low" temperatures," *Nano Letters*, vol. 8, pp. 4283 – 4287, 2015.

[33] C. Gómez-Navarro, R.T. Weitz, A. M. Bittner, M. Scolari, A. Mews, M. Burghard,
K. Ken, "Electronic transport properties of individual chemically reduced graphene oxide sheets," *Nano Letters*, vol. 7, pp. 3499 – 3503, 2007.

[34] V. López, R.S. Sundaram, C. Gómez-Navarro, D. Olea, M. Burghard, J. Gómez-Herrero, F. Zamora, K. Kem, "Chemical vapor deposoition repair of graphene oxide: A route to highly conductive graphene monolayers" *Advanced Materials*, vol. 21, pp. 4683 -4687, 2009.

[35] Y. Hernandez, V. Nicolosi, M. Loyta, F.M. Blighe, Z. Sun, S. De, I.T. McGovern, B. Holland, M. Byrne, Y.K. Gun'Ko, J.J. Boland, P. Niraj, G. Deusberg, S. Krishnamurthy, R. Goodhue, J. Hutchison, V. Scardaci, A.C. Ferrari J.N. Coleman, "High-yield production of graphene by liquid phase exfoliation of graphite," *Nature Nanotechnology*, vol. 3, 563 – 568, 2008.

[36] V. Alzari, V. Sanna, S. Biccai, T. Caurso, A. Politano, N. Csaramuzza, M. Sechi, D. Nuvoli, R. Sanna, A. Mariani, "Tailoring the physical properties of nanocomposite films by the insertion of graphene and other nanoparticles," *Composites: Part B*, vol. 60, pp. 29 – 35, 2014.

[37] A.B. Bourlinos, V. Georgakilas, R. Zboril, T.A. Sterotis, A.K. Stubos, "Liquidphase Exfoliation of graphite towards solubilized graphenes," *Small*, vol. 5, pp. 1841 – 1845, 2009. [38] M. Quintana, M. Grzelczak, K. Spyrou, B. Kooi, S. Bals, G. van Tendeloo, P. Rudolf, M. Prato, "Production of large graphene sheets by exfoliation of graphite under high power Ultrasound in the presence of tiopronin," *Chemical Communications*, vol. 18, pp. 12159 – 12161, 2012.

[39] Y. Zhu, S. Murali, W. Cai, Xuesong, J.W. Suk, J.R. Potts, R.S. Ruoff, "Graphene and Graphene oxide: Synthesis, properties and application," *Advanced Materials*, vol. 22, pp. 3906 – 3924, 2010.

[40] A.K. Geim, K.S. Novoselov, "The rise of graphene", *Nature Materials*, vol. 6, pp. 183 – 191, 2007.

[41] B. Partoens and F.M. Peeters, "From graphene to graphite: Electronic structure around the K point," *Physical Review B*, vol. 74, 2006. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevB.74.075404

[42] C. Özdoğan, J. Kunstmann, A. Quandt, "Localization of metallicity and magnetic Properties of graphene and of graphene nanoribbons doped with boron clusters," *Condence Matter Material Science*, 2013. **arXiv:1303.0768v1**

[43] M.I. Katsnelson, "Graphene: carbon in two dimensions," *Materials Today*, vol. 10, pp. 20 – 27, 2007.

[44] J.C. Slonczewski, P.R. Weiss, "Band structure of graphite," *Physical Review*, vol. 109, pp. 272 – 279, 1958.

[45] M.I. Katsenelson, K.S. Novoselov, A.K. Geim, "65Chiral tunneling and the Klein paradox in Graphene," *Nature Physics*, vol. 2, pp. 620 – 625, 2006.

[46] Y. Zhang, Y-W. Tan, H.L. Stormer, P. Kim, "Experimental observation of quantum Hall Effect and Berry's phase in graphene,' *Nature*, vol. 48, pp 201 – 204, 2005.

[47] K.S. Novoselov, A.K. Geim, S.V. Morozov, D. Jiang, M.I. Katnselson, I.V. Grigoreiva, S.V. DuBonos, A.A. Firsov, "Two- dimensional gas of massless Dirac fermions in graphene," *Nature*, vol. 438, pp. 197 – 200, 2005.

[48] F. Schedin, A.K. Geim, S.V. Morozov, D. Jiang, E.H. Hill, P. Blake, M.I. Katsneldson, K.S. Novoselov, 'Detection of indivual gas molecules by graphene sensors," *Nature Materials*, vol. 6, pp. 652 – 655, 2007.

[49] V.E. Calado, S-E. Zhu, S. Goswami, Q. Xu, K. Watanabe, T. Taniguchi, G.C.A.M Janssen, L.M.K. Vandersypen, "Ballistic transport in graphene grown by chemical vapor deposition," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 104, 2014, 023103.

[50] R. Rurali, "Colloquium: Structure, electronic and transport properties of silicone Nanowire," *Review of Modern Physics*, vol. 82, pp. 427 – 449, 2010.

[51] R. Murali, Y. Yang, K. Brenner, T. Beck, J.D. Meindi, "Breakdown current density of Graphene nanoribbons," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 94, 2009.

[52] I.A. Ovid'ko, "Mechanical properties of graphene," *Review on Advance Material Science*, vol. 34, pp. 1 – 11, 2013.

[53] C. Lee, X. Wei, J.W. Kysar, J. Hone, "Measurement of the elastic properties and intrinsic Strength of monolayer graphene," *Science*, vol. 321, pp. 385 – 388, 2008.

[54] C.N.R. Rao, K. Gopalakrishnan, A. Govindaraj, "Synthesis, properties and application of Graphene doped with boron, nitrogen and other elements," *Nano Today*, vol. 9, pp. 324 - 343, 2014.

[55] R.R. Nair, P. Blake, A.N. Grigorenko, K.S. Novolesov, T. J. Booth, T. Stuaber, N.M.R. Peres, A.K. Geim, "Fine structure constant define visual transparency of graphene," *Science*, vol. 320, pp. 1308 - 1315, 2008.

[56] G. Eda, G. Fanchini and M. Chhowalla, "Large-area ultrathin films of reduced graphene oxide as a transparent and flexible eleectroni material." *Nano Technology*, vol. 3, pp. 270 – 274, 2008.

[57] H.-L. Guo, P. Su, X. Kang, S.-K. Ning, "Synthesis and characterization of nitrogen-doped graphene hydrogels by hydrothermal route with urea as reducing-doping agents," *Journal of Materials Chemistry A*, vol. 1, pp. 2248 – 2255, 2013.
[58] S. Wang, L. Zhang, Z. Xia, A. Roy, D.W. Chang, J.-B. Baek, L. Dai, "BCN graphene as efficient metal-free electrocatalyst for the oxygen reduction reaction", *Angewandte Chemie International Edition*, vol. 51, pp. 4209 – 4212, 2012.

[59] V.H. Pham, S.H. Hur, E.J. Kim. B.S. Kim, J.S. Chung, "Highly efficient reduction of Graphene oxide using ammonia borane," *Chemical Communications*, vol. 49, pp. 6665 - 6667, 2013.

[60] I.-Y. Jeon, Y.-R. Shin, G.-J. Sohn, H.-J. Choi, S.-Y. Bae, J. Mahmood, S.-M. Jung, J.-M, Seo, M.-J. Kim, D.W. Chang, L. Dai, J.-B. Baek, "Edge-carboxylated graphene nanosheets via ball milling," *Proceedings of the National Academy of Science of the USA*, vol. 109, pp. 5588 – 5593, 2012.

[61] Z.Zou, Z. Jiang, A. Manthiram, "Porous B-doped graphene inspire by Fired-Ice for Supercapacitors and metal-free catalysts," *Journal of Materials Chemistry A*, vol. 1,

pp. 13476 - 13483, 2013.

[62] Z. Abdullaeva, Z. Kelgenbaeva, T. Masayuli, M. Hirano, S. Nagaoka, T. Shirosaki, "Graphene Sheets with modified surface by sodium laurtyl sulfate surfactant for Biomedical applications," *Graphene*, vol. 5, pp. 155 – 165, 2016.

[63] B.D. Cullity, *Elements of X-ray diffraction*. Massachusetts: Addison-Wesley Publishing Company Inc., 1956

[64] P. Hofmann, *Solid state physics: An introduction*, Second ed. Weinheim, Germany: Wiley-VCH, 2015.

[65] N.D. Tissera, R.N. Wijesena, J.R. Perera, K.M.N. de Silva, G.A.J. Amaratunge, "Hydrophobic cotton textile surface using an amphiphilic graphene oxide (GO) coating," *Applied Surface Science*, vol. 324, pp. 455 – 463, 2015.

[66] D.P. Suhas, T.M. Aminabhavi, H.M. Jeong, A.V. Raghu, "Hydrogen peroxide treated graphene as an effective nanosheet filler for separation application" *RSC Advances*, vol. 5, pp. 100984 – 100995, 2015.

[67] S.H. Huh, "X-ray diffraction of multi-layer graphene: Instant measurement and determination of the number of layers," *Carbon*, vol. 78, pp. 617 – 621, 2014.

[68] A.G. Bannov, M.V. Popov, P.B. Kurmashov, "Thermal analysis of carbon nanomaterials: advantages and problems of interpretation," Journal of Thermal Analysis and Calorimetry, vol.142, pp. 349 – 370, 2020.

[69] A.C. Ferrari, J.C. Meyer, V. Scardaci, C. Casiraghi, M. Lazzeri, F. Mauri, S. Piscanec, D. Jiang, K.S. Novoselov, S. Roth, A. K. Geim, "Raman spectrum of graphene and graphene layers," *Physical Review Letters*, vol. 97, pp. 187401 - 187404, 2006.

[70] G.S. Bumbrah, R.M. Sharma, "Raman spectroscopy-Basic principle, instrumentation and selected application in characterization of drugs of abuse," *Egyptian Journal of Forensic Sciences*, vol. 6, 209 – 215, 2016.

[71] M.S. Dresselhaus, A. Jorio, M. Hofmann, G. Dresselhaus, R. Saito, "Perspectives on Carbon Nanotubes and Graphene Raman Spectroscopy," *Nano Letters*, vol. 10, pp. 751 – 758, 2010.

[72] A.C. Ferrari and D.M. Basko, Raman spectroscopy as a versatile tool for studying the properties of graphene," *Nature Nanotechnology*, vol. 8, pp. 235 – 246,2013.

[73] A. Niazi, P. Poddar, A.K. Rastogi, "A precision, low-cost vibrating sample magnetometer," *Current Science*, vol. 79, pp. 99 – 109, 2000.

[74] H. Heidari, C.G. Núñez, R. Dahiya, "E-skin module with heterogeneously integrated Graphene touch sensors and CMOS circuitry," *IEEE Sensors*, 2016. DOI: 10.1109/ICSENS.2016.7808760

[75] W. Zhao, G. Kido, K. Hara, H. Noguchi, "Characterization of neutralized graphite oxide and its use in electric double layer capacitors," *Journal of Electroanalytical Chemistry*, vol. 712, pp. 185 – 193, 2014.

[76] F.M. El-Kady, V. Strong, S. Dubin, R.B. Kaner, "Laser scribing of highperfomance and Flexible graphene-based electrochemical capacitors," *Science*, vol. 335, pp. 1326 – 1330, 2012. [77] UK Intellectual Property Office, "Graphene: The worldwide patent landscape in 2015," Intellectual Property Office, London, United Kingdom, 2015.

[78] I. Hamberg, C.G. Granqvist, "Evaporated Sn-doped In₂O₃ films: basic optical properties and application to energy-efficient windows," *Journal of Applied Physics*, vol. 60, pp. R123 – R 159, 1986.

[79] M. W. Rowell, M.D. McGehee, "Transparent electrode requirements for thin film solar cell modules," *Energy & Environmental Science*, vol. 4, pp. 131 – 134, 2011.

[80] L. Sun, L. Wang, C. Tian, T. Tan, Y. Xei, K. Shi, M. Li, H. Fu, "Nitrogen-doped graphene with high nitrogen level via a one-step hydrothermal reaction of graphene oxide with urea for superior capacitive energy storage," *RSC Advances, vol.* 2, pp. 4498 – 4506, 2012.

[81] H-J. Choi, S-M. Jung, J-M. Seo, D.W. Chang, L. Dai, J-B. Baek, "Graphene for energy conversion and storage in fuel cell and supercapacitors," *Nano Energy*, vol. 1, pp. 534 – 551, 2012.

[82] F.A. Tourinho, R. Franck, R. Massart, "Aqueous ferrofluids based on manganese and Cobalt ferrites," *Journal of Materials Science*, vol. 25, pp. 3249 – 3254, 1990

[83] C. Petit, M.P. Pileni, "Nanosize cobalt boride particles; control of the size and properties," *Journal of Magnetism and Magnetic Materials*, vol. 166, pp. 82 – 90, 1997.

[84] P. Kumar, "Semiconductor (CdSe and CdTe) quantum dot: Synthesis, properties and applications," *Materials Today: Proceedings*, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.matpr. 2021 .60.281.

[85] A. Kumar, N. Yadav, D.S. Rana, P. Kumar, M. Arora, R.P. Pant, "Structural and magnetic studies of the nickel doped CoFe₂O₄ ferrite nanoparticles synthesized by the chemical co-precipitation method," *Journal of Magnetism and Magnetic Materials*, vol. 394, pp. 379 – 384, 2015.

[86] S.A. Salman, T. Usami, K. Kuroda, M. Okido, "Synthesis and characterisation of cobalt nanoparticles using hydrazine and citric acid," *Journal of enechnology*, vol. 2014, pp. 1 – 6, 2014. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1155/2014/525193</u> [87] K. Kattel, J.Y Park, W. Xu, H.G. Kim, E.J. Lee, B.A. Bony, W.C. Heo, S. Jin, J.S. Beack, Y. Chang, T.J. Kim, J.E. Bae, K.S. Chae, G.H. Lee, "Paramagnet dysprosium oxide Nanoparticles and dysprosium hydroxide nanorods as *T*₂ MRI contrast agents," *Biomaterials*, vol. 33, pp. 3254 – 3261, 2012.

[88] K. Maaz, A. Mumtaz, S.K. Hasanain, A. Ceylan, "Synthesis and magnetic properties of cobalt ferrite (CoFe₂O₄) nanoparticles prepared by wet chemical route," *Journal of Magnetism and Magnetic Materials*, vol. 308, pp. 289 – 295, 2007

[89] Y. Guo, J. Deng, J. Zhu, X. Zhou, R. Bai, "Removal of mecury (II) and methylene blue from water environment with magnetic graphene oxide: adsorption kinetics, isotherms and mechanism," *RSC Advances*, vol. 3, pp. 1 - 33, 2013 DOI:10.1039/C6RA14651A

[90] A.A. Nafiey, A. Addad, B. Sieber, G. Chastanet, A. Barras, S. Szunerits, R.
Boukherroub, "Reduced graphene oxide decorated with Co₃O₄ nanoparticles (rGO-Co₃O₄) nanocomposite: A reusable catalysy for highly efficient reduction of 4-nitrophenol an Cr(VI) and dye removal from aqueous solutions," *Chemical Engineering Journal*, vol. 322, pp. 375 – 384, 2017.

[91] K. Yin, J.Ji, Y. Shen, Y. Xiong, H. Bi, J. Sun, T. Xu, Z. Zhu, L. Sun, "Magnetic properties of Co₃O₄ nanoparticles on graphene substrate," *Journal of Alloys and Compounds*, vol. 720, pp. 345 – 351, (2017)

[92] Meng, F., Wang, H., Huang, F., Guo, Y., Z. Wang, Hui, D, "Graphene-based microwave absorbing: A review and prospective," *Composites B.* vol.137, pp. 260 – 277, 2018.

[93] Z. Ji, X. Shen, G. Zhu, H. Zhou, A, Yuan, "Reduced graphene oxide/nickel nanocomposite: facile synthesis, magnetic and catalytic properties," *Journal of Materials Chemistry*, vol. 22, pp. 3471 – 3477, 2012.

[94] J. Winpenny, I. Heinz, S. Koo-Oshima, The wealth of waste: The economics of wastewater use in agriculture, Food and Agriculuture Organisation of the United Nations, 2010, Sourced from: <u>http://www.fao.org/docrep/012/i1629e/i1629e.pdf</u> (Accessed 10/03/2020)

[95] WHO, Water resource quality. Sourced from: http//www.who.int/water sanitation health/resources/resquality/en/index.html. (Accessed 08/03/2020)

[96] WHO, WHO 10 facts about water scarcity. Sourced from: http://www.who.int/features/factfiles/water/en/(accessd 10/03/2020)

[97] T. Pradeep, T. Anshup, Noble metal nanoparticles for water purification: a critical Review, *Thin Solid Films*, vol. 517, pp. 6441 - 6458, 2009.

[98] X-J. Kong, D. Li, L-Q. Cao, X-M. Zhang, Y. Zhao, Y. Lv, J. Zhang, "Evaluation of municipal sewage treatment system for pollutant removal efficiency by measuring levels of micropollutants," *Chemosphere*, vol. 72, pp. 59 - 65, 2008.

[99] X. Lv, X. Xue, G. Jiang, D. Wu, T. Sheng, H. Zhou, X. Xu, "Nanoscale Zero-Valent Iron (nZVI) assembled on magnetic Fe_3O_4 /graphene for Chromium (VI) removal from aqueous solution. *Journal of Colloid and interface Science*, vol. 417, pp. 51 – 59, 2014.

[100] Y. Yao, S. Miao, S. Liu, L.P. Ma, H. Sun, S. Wang, "Synthesis and characterization of magnetic Fe₃O₄@graphene nanocomposite," *Chemical Engineering Journal*, vol. 184, pp. 326 – 332, 2012.

[101] L. Cui, Y. Wang, L. Hu, L. Gao, B. Du, Q. Wei, Mechanism of Pb(II) and methylene blue adsorption onto magnetic carbonate hydroxyapatite/graphene oxide," *RSC Advances*, vol. 5, pp. 9759 – 9770, 2015.

[102] A. Hassani, G. Çelikdağ, P. Eghbali, M. Sevim, S. Karaca, O. Metin, "Heterogeneous sono-Fenton-like process using magnetic cobalt ferrite-reduced graphene oxide (CoFe₂O₄-rGO) nanocomposite for the removal of dyes from aqueous solution," *Ultrasonics-Sonochemistry*, vol. 40, pp. 841 – 852, 2018.

Chapter 3: Theory

Chapter 3: Theory.

This chapter discusses magnetic moments in materials, and the influence of temperature and applied magnetic field on reduced graphene oxide samples. It focuses on the doping techniques used in the formation of doped reduced graphene oxide samples.

3.1. Origin of Magnetism.

The magnetic property of a material originates from the circulation of the electrons around the atoms and their intrinsic spin which gives rise magnetism [1]. The atomic structure of materials gives insight to how the electrons move around the nuclei, which are assumed to be responsible for the magnetic behavior. The electron movement in the orbitals has been assumed to constitute a current, I [2]. This is illustrated in Figure 3.1, showing the existence of a magnetic moment due to an electron moving in a closed orbit.



Figure 3.1: Illustration of an electron moving in a closed orbit [3].

We consider an electron of mass, m_e , moving in a closed orbit of radius ,r as shown in figure below. The current I is induced from the movement of the electron associated with a magnetic moment, defined as

$$\mu = IA, \tag{3.1.1}$$

where *A* is the area of the orbit with a magnitude of πr^2 [2,3]. If the electron is moving with an angular speed of ω then the current can be defined as

$$I = -ef = -\frac{e\omega}{2\pi} \tag{3.1.2}$$

where f is the frequency of rotation. The magnetic moment then becomes

$$\mu = -\frac{e^2}{2}\omega = -\frac{em_e r^2}{2m_e}\omega = -\frac{e}{2m_e}l, \qquad (3.1.3)$$

where *l* is the orbital angular momentum and equal to

$$l = m_e \omega r^2. \tag{3.1.4}$$

Now the orbital magnetic moment μ_l of an electron can be expressed in terms of the angular momentum as

$$\mu_l = l \, \frac{-e}{2m_e}.\tag{3.1.5}$$

Angular momentum of an electron is quantizes in the *z* direction, given by

$$L_z = m_l \hbar \tag{3.1.6}$$

 \hbar is related to Plank's constant by the expression $\hbar = h/2\pi$ since $l = m_l \hbar$, the magnetic quantum number is $m_l = 0, \pm 1, \pm 2$. Therefore the magnetic moment in the *z* direction is given by

$$\mu_{lz} = -\left(\frac{eh}{2m_e}\right)m_l = -m_l\mu_B, \qquad (3.1.7)$$

where μ_B is the Bohr magneton which defines the natural unit for magnetic moment, which can be expressed by $\mu_B = \frac{e\hbar}{2m_e}$ [1]. In the presence of a magnetic field in the z-direction μ_z the spin is also quantized, which now gives

$$\mu_B = -2\mu_B m_s, \tag{3.1.8}$$

where the magnetic spin quantum number $m_s = \pm \frac{1}{2}$. In a multi electron system the assumption is made that the orbital momenta couple together to give the total orbital momentum

$$L = \sum l_i$$
 ,

and for the spin we similarly get

$$S = \sum s_{i.}$$

Finally, *L* are *S* coupled to give the total angular momentum

$$J = L + S$$
 (3.1.9).

The total magnetic momentum of an atom can therefore be shown to be

$$\mu_J = -g\mu_B J , \qquad (3.1.10)$$

where the parameter g is called the Landé g-factor which is defined as

$$g = 1 + \frac{J(J+1) + S(S+1) - L(L+1)}{2J(J+1)}.$$
 (3.1.11)

For ideal orbital motion g = 1 and for pure spin g = 2 [2]. From the above equation, the total magnetic momentum of an atom can be calculated from the total angular momentum induced by both the spin and orbital angular momenta of the electrons.

3.2. Magnetization.

The magnetization \vec{M} of a sample is the total magnetic moments per unit volume determined usually under the influence of a magnetic field [2]. This is expressed as

$$\vec{M} = \frac{1}{V} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \vec{\mu}_{i'}$$
(3.2.1)

where V is the volume of the sample of mass m. The volume of a sample varies with temperature. This implies that the magnetization is affected by temperature if expressed in volume. It makes more sense to define the magnetic moment per unit mass σ which is expressed as,

$$\vec{\sigma} = \frac{1}{m} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \overrightarrow{\mu_i}.$$
(3.2.2)

The response of magnetization of a sample under the influence of a magnetic field is called magnetic susceptibility χ which is defined as

$$\chi = \frac{\mu_0}{B_0} M, \tag{3.2.3}$$

where μ_0 is the permeability of free space and B_0 is the magnetic induction related to the applied magnetic field H_0 by $B_0 = \mu_0 H_0$.

3.3. Classification of magnetic order in solids

The classification of magnetic order in solids occur from the interaction of microscopic magnetic moments. Thus, the magnetic order is dependent on the internal arrangement and orientation of the magnetic moments [4]. The most common types which will be outlined are ferromagnetism, diamagnetism, paramagnetism and superparamagnetism.

3.3.1. Diamagnetism

Diamagnetism, which is displayed weakly by materials (except for superconductors), is classified to be when a material repels an applied magnetic field. This is due to the electrons in motion creating a small current which induces a magnetic field that opposes the applied magnetic field. The magnetic order follows Lenz's law, where the electrons in the atomic orbitals will adjust their orbit in a way to create current loops that opposes the applied magnetic field [5].

3.3.2. Paramagnetism

Paramagnetism occurs in materials that have permanent magnetic moments. These material usually have partly filled inner 'd' and 'f' shells, which include transition, lanthanides and actinides [5]. This causes the magnetic order to be characterized by random orientation of magnetic moments, which is expressed in Figure 3.2. Paramagnetic materials have non-interacting or weakly interacting magnetic moments. Thus it corresponding susceptibility is positive and temperature dependent. When a magnetic field is applied, the magnetic moments align themselves towards the direction of the applied magnetic field.

Figure 3.2: Sketch of the magnetic ordering of paramagnetism showing random orientation of magnetic moments.

The magnetic field intensity *H* causes the splitting of energy levels [6],

$$E_I = \mu_I \cdot H = -gm_I \mu_B H$$
 (3.3.1)

where m_J is the azimuthal quantum number with values -J, -J + 1, ..., J - 1, J. The average magnetic moment of an atom in the field direction is given by

$$<\mu_J>=\sum g m_J \mu_B P(E_J) \tag{3.3.2}$$

where $P(E_I)$ is the probability for the occupation of a given energy level E_I . This is expressed in terms of the Maxwell-Boltzmann distribution as

$$P(E_{J}) = \frac{e^{-g\mu_{B}m_{J}/k_{B}T}}{\sum e^{-g\mu_{B}m_{J}B_{0}}/k_{B}T}$$
(3.3.3)

where k_B is the Boltzmann constant. The average magnetic moment is given by

$$<\mu_B>=g\mu_B JF(J,x) \tag{3.3.4}$$

where F(J, x) is the Brillouin function defined as

$$F(J,x) = \left(1 + \frac{1}{2J}\right) \operatorname{coth}\left[\left(1 + \frac{1}{2J}\right)x\right] - \frac{1}{2J}\operatorname{coth}\left(\frac{x}{2J}\right). \quad (3.3.5)$$

The parameter x is a dimensionless ratio of the Zeeman energy to the thermal energy and is given by

$$x = \frac{g\mu_B J B_0}{k_B T} \quad . \tag{3.3.6}$$

Under the condition T = 300 K and a low field, *x* becomes minute, i.e. $x \le 1$ to the point that the Brillouin function is approximated as

$$F(J,x) \cong \frac{x(J+1)}{3J}$$
 (3.3.7)

The magnetization for *n* non-interacting magnetic moments per unit volume take the following expression,

$$M = \frac{n\mu_0 g^2 \mu_B^2 J(J+1)}{3k_B T}.$$
 (3.3.8)

Since the magnetic susceptibility is given by

$$\chi = \frac{\mu_0 M}{B_0} \tag{3.3.9}$$

and when substituting for *M* we get

$$\chi = \frac{n\mu_0 g^2 \mu_B^2 J(J+1)}{3k_B T} = \frac{c}{T}.$$
(3.3.10)

This is known as the Curie law for susceptibility where

$$C = \frac{n\mu_0 g^2 \mu_B^2 J(J+1)}{3k_B}.$$
 (3.3.11)

C is called the Curie constant. However, in many instances interactions between magnetic moments occur which lead to the Curie-Weiss law expressed by

$$\chi = \frac{c}{T - \theta_p}.\tag{3.3.12}$$

 θ_P is known as the paramagnetic Curie temperature [5, 6].

3.3.3. Ferromagnetism

Ferromagnetism is a form of magnetic ordering where the atoms of the ferromagnetic material possess magnetic moments which spontaneously align parallel to each other below a critical temperature called the Curie temperature T_c . The magnetic moments have strong interaction between them, at T = 0 K. Materials that are classical ferromagnets are Fe, Ni and Co. The ferromagnets will display a net spontaneous magnetization even in the absence of an applied magnetic field. The alignment of the magnetic moments will decrease with a corresponding increase in temperature.

Figure 3.3 shows the alignment of magnetic moments in a ferromagnetic sample. The temperature at which the alignment is destroyed due to thermal agitation is the Curie temperature [3]. This means that at the point where is $T > T_c$, the ferromagnetic material will display properties of a paramagnetic species, because the disorder of the magnetic moments becomes complete. At this point the magnetic susceptibility will obey the Curie-Weiss law. In the vicinity of T_c the law fails. In the Weiss mean field theory the ferromagnetic orders originate from the assumption that a strong internal magnetic field B_{in} is responsible for the ordering of magnetic moments. The magnitude of the internal magnetic field is assumed to be proportional to the magnetization M_s , therefore,

$$B_{in} = \lambda M_S, \qquad (3.3.13)$$

where λ is the molecular field coefficient. The effective magnetic field in an externally applied magnetic field in a sample is generally given by

$$B_{eff} = B_0 + B_{in} = B_0 + \lambda M_S. \tag{3.3.14}$$

Similar to a paramagnetic species, the magnetization M_S (B_0 ,J) of a ferromagnetic species can be expressed in terms of the Brillouin function F(J,x) where

$$M_{S}(B_{0},T) = ng\mu_{B}JF(J,x).$$
(3.3.15)

The ratio of the Zeeman energy to thermal energy *y* in a ferromagnetic material is now defined as

$$x = \frac{g\mu_B J(B_0 + \lambda M_S)}{k_B T}.$$
 (3.3.16)

Spontaneous magnetic order exists even without application of an external field i.e $B_0 = 0$ since $B_{in} >> B_0$. At T = 0 K, the spontaneous magnetization per unit volume is

$$M_S(0,0) = ng\mu_B J. \tag{3.3.17}$$

For zero applied field (B0 = 0) and T > 0, the spontaneous magnetization of a ferromagnetic material can be expressed by

$$M_{S}(0,T) = M_{S}(0,0)F(J,x), \qquad (3.3.18)$$

where $M_S(0,T)$ is the saturation magnetization and x is expressed as

$$x = \frac{g\mu_B J\lambda M_S(0,T)}{k_B T}.$$
(3.3.19)

Using equation 3.15 the spontaneous magnetization of a ferromagnetic material can be written in terms of the reduced magnetizations as

$$\frac{M_S(0,T)}{M_S(0,0)} = F(J,x)$$
(3.3.20)

and

$$\frac{M_{S}(0,T)}{M_{S}(0,0)} = \left(\frac{k_{B}T}{ng^{2}\mu_{B}^{2}\lambda J^{2}}\right)x.$$
(3.3.21)

In Figure 3.4 the variation of the reduced magnetization as a function of x, is shown by equation 3.3.21 is represented by curve C₁. The point of intersect (P) between the C₁ and the Brillion function defines the magnetic state of the material. At temperatures above T_c , the assumption that B_{in} >> B₀ is no longer valid. The magnetic moments are randomly oriented. This means that the sample has paramagnetic properties above T_c . The magnetic susceptibility of a paramagnetic material above T_c is given by the Curie-Weiss law. The Weiss theory predict the collapse of the magnetization at T_c . Figure 3.5 shows the dependence of the saturation magnetization M_s on the temperature T and the inverse magnetic susceptibility dependence on temperature T. The solid line shows the temperature dependence due to itinerant electrons, while the broken line represents that due to localized moments. Examples of ferromagnetic materials are iron, cobalt, nickel, gadolinium and their oxides.



Figure 3.3: Magnetic ordering of ferromagnetic species.



Figure 3.4: Graphical illustration of the solution of equation 3.3.19 and 3.3.20 [1].



Figure 3.5: Temperature T dependence of the saturation magnetization Ms and the inverse susceptibility above the Curie point of a ferromagnetic material. The solid line shows the temperature dependence due to itinerant electrons while the broken line represents that due to localized moments [1].

3.3.4. Superparamagnetism

Superparamagnetism is the form of magnetic ordering that occurs below the Curie temperature in nanosized ferromagnetic materials [5]. The nanoparticles have a single magnetic domain which are aligned in a ferromagnetic pattern. The magnetic momenta of the nanoparticle are roughly about 10⁵ greater than that of a single atom [5]. There is energy required to overcome the crystal field anisotropy of the material as a result of thermal fluctuations that exist within the moments at a microscopic level. This energy is expressed as

$$\Delta E = KV \, \sin^2 \theta, \qquad (3.3.22)$$

where *V* represent the volume of the nanoparticle, *K* is the uniaxial anisotropy energy density and θ is the angle between the direction of the moments and the magnetic axis. The magnetization of the nanoparticles can randomly flip direction caused by the influence of temperature. The average time between two flips is known as the Neel relaxation time (τ_N), which is expressed as

$$\tau_N = \tau_0 \exp(\frac{KV}{k_B T}), \qquad (3.3.23)$$

where τ_0 is the length of time characteristic of the material, k_B is the Boltzmann constant and *T* is the temperature. When the temperature is below a certain temperature, which is called the blocking temperature T_B , the time-scale measurement $\tau_m \gg \tau_N$. This causes the magnetic moment to appear to be frozen. The blocking temperature of a superparamagnetic material occurs at a temperature where $\tau_m = \tau_N$. The Langevin classical function L(x) that describes the magnetic behavior of superparamagnetism is expressed as

$$L(x) = \coth x - \frac{1}{x'}$$
 (3.3.24)

where

$$x = \frac{\mu B_0}{k_B T} \tag{3.3.25}$$

and μ is the magnetic moment of single domain particles. The *L*(*x*) function is the classical analog of the Brillouin function, which describes the nanoparticles and small particles [2].

3.4. Magnetic Hysteresis loop

The magnetization process that gives rise to the shape of a magnetic hysteresis loop comes from the displacement of domain walls. The magnetization is usually uniform inside a domain and non-uniform across a domain wall [7]. The hysteresis loop is a graphical representation of the magnetization of a sample against applied magnetic field *H*, of the other expression of the applied magnetic field, M. Hysteresis loops consists of the curves are found in four quadrants depending on the direction of the magnetic field and magnetic domains of a sample. The hysteresis loop is usually referred as a B-H curve or a M-H curve. The loop traces the response of the domains caused by an applied magnetic field. The magnetic properties of a sample can be deduced from the loop. The shape of the hysteresis loop is affected by impurities, defects or grain boundaries present in the sample [3]. An example of a hysteresis loop is shown in Figure 3.6



Figure 3.6: Typical hysteresis loop of a sample undergoing magnetization [8].

The curve '0a' shows the gradual increase of the initial magnetization of the sample under the magnetic field. At point a it is assumed that the sample is subjected to a saturation magnetic field. The magnetization can be described by the equation

$$M(H) = M_S(0) \left(1 - \frac{a}{H} - \frac{b}{H^2} - \cdots \right) + \chi H, \ a \tag{3.3.27}$$

where *a* and *b* are fit parameters and χ is the high-field susceptibility [9]. When the applied field is reduced to zero and increased in the reverse direction, we get the curve a, b, c, d. When the field is reduced to zero and increased in the reverse direction, we get points d, e,f and a, which completes the hysteresis loop. If the field decreases from the maximum to 0, the magnetization reduces to a finite value M_R (0b). This becomes the retentivity, remanence or remanent magnetization of the sample. This is a parameter used in applications such as random-access memory in computers. The coercivity or coercive field H_C ('0c' and '0f') is another magnetic property. Materials with a large coercivity usually possess a large maximum energy product (*BH*)*max*.

References

[1] A. Goldman, *Modern Ferrite Technology*, Second Edition. Springer, 2010.

[2] A.P. Guimaräes, *Magnetism and Magnetic Resonance in Solids*, Wiley & Sons Inc, 1998, pp. 12 - 18, 27 - 35, 47- 49.

[3] https://www.quora.com/What-is-an-expression-for-the-magnetic-dipolemoment-of-a- revolving-electron. (Accessed 03/03/2020)

[4] C.M. Hurd, "Varieties of magnetic order in solids," *Contemporary Physics*, vol. 23, pp. 469 – 493, 1982.

[5] J.J.L. Morton, Magnetic properties of materials, Trinity, 2012.

[6] C. Kittel, "Diamagnetism and Paramagnetism" *Introduction to Solid State Physics*,
 Eighth Edition, John Wiley and Sons, 1996, pp. 420 – 421, 424 - 425.

[7] N.W. Ashcroft, N.D. Mermin, *Solid State Physics*, Holt Rinehart and Winston, 1976, pp. 643 – 658, 694 - 734.

[8] J.M.D. Coey, Magnetism and Magnetic Materials, Cambridge University Press,(2010) pp. 7-8, 24-25, 50-56, 63, 195-203, 330, 329.

[9] <u>https://www.ndeed.org/EducationResources/CommunityCollege/</u>
 <u>MagParticle /</u> Physics/ HysteresisLoop.htm (Accessed 03/03/2020)

[10] H.L. van Vlack, "Magnetic properties of ceramics and metals", *Elements of Material Science and Engineering*, sixth edition, Addison-Wesley Publishers Co. Ltd., New York, 1989, pp. 450 - 459.

[11] C.N.R. Rao, K. Gopalakrishnan, A. Govindaraj, "Synthesis, properties and application of graphene doped with boron, nitrogen and other elements," *Nano Today*, vol. 9, pp. 324 - 343, 2014.

Chapter 4: Experimental

Chapter 4: Experimental

This chapter discusses the experimental techniques used in the scope of this thesis, namely, the synthesis of graphene from chemical exfoliation. The method yields graphene oxide as intermediate, which is used in the synthesis of reduced graphene oxide, doped reduced graphene oxide and reduced graphene oxide-nanoparticles composite. The chapter also lists the equipment used in the scope of the thesis, such as FTIR, XRD, TEM, DSC, TGA and VSM.

4.1. Materials

Phosphoric acid (H₃PO₄) 85%, sulfuric acid (H₂SO₄) 98%, potassium permanganate (KMnO₄) 99%, ethanol 99.9 %, hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂) 35 % and hydrochloric acid 35% (HCl) were purchased from Associated Chemical Enterprise. Iron chloride (FeCl₃) 98%, sodium borohydride (NaBH₄), hydrazine hydrate (N₂H₄.H₂O) 65% and iron sulphate heptahydrate (FeSO₄.7H₂O) 98 % were purchased from Sigma Aldrich. Cobalt acetate 98% (CoAc) was purchased from BDH Chemicals and nickel chloride (NiCl₂) 98%, urea and boric acid were purchased from Saarchem. Expandable graphite (98 %) was donated by Richards Bay minerals.

The acids and KMnO₄ were used in the oxidation of graphite into graphene oxide. The N₂H₄.H₂O and NaBH₄ were used as reducing agents to reduce graphene oxide into reduced graphene oxide and reduced graphene oxide- nanoparticle composites. Urea and boric acid were used in the synthesis of doped reduced graphene oxide.

4.2. Equipment

 Fourier Transform Infrared (FTIR) spectra were recorded on a Perkin Elmer Spectrum 100 ATR FT-IR spectrometer. The background spectrum was run as air to enable background correction of the sample run.



Figure 4.1: FTIR ATR, Analytical Lab (WC)

- Transmission electron microscopy (TEM) images were recorded on a JEOL JEM 1010 TEM with an accelerating voltage of 18 kV. Samples were sonicated in a volatile solvent such as THF and drop dried on a copper grid (sample holder).
- 3. Scanning tunneling electron microscopy (STEM) images were recorded on HRTEM JOEL JEM 2100 with an accelerating voltage of 200 kV. Samples are sonicated in a volatile solvent, such as THF and drop dried on a plastic grid (sample holder).



Figure 4.2: High Resolution TEM JOEL JEM 2100, Microscopy & Microanalysis Unit (WC).

4. Thermogravimetric analysis (TGA), together with differential scanning calorimetry (DSC), was recorded on Q600 SDT TA Instruments. The samples were placed in a ceramic pan and measurements were conducted under a nitrogen flow (20 mL.min⁻¹) from room temperature to 1000 °C, at a heating rate of 10 °C min⁻¹.



Figure 4.3: Simultaneous DSC-TGA, Q600 SDT TA Instruments.

5. Magnetization experiments were recorded on the Lakeshore Magnetometer System 735S. The samples were placed in a sample holder and stoppered with cotton wool to prevent the sample from having torque, while vibrating. The sample was then vibrated in the presence of 1.5 T electromagnet. The instrument was calibrated using a nickel sphere. The sample of interest was weighed and placed in a cylindrical sample holder. The sample holder was screwed to the bottom of a vibrating rod. The rod was lowered in the sample chamber, between two pick up coils. The measurements were performed at room temperature and the magnetization range is from -1.4 T to 1.4 T. A computer was used to data collect.



Figure 4.4: Lakeshore 735 vibrating sample magnetometer (VSM), Condensed matter Physics Lab.

6. Electrical conductivity and temperature measurements were carried out using the following instruments: Lakeshore 336 temperature controller, Keithley G221 current source, Keithley 2182A nanovolt meter and Cryomech CP819 cooler. The sample, in a pellet form, was introduced to a cryostage sitting inside a vacuum chamber. The temperature controller is set to a temperature loop with a ramp rate of 0.4 K.min⁻¹ and a settling time of 70 s. LabVIEW software was used for automation of the different instruments, simultaneous data collection and plotting of data, and t four wire conductivity was employed.



Figure 4.5: Cryochamber, Keithley G221 current source, Keithley 2182A nanovolt meter and Lakeshore 336 temperature controller, Materials Lab (HC).

7. X-ray Diffraction was carried out on a Bruker D8 Advanced. The sample was placed on a silicon wafer. The instrument was equipped with a graphite monochromator with a Vantec detector. The radiation source was a CuK X-ray beam with a wavelength, $\lambda = 1.5406$ Å. using Cu-Ka radiation (1.5405 Å, nickel filter). Data were collected in the range from $2\theta = 5^{\circ}$ to 90°, scanning rate of 1°.min⁻¹ with a filter time-constant of 2.5 s per step and a slit width of 6.0 mm.



Figure 4.6: Bruker D8 Advanced Chemistry department (WC).

4.3. Synthesis

4.3.1. Synthesis of graphene from chemical exfoliation

The method uses natural flake expanded graphite. The expanded graphite helped minimise the amount of oxidants (sulfuric acid and potassium permanganate) required. The expandable graphite was irridated with microwaves in a convesional 1000 W microwave oven, which caused the flakes to expand an intiated exfoliatation. Figure 4.7 shows the formation of expanded graphite. The expanded graphite is more fluffly and amorphous when compared to flake graphite.



Figure 4.7: Diagram showing formation using expanded graphite, (a) expandable graphite and (b) expanded graphite.

4.3.1.1. Synthesis of graphene oxide.

The oxidation of graphite to graphene oxide was carried out using two methods. The methods used were Tour's and modified Hummer's. The methods differs in that the modified Hummer's method uses an acid mixture of sulfuric and nitric acids with a ratio of 3:1. The method is also exothermic which requires that the temperature be maintained below 0 °C using an ice-acetone bath. Tour's method uses sulfuric acid and phosphoric acid with a ratio of 9:1. The method takes a longer time (3 days), but yielded more product.

4.3.1.1.1. Modified Hummer's Method.

In the synthesis of graphene a modified Hummer's method was followed [1]. Expended graphite (2 g) was transferred to a tall form beaker in an ice bath. Sulfuric acid (90 mL) and nitric acid (30 mL) were added while the temperature was kept at - 5° C by making an ice - acetone bath. KMnO₄ (5 g) was added slowly to the reaction beaker and the temperature was then raised to room temperature and stirred for 2 hrs or to when the slurry had a brown 'cake' appearance. At this point deionized water (150 mL) was added to loosen the slurry and the temperature was raised to 100 °C. The solution was stirred for a further hour and was then allowed to cool to room temperature. The reaction was stopped by the addition of crushed ice (300 mL) and H₂O₂ (3 mL). The mixture was centrifuged and the brown product collected. The product was purified by washing with water, HCl, ethanol and diethyl ether.

4.3.1.1.2. Tour's Method.

Natural flake expanded graphite (3 g) was mixed with phosphoric acid (30 mL) in a 30 mL pill vial. The pill vial was sealed and placed in an ultrasonic bath and sonicated for 1 hr. The graphite was partially dispersed in the acid and then transferred to a 500 mL three neck round bottom flask. The flask was cooled to 0 °C and sulfuric acid (270 mL) was added dropwise and the heat evolved from the reaction forced the graphite sheets to exfoliate and separate into layers [2]. The solution was stirred and followed by the slow addition of potassium permanganate (13.5 g). The solution was stirred again for 12 hrs. The solution was then cooled to room temperature, followed by the addition of ice (400 mL) and H_2O_2 (3 mL). The mixture was sifted through a metal sieve with the filtrate collected. The filtrate was then centrifuged to collect the solid product, was washed with water, HCl ethanol and diethyl ether.

4.3.1.2. Reduction of Graphene oxide (rGO).

Graphene oxide (0.5 g) was mixed with deionized water (100 mL) in a 250 mL round bottom flask and sonicated until there was no visible particulate matter. The flask was transferred to a hotplate and hydrazine hydrate was added to the solution (3 mL) and the reflux set up was established [3]. The solution was refluxed for 24 hrs at 100 °C, which yielded a black product consistent with the formation of graphene. The solution was filtered and the product was washed with copious amounts of water and methanol.

4.3.2. Synthesis of Doped Reduced Graphene Oxide.

The synthesis of the doped reduced graphene oxide used the thermal reduction of graphene oxide. The method uses a tube furnace and the boron and nitrogen are introduced experimentally from chemical vapor deposition (CVD) on graphene oxide. A stainless-steel tube was placed in a tubular section of the horizontal tube furnace. Figure 4.8 shows the sample holder was a tantalum boat, which was placed on the stainless-steel tray, which is used to introduce the graphene oxide paste in to the furnace.



Figure 4.8: Apparatus for doping reduced graphene oxide, (a) stainless steel tray, (b) tantalum tray.

There is also a purpose built tubular stainless steel tube which was installed in the tube furnace. It had a small pipe, which was used to introduce inter gases into the stainless-steel tube, providing an inert atmosphere for the doping of reduced graphene oxide.

4.3.2.1. Boron doped Reduce Graphene Oxide (B-rGO).

Boron doped graphene was synthesized from the decomposition of a graphene solution, which was modified from literature [6]. Graphene oxide powder (0.4 g) and HBO₃ (0.3 g) were sonicated in 20 ml deionized water for 30 minutes. The solution was then transferred to a metal boat and heated in a tubular furnace in an inert nitrogen atmosphere. The solution mixture was heated from room temperature to 1000 °C at a heating rate of 5 °C min⁻¹ and pyrolyzed for 1 hr. The furnace was then cooled down to room temperature, still under inert conditions. The product obtained was washed

with near boiling water (4 ×100 mL) to remove unwanted ions, followed by an ethanol wash. The colloidal powder was then dried in an oven.

4.3.2.2. Nitrogen doped reduced graphene oxide (N-rGO).

The synthesis was carried out from a modified literature method [7]. The modification was the addition of ethanolamine as nitrogen source. Graphene oxide (0.5 g) was mixed with deionized water (5 mL) in a 25 mL pill vial and sonicated until there was no visible particulate matter. Ethanolamine (0.5 mL) and urea (0.1 g) were added and sonicated for a further 10 minutes. The solution was then transferred to a tantalum boat and placed inside a furnace, which was heated 800 °C under an inert argon atmosphere. After cooling the furnace down to room temperature, the product was collected and washed with copious amounts of water and methanol.

4.3.3. Synthesis of metal nanoparticles on graphene.

4.3.3.1. Synthesis of graphene decorated with cobalt nanoparticles (Co-rGO).

Graphene oxide that was synthesized by Tour's method (Section 4.3.1.1.2), was used in this experiment. Graphene oxide (1.01 g) was mixed with 25 ml deionised water and sonicated until the graphene was well dispersed and formed a dark brown solution [8]. The solution was transferred into 250 mL volumetric flask. Cobalt acetate (2 g) and Potassium hydroxide (0.05 g) were weighed into the solution and refluxed for 2 hrs. Then, a sodium borohydride 0.6M (10 mL) solution was added dropwise to the solution, followed by the addition of trisodium citrate (3.5 g) and refluxed for
2 hrs at 90 °C. The solution was cooled and filtered. The filtrate was washed with hot water to remove unreacted cobalt ions followed by an ethanol wash and then was dried in a vacuum oven.

4.3.3.2 Synthesis of graphene decorated with nickel nanoparticles (Ni-rGO).

The synthesis was carried according to the literature method [9,10]. The modification was that NiCl₂ was used as magnetic source, sodium borohydride as reducing agent and sodium polyacrylate was used as stabilizing agent. Graphene oxide (0.4 g) was mixed with 25 ml dionised water and ultrasonicated until the graphene was well dispersed and formed a dark brown solution. The solution was transferred into a 250 mL volumetric flask. NiCl₂ (0.3 g) was weighed into the solution and refluxed for 1 hour. After the hour had passed, solutions of 0.1M sodium polyacrylate (5 ml) and 0.2 M sodium borohydride (2 mL) were added dropwise and refluxed for 2hr at 90 °C in an argon atmosphere. The solution was then centrifuged, and the supernatant was decanted away. The remaining solid was washed with copious amounts of hot water and ethanol. The solid was dried under vacuum at 40 °C.

4.3.3.3. Preparation of graphene decorated with cobalt ferrite nanoparticles (FeCorGO).

The synthesis was utilized a modified literature method [11]. The modification was the addition of graphene oxide and sodium citrate as stabilizing agent. Graphene oxide (0.6 g) was dissolved in deionized water (40 ml) in a 250 mL round bottom flask by ultrasonication. The graphene oxide solution was then refluxed at 150 °C with FeCl₃ (0.6 g), CoAc₂ (0.8 g), Na₃Cit and NaOH (0.2 g) in an argon atmosphere. The solution was refluxed for an hour to ensure the thorough solvation of the metal salts. A solution of NaBH₄ (0.04 M,10 mL) was then added dropwise and refluxed for 30 min to which

the colour changed from brown to black, confirming the indication the reduction of the graphene oxide and metal salts. The solution was cooled to room temperature, centrifuged (4000 rpm) and the supernatant was decanted away. The remaining solid was washed with copious amounts of hot water, 1:1 HCl, ethanol and diethyl ether. The solid then was dried under vacuum at 40 °C.

4.3.4. Synthesis of metal nanoparticles.

4.3.4.1. Synthesis of cobalt nanoparticles (Co-NP).

Deionized water (50 mL) was added to a three neck, 250 mL round bottom flask. A reflux apparatus was set up with nitrogen air bubbled in the round bottom flask to remove excess air and to ensure that the reaction was done under inert conditions. Cobalt acetate (2 g) and potassium hydroxide (0.05 g) were weighed into the solution and refluxed for 2 hours. Then, a sodium borohydride 0.6M (10 mL) solution was added dropwise to the solution, followed by the addition of trisodium citrate (3.5 g) and refluxed for 2hr at 90 °C. The solution was cooled and filtered. The filtrate was washed with hot water to remove unreacted cobalt ions, followed by an ethanol wash and then dried in a 60°C vacuum oven.

4.3.4.2. Synthesis of cobalt nanoparticles (Ni-NP).

Deionized water (50 mL) was added to a three neck 250 mL round bottom flask. A reflux apparatus was set up with nitrogen air bubbled in the round bottom flask to remove excess air and to ensure that the reaction is done under inert conditions. NiCl₂ (0.3 g) was weighed into the solution and refluxed for 1 hour. After the hour had passed, solutions of 0.1M sodium polyacrylate (5 ml) and 0.2 M sodium borohydride (2 mL) were added dropwise, and refluxed for 2hrs at 90 °C in an nitrogen atmosphere.

The solution was centrifuged and the supernatant was decanted away. The remaining solid was washed with copious amounts of hot water and ethanol. The solid was the dried in a vacuum at 40 °C.

4.3.5.3. Synthesis of cobalt ferrite nanoparticles (FeCoO-NP).

Deionized water (50 mL) was added to a three neck 250 mL round bottom flask. A reflux apparatus was set up with nitrogen air bubbled in the round bottom flask to remove excess air and to ensure that the reaction is done under inert conditions. FeCl₃ (1.8 g), CoAc₂ (1.8 g), Na₃Cit and NaOH (0.2 g) was refluxed for 3 hr at 200 °C. The solution was allowed to cool and copious of amounts absolute ethanol was added to the solution to precipitate out the FeCoO-NP. The solution and the precipitate was placed on top magnets and allowed to settle for 48 hrs. After the settling time, the solution was centrifuged and the supernatant was decanted away. The remaining solid was washed with copious amounts of hot water and ethanol. The solid was then dried in a vacuum at 40 °C.

References

[1] Y-R. Shin, S-M. Jung, I-Y. Jeon, J-B. Baek, "The oxidation mechanism of highly ordered Pyrolytic graphite in a nitric acid/sulfuric acid mixture," *Carbon*. Vol. 52, pp. 493 – 498, 2013.

[2] D.C. Marcano, D.V. Kosynkin, j.M. Berlin, A.S. Stinitsii, Z. Sun, A. Slesarev, L.B. Alemany, W. Lu, J.M. Tour, "Improve synthesis of graphene oxide", ACS Nano, vol. 8, pp. 4806 – 4814, 2010.

[3] S. Stankovich, D.A. Dikin, R.D. Piner, K.A. Piner, K.A. Kohlhaas, A. Kleinhammes,
Y. Jia, Y. Wu, S.T. Ngyen, R.S. Ruoff, "Synthesis of graphene-based nanosheets via chemical Reduction of exfoliated graphite oxide," *Carbon*, vol. 45, pp. 1558 – 1565, 2007.

[4] M. Quintana, M. Grzelczak, K. Spyrou, B. Kooi, S. Bals, G. van Tendeloo, P. Rudolf, M. Prato, "Production of large graphene sheets by exfoliation of graphite under high power Ultrasound in the presence of tiopronin," *Chemical Communications*, vol. 18, pp. 12159 – 12161, 2012.

[5] J.C. Slonczewski, P.R. Weiss, "Band structure of graphite," *Physical Review*, vol. 109, pp. 272 – 279, 1958.

[6] H.N. Yang, D.C. Lee, K.W. Park, W.J. Kim, "Platinum-boron doped graphene intercalated by carbon black for cathode catalyst in proton exchange membrane fuel cell," *Energy*, vol. 89, pp. 500 – 510, 2015.

[7] Z. Lei, L. Lu, X.S. Zhao, "The electrocapacitive properties of graphene oxide reduced by urea," *Energy and Environmental Science*, vol. 5, pp. 6391 – 6399, 2012.

[8] S.A. Salman, T. Usami, K. Kuroda, M. Okido, "Synthesis and characterisation of cobalt nanoparticles using hydrazine and citric acid," *Journal of enechnology*, vol. 2014, pp. 1 – 6, 2014. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1155/2014/525193</u>

[9] H.N. Yang, D.C. Lee, K.W. Park, W.J. Kim, "Platinum-boron doped graphene

intercalated by carbon black for cathode catalyst in proton exchange membrane fuel cell," *Energy*, vol. 89, pp. 500 – 510, 2015.

[10] V. Pareders-Garcia, C. Cruz, N. Toledo, J. Dernadin, D. Venegas-Yazigi, C. Castillo, E. Spodine, Z. Luo, "Effect of the different synthetic parameters on the morphology and magnetic properties of nickel nanoparticles," *New Journal of Chemistry*, vol. 38, pp. 837 – 844, 2014.

[11] K. Maaz, A. Mumtaz, S.K. Hasanain, A. Ceylan, "Synthesis and magnetic properties of Cobalt ferrite (CoFe₂O₄) nanoparticles prepared by wet chemical route," *Journal of Magnetism and Magnetic Materials*, vol. 308, pp. 289 – 295, 2007

Chapter 5: Results and Discussion.

Chapter 5: Results and Discussion.

This chapter discusses the results of the synthesis and characterization of the reduced graphene oxide, doped reduced graphene oxide and reduced graphene oxidenanoparticles composites. There were several deviations from literature in the manner in which the synthesis was carried out, such as using expanded graphite (expandable graphite was expanded using a microwave) in preparation of graphene oxide, and skipping the freeze drying step in the formation of the doped reduced graphene oxide.

5.1 Synthesis and characterization

5.1.1. Synthesis of graphene from chemical exfoliation

(a) Synthesis of graphene oxide

One of the graphene synthesis methods was the Tour method. The synthesis was modified by using expandable graphite, in order to reduce the amount of acids used. The expanded graphite was also sonicated in sulfuric acid. The traditional ratio of the acids H₂SO₄ : H₃PO₄ is (360 mL : 40 mL), but in this synthesis we found the following reductions to be more than enough (270 mL : 30 mL), a reduction of 25 %. When the reaction was over and a brown product was obtained, it was characterized with FTIR, which confirmed that the reduction of amounts of acid had no effect on the reaction. FTIR was used in conjunction with XRD for the confirmation of the formation of graphene oxide.

The graphene oxide obtain from the modified Hummer's method was also characterized. There were two methods used in the formation of graphene oxide as evident in Figures 5.1 to 5.3. There was no observable difference between the graphene oxide samples, other than the graphene oxide obtained from Hummers method having a more intense brown colour, while the Tour method had a lighter colour. Figure 5.2 shows that the graphene oxide obtained from the Tour's method was wrinkled compared to the graphene oxide from the modified Hummer's method. The samples were then characterized with a spectroscopy technique. The data obtained from FTIR showed the typical characteristic peaks for hydroxyl and carboxylic groups. The oxidation of aromatic results in carbonyl groups (C=O) which is characterized by the carbonyl vibration as seen in Figure 5.1. The most prominent peaks on the spectra are the hydroxyl peaks, which are around the 3100 cm⁻¹ to 3350cm⁻¹ region.



Figure 5.1: Graph showing the FTIR of graphene oxide from Tour's and Hummer's method.



Figure 5.2: TEM data of graphene oxide from Tour's (a) and Hummer's method (b).

This confirms the oxidition of graphite into graphene oxide, with the appearance of the oxidated fuctional groups such as C=O (1635 cm⁻¹), O-H (3221 cm⁻¹) and C-O (1210 cm⁻¹) [1]. In Figure 5.2 the TEM data shows that the graphene oxide from Tour method had wrinkles ,which resulted from microwave expansion of expandable graphite into expanded graphite. Graphene oxide was also analysed using XRD, as shown in Figure 5.3. The graphs shows that the had the characteristic peak of graphene oxide at 10°, which is agreement with literature [2]. The Tour's method graphene oxide had more broader peak at 10° when compared to the one obtained from modified Hummer's method. The data is in agreement with the TEM , where the GO from Tour's method was wrinkled and monolayered, as shown by the broad peak at 10°. The GO from the modified Hummer's method had a prominent sharp peak 10° indicating the structure to be more crystalline.



Figure 5.3: Graph showing the diffractogram of GO from (a) Tour's method and from (b) modified Hummer's method.

(b) Synthesis of reduced graphene oxide (rGO).

The synthesis of graphene from graphene was carried out of from the reduction of graphene oxide obtained from the Tour's method. The reduced graphene oxide was observed as the black formation of graphene particulates in the solution. The reduced graphene oxide was characterized using infra-red spectroscopy. The most observable difference in the FTIR spectrum is that there is a reduction in the characteristic peaks in the region of 3221 cm⁻¹ for the O-H stretching vibration and at 1750 cm⁻¹. These peaks correspond to the stretching modes of O-H 3200 cm⁻¹ groups from phenol and carboxylic acid while carbonyl stretching mode at 1651 cm⁻¹ which indicate the reduction of graphene oxide [3], as shown in Figure 5.4.



Figure 5.4: Infra-red spectrum of reduced graphene oxide.

The other method used to complement the FTIR results was Elemental Analysis, which used to was compare to graphene oxide to reduced graphene oxide. The results

of the Elemental Analysis results are summarized in Table 5.1. The carbon content in the GO sample was 56%, which was increased to 84 % in rGO, which was due to the loss in oxygen content.

Sample	Carbon/%	Oxygen / %	Nitrogen/ %	Hydrogen / %
GO	56.24	32.64	-	11.12
rGO	83.62	12.18	2.06	2.14

Table 5.1: Results of Elemental analysis results for GO and rGO

The other imaging techniques that were used, were TEM and SEM. The results are shown in Figure 5.5. The TEM shows the wrinkles in the structure of the reduced graphene oxide, which was expected. Th SEM showed the 3D image of the reduced graphene oxide also showed that the rGO had crises and folds. The reduction method used extensive ultrasonic treatment which would have upset the morphology of the reduced graphene oxide [4].

Raman spectroscopy results are shown in Figure 5.6. The reduced graphene oxide has been reported to have a prominent D-band at 1380 cm⁻¹ [5]. The D band is used to evaluate the defects in the graphene lattice, which usually results from sp³ hybridization found in the graphene lattice [4 - 6]. The G-band is a measure of the amount of sp² carbons in the lattice. Pristine graphene will have a prominent G-band [5]. The intensity ratio (I_D/I_G) is used to determine where there are defects in the lattice. When the ratio is less than one, it is an indication that there are no defects in the graphene lattice [5]. The data obtained showed that the I_D/I_G ration is greater than one, which was observed in the TEM image from the wrinkles of the graphene lattice in the rGO sample. The 2D band is used to measure the thickness of the graphene layers. The multilayered graphene will have strong $\pi - \pi^*$ interaction, between layers which results in a broad shaped 2D band in the spectrum [2 - 6].



Figure 5.5: Photomicrograph of reduced Graphene oxide (Tour's method) (a) TEM image and (b) SEM.



Figure 5.6: Raman spectrum of reduced graphene oxide (from the reduction of graphene oxide from Tour's method).

Thermal Analysis characterization methods used were TGA and DSC, as shown in Figure 5.7. The TGA results show that the degradation of rGO has a multistep degradation pattern. The first degradation from 0°C to 200 °C is associated with the loss of water from the samples. The degradation at 360 °C to 680 °C is associated with the labile oxygenated carbon compounds and the graphene matrix [12 -16]. The DSC curve shows heat absorbed for the moister loss and in the degradation occurring in the region of 360 °C to 680 °C.

The diffractogram in Figure 5.8 shows that the characteristic peak of graphene is at 26° [4]. The other visible peak was at 10°, which corresponds to the graphene oxide peaks as seen in Figure 5.3. The peak is severely diminished when compared to the graphene peak, which further confirms that the graphene oxide had been reduced to reduced graphene oxide.



Figure 5.7: Thermal analysis spectra of reduced graphene oxide showing (a) TGA and (b) DSC data.



Figure 5.8: XRD spectrum of reduced graphene oxide.

5.1.2. Synthesis of boron doped graphene and nitrogen doped graphene.

The boron doping followed a modified method, which omitted the freeze-drying step [5,6]. The doping was successful, using a thick slurry of graphene oxide and boric acid. The same method was adopted for the synthesis of nitrogen doped graphene replacing boric acid with hydrazine hydrate. The infra-red spectra confirmed the formation of the target samples. The spectrum showed characteristic peaks for nitrogen and boron doped graphene. The nitrogen doped graphene had the peaks C=N and C=C occurring at 2345 and 2115 cm⁻¹, respectively [7-9] as shown in Figure 5.9. The absence of the carbonyl peak at ~1700 cm⁻¹ confirmed the conversion of graphene oxide to nitrogen doped graphene. For the boron doped sample, the IR spectrum shows the characteristic peaks at 1120 cm⁻¹ B-C and at 3192 cm⁻¹ for B-OH [7-9] as can be seen in Figure 5.9. The evidence is further observed in Figure 5.10 which is TEM data with STEM. The figure shows the sample of the TEM, STEM and EDX

data of the samples. The STEM data Figure 5.10 a, b and c, show the mapping of the sample for carbon and nitrogen on the sample. TEM images of N-rGO is shown in (a) which has some wrinkles in the graphene matric and in (b) which was subsequently used in the STEM mapping. The STEM mapping is shown for carbon in yellow can be seen on the image labelled (c) and red for the nitrogen atoms labelled (d). The EDX of the N-rGO is shown in Figure 5.11. The EDX was used to estimate the amount of nitrogen in the sample which was found to be about 6 %. The EDX and STEM was used for qualitative purposes, it confirmed the doping took place and were successful in creating N-rGO sample. The same was done for B-rGO, TEM image of B-rGO is shown in Figure 5.12 (a) which has some wrinkles in the graphene matric and in (b) which was subsequently used in the STEM mapping. The STEM mapping is shown for carbon in yellow can be seen on the image labelled (c) and red for the boron atoms labelled (d). The EDX of the B-rGO is shown in Figure 5.13. The EDX was used to estimate the amount of boron in the sample which was found to be about 6 %. The EDX and STEM was used for qualitative purposes, it confirmed the doping took place and were successful in creating B-rGO sample. The EDX data is summarized in Table 5.2.



Figure 5.9: Infra-red spectrum of samples B-rGO and N-rGO.





Figure 5.10: TEM image of (a) N-rGO, (b) STEM image of N-rGO, (c) STEM carbon mapping for N-rGO, (d) STEM nitrogen mapping.



Figure 5.11: EDX of N-rGO, showing existance of carbon, nitrogen and oxygen in the sample.





Figure 5.12: TEM image of (a) B-rGO, (b) STEM image of B-rGO, (c) STEM carbon mapping for B-rGO, (d) STEM boron mapping for B-rGO.



Figure 5.13: EDX of B-rGO showing existance of carbon, boron and oxygen in the sample.

Table 5.2: Summarized	data from E	EDX of boron a	and nitrogen	doped gr	aphene

Sample	Carbon/%	Oxygen / %	Nitrogen/ %	Boron/ %
N-rGO	89.3	5.3	6.4	-
B-rGO	84.2	10.2	-	6.6

EDX is not an accurate method to determine the amounts of nitrogen in the doped reduced graphene oxide. Therefore, the samples were also analyzed using elemental analysis. Nitrogen doped reduced graphene oxide was found to be 8 % nitrogen. The data from elemental analysis is summarized in Table 5.3. The results from the elemental are more than EDX for the determination of elemental of rGO samples. The more reliable method is XPS in the determination of amount of nitrogen and boron in the doped samples.

Sample	Carbon/%	Nitrogen/%	Hydrogen/%	Oxygen/%
B-rGO	78.12	0.37	1.77	10.74
N-rGO	77.81	8.12	1.92	12.08

Table 5.3: Table of elemental analysis for B-rGO and N-rGO.





Figure 5.14: SEM images of (a) N-rGO and (b) B-rGO.

A more accurate method for doping determination would have been XPS, which was not available at the time of sample analysis. Thus the amount of boron in the sample B-rGO can be only be speculated to be 9 % from the elemental analysis data. Other methods were however used as an indication that doping took place. The elemental analysis data is more reliable than the EDX, which is more of a qualitative analysis. The other short coming of the EDX is that is the analysis is done on the line or region where the X-ray beam is bombarding the sample. This means the analysis data is only region specific which means that the scientific merit to qualify the analysis as a quantitative tools.

Thermal characteristics were measured by TGA and DSC, which are shown in Figure 5.15. Both samples showed the loss of water at 110 °C, which corresponded to a mass loss of 5 %. The nitrogen doped reduced graphene oxide (a) showed a single smooth degradation, indicating that the sample is crystalline like. The sharp peak of the N-rGO on the DSC shows that there is a large endothermic reaction at 550 °C, which corresponds to the decomposition of nitrogen and carbon bonds. For the boron doped reduced graphene oxide sample the endothermic reaction occurs at 600 °C, showing that the nitrogen doped sample is slightly more thermally stable than the boron doped sample. The samples are more stable the reduced graphene oxide, shown in Figure 5.15, which decomposes around 450 °C [8]. The DSC data also confirms that N-rGO is more thermally stable than B-rGO which is shown by the spectra that more energy was needed to decompose the N-rGO sample.



Figure 5.15: Thermograms of doped reduced graphene oxide TG (a) and DSC (b).



Figure 5.16: Raman spectra of doped reduced graphene.

Raman spectroscopy was also employed to analyze the doped sample and shown in Figure 5.16. Nitrogen doped reduced graphene oxide has D-bands and G-bands, which are close in intensity. The ratios of ID/IG in both the spectra were greater than 1, indicating defects and disorder in the graphene structure, which is common in graphene material obtained by the chemical reduction method [5]. The shape of the 2D peak is broad and wide, which is indication that the B-rGO and N-rGO are multilayered. TEM and SEM the nitrogen doped reduced graphene had less wrinkles and folds when compared to the boron doped reduced graphene oxide. The data from Raman spectroscopy is summarized in Table 5.3. The data shows that the samples are multilayered and have a larger degree of folding in the graphene matrix.

Sample	D band/cm ⁻¹	G band/cm ⁻¹	2D/cm ⁻¹	I_D/I_G
B-rGO	1382	1580	2780	1.22
N-rGO	1360	1600	2680	1.12

5.4: Table of Raman spectroscopy data, D-bands, B-bands and I_D/I_G ratio.

The XRD spectra of rGO, B-rGO and N-rGO are shown in Figure 5.17. The spectra had a prominent sharp peak at ~26° which is the indication of the formation of reduced graphene oxide. For both B-rGO and N-rGO the spectra shows sharps peaks indicating the sample are more crystalline than amorphous.



Figure 5.17: XRD spectra for rGO, N-rGO and B-rGO.

5.1.3. Synthesis of Reduced Graphene Oxide nanoparticle composite

The synthesis of composites was adapted from the synthesis of cobalt nanoparticles [11], that is a co-precipitation method, where the graphene oxide is mixed in with the metal salt and reduced together yielding graphene composites. The samples that were synthesized were: cobalt, nickel, and cobalt ferrite nanoparticles graphene composites. The infra-red spectra (Figure 5.18), shows that Ni-rGO and Co-rGO had O-H stretch at ~ 3250 cm⁻¹ and C=O at ~ 1650 cm⁻¹ from stabilizing agent. The stabilizing agents in composing citric acid and poly acrylic acid as stabilizing agent for nanoparticles. The stabilizing agents have OH and C=O functional groups which are seen in the FTIR spectra of the nanocomposites.



Figure 5.18: Infra-red spectra of rGO, Co-rGO, Ni-rGO and FeCo-rGO.

The samples that had magnetic nanoparticles were taken further in the characterization process. The TEM data in Figure 5.19, shows that the reaction was successful, as metal nanoparticles are observed on the surface of the graphene sheet.

The selected area electron diffraction (SAED) is shown in Figure 5.20 (a) to (c). SAED was done for the Co-rGO, Ni-rGO and FeCo-rGO samples. The spectra have spots which show that the samples were mono crystalline samples [8]. The nanoparticles are colloidal in shape which is due to the manner in which they were produced.



Figure 5.19: TEM images of (a) Co-rGO, (b) Ni-rGO and (c) FeCo-rGO.



Figure 5.20: (a) SAED pattern of Ni-rGO, (b) SAED pattern of Co-rGO and (c) SAED pattern of FeCo-rGO.

XRD diffractograms of the composites are shown in Figure 5.21. The composite specimens were compared to the rGO spectrum, which had prominent peak at 26° and 49° [9]. All the composite specimens had peaks at 26° from reduced graphene oxide. Ni-rGO had the diffraction peaks at 26°, 45°, 55° and 80°. The peaks at 26° corresponds to the graphene, while peaks at 45°, 55° and 80° correspond to nickel nanoparticles [9,10]. The FeCo-rGO specimen had peak at 26°, 50° and 72°. The peaks at 50° and 72° were due to the ferrite [11]. Co-rGO had a peak at 26° which is due graphene, 47° due to cobalt nanoparticles which is reported [12] and 76° which is unreported.



Figure 5.21: XRD spectra of rGO, Co-rGO, Ni-rGO and FeCo-rGO.

The thermal characteristics of the specimens were analyzed using TGA and DSC. The thermograms, shown in Figure 5.22, show the degradation patterns from room temperature to 1000 °C. TGA thermograms (Figure 5.22a) shows samples had

'multistep' degradation patterns. The rGO, Co-rGO and Ni-rGO specimens had three predominant mass loss degradations. The rGO specimen had the following mass loss pattern: from room temperature to 150 °C there was a mass loss of 10 % due to water loss (absorbed moisture) and gasses, from 200 °C to 400 °C there was mass loss of 15 %, which was due to the destruction of loosely bound oxygen containing compounds. In the region, 400 °C to 670 °C, there was a mass loss of 45 %, which was due to the destruction of graphene nanosheets [13, 14]. Co-rGO specimen had the following degradation patterns: from room temperature to 100 °C there was a mass loss of 20 %, which due moisture loss. In the region, 150°C to 300°C, there was a mass loss of 10 %, which was the degradation of loosely bound oxygen containing compounds. The 10% mass loss was due to the degradation of graphene nanosheets, between 300 °C to 800 °C.

Ni-rGO had the following mass loss degradation pattern: the first was from room temperature to 100 °C, with a mass loss of 25 % due to water loss. The second degradation was a mass loss of 25%, from 200 °C to 320 °C which was due to the destruction of loosely bound oxygen containing compounds and a mass loss of 25 % from 330 °C to 750 °C was due to the degradation of graphene nanosheets. FeCo-rGO had a 3 step degradation pattern from room temperature to 100°C there was a mass loss of 12 %, which was moisture loss. In the region, 120 °C to 450°C, there was a mass loss of 20 % due to the degradation of loosely bound oxygen containing compounds. In the region, 450 °C to 750°C, there was a mass loss of 25 % due to the destruction graphene nanosheets [13 - 15].

In Figure 5.21b the DSC data shows the endothermic and exothermic processes of the specimens. The Ni-rGO specimen had a pronounced degradation peak at 450 °C which was due to degradation of graphene nanosheets [16]. The rGO specimen also showed a slight bump at 580 °C, which also correspond to the destruction of graphene nanosheets. Co-rGO and CoFe-rGO specimens had slightly observable peaks. The DSC had a broad peak for the endothermic reaction, and it had correlated with the

derivative mass loss showing 5 steps where the decomposition occurred. This showed that the composites were not thermally stable.





Figure 5.22: Thermal analysis spectra of graphene composites (a) TGA and (b) DSC.

Raman spectroscopy was also employed to analyze the composite sample. It shows the role of the different bands play in the analysis of the morphology of the doped reduced graphene oxide. The Co-rGO and FeCo-rGO have D-bands and G-bands, which are close in intensity. The nanoparticles prevent $\pi - \pi$ * interactions between the graphene layers. The spectra are plotted in Figure 5.22 and summarized in Table 5.5. The D/G was greater than 1 indicating that the samples had defects in graphene matric. The 2D peak is prominent and broad indicating a multilayered graphene samples.



Figure 5.23: Raman spectra of metal nanoparticles reduced graphene oxide composite.

sample	D band/cm ⁻¹	G band/cm ⁻¹	2D/cm ⁻¹	I _D /I _G
Co-rGO	1376	1580	2720	1.22
Ni-rGO	1360	1600	2660	1.32
FeCo-rGO	1368	1590	2640	1.13

Table 5.5: Table of Raman spectroscopy data, D-bands, B-bands and I_D/I_G ratio

5.2. Characterisation of nanoparticles.

The prepared nanoparticles were synthesized for comparison with the graphene nanoparticles composites. The nanoparticles were characterized using TEM and the images are shown in Figure 5.24. The TEM images shows that the nanoparticles are small and colloidal in shape. The Co-NP and Ni-NP are agglomerated. The particle size distributions of the nanoparticles were estimated using image J Software and are shown in Figure 5.25. The particle sizes are widely distributed in all the prepared nanoparticles. The particle size distribution was determined to be between 1.32 nm to 3.25 nm and the average particle size was 1.89 with a standard deviation of 0.531. NirGO had a particle size distribution between 2.23 nm to 18.5 nm and the average particle size was 12.23 nm with a standard deviation of 5.45. CoFeO-NP had the biggest particles and the shapes varied from spheres to rods. The particle size distribution was between 10.4 nm to 42.6 nm and the average particle size was 12.23 nm, with the standard deviation of 10.23. The shapes of the Ni-NP and Co-NP were uniform. The XRD results of the nanoparticles are shown in Figure 5.25 and Figure 5.26. The XRD was used to estimate the particle size of the nanoparticles using the Scherer equation [23]. The average particle sizes were calculated to be 49.6 nm for CoFeO-NP and the lattice constant was calculated, using $a = d\sqrt{(h^2 + k^2 + l^2)}$ [22], as a = 8.39 Å which is in agreement with reported values for cobalt ferrite compounds [23]. The average particle size for Co-NP determined from XRD diffraction pattern was calculated to be 5.28 nm, which was an overestimation of the average. It was significantly different from the 2.5 nm which was determine using TEM image and image J software. The image J software also used to determine the average particle size which were determined to be 2.7 nm for Co-NP, 9 nm for Ni-NP and 26.5 nm for FeCoO-NP.



Figure 5.24: TEM images of prepared nanoparticles (a) Co-NP, (b) Ni-NP and (c) CoFeO-NP.



Figure 5.25: Particle size distribution of nanoparticles (a) Co-NP and (b) Ni-NP.



Figure 5.26: Particle size distribution of nanoparticles (CoFeO-NP).



Figure 5.27: XRD diffractogram of Co-NP.


Figure 5.28: XRD diffractogram of (a) Ni-NP and (b) CoFeO-NP

5.3. Magnetisation results.

The magnetization data were recorded on a Vibrating Sample Magnetometer (VSM) and summarized in Table 5.5. The hysteresis loops were recorded at room temperature. The results from the hysteresis loop graphs show that the saturation magnetization ($M_{\rm S}$), coercivity ($H_{\rm C}$) and remanence magnetization. The graphs, for x and y, are plotted in Figure 5.27. The graphene exhibits a magnetization curve similar to that in literature [16]. It has been theorized that the zigzag pattern on the armchair model of the graphene introduces localized metallicity on the graphene, indicating that graphene has magnetic properties [17, 18]. The data obtain from the VSM results show that the reduced graphene oxide had magnetization of 1. 39 emu g⁻¹. The boron doping showed a slight increase in the magnetization compared to the ordinary reduced graphene oxide. The boron has the same atomic radius as carbon atoms, and it can be easily assimilated in the graphene matrix. The effect of the doping is that the boron forms five membered ring which in turn introduces dangling bonds graphene [19]. The dangling bonds introduces high spin population of electrons which increases the magnetic moments of the material. The doped reduced graphene oxide was found to be superparamagnetic (Figure 5.27) and the results were summarized in Table 5.5. Graphene by itself has been reported, from theoretical calculations, to have long range ferromagnetic ordering resulting from point defects [20]. Doping graphene has been shown to introduce paramagnetic properties, due to the dopants neutralizing the point defects that induce ferromagnetism in graphene [21]. In this study, we observed that doping with boron introduced weak superparamagnetic properties to graphene.

Nitrogen doped graphene has been reported to have magnetic properties. It has been reported that in nitrogen doped graphene the magnetization of graphene was affected by the temperature at which the samples were synthesized [17]. The nitrogen doped reduced graphene displayed superparamagnetic response. However, they had higher values of magnetization compared to reduced graphene oxide.



Figure 5.29: Magnetic hysteresis loops of rGO, B-rGO and N-rGO.

The other prepared samples were decorated with magnetic nanoparticles. The data was recorded in Table 5.5. The composite Co-rGO, Ni-rGO and FeCo-rGO are mixture of graphene and superparamagnetic nanoparticles, as explained in Chapter 4 and

shown by Figure 5.30. The nanoparticles are superparamagnetic [22 - 24] as shown in Figure 5.31. The cobalt nanoparticle shown in Figure 5.28 shows typical behavior of superparamagnetic species as the particles are easily attracted to the weak magnet. The prepared composites as shown in Table 5.4, contained nanoparticles which are superparamagnetic. This impacted on the overall magnetic properties.



Figure 5.30: Typical magnetic hysteresis loops of samples (a) graphene-nanoparticle hybrids.

The samples Co-rGO, FeCo-rGO and Ni-rGO were still superparamagnetic as confirmed from the VSM data shown in Figure 5.31, and summarized in Table 5.6. The samples had small coercivity, which was confirmed that the samples were soft

magnets. The data shows the trend that the cobalt ferrite nanoparticles had the highest magnetization when compared to other nanoparticles, and the FeCo-rGO had the highest saturation magnetization when compared to other composites. The data showed that when magnetic nanoparticles are anchored to graphene, the nanocomposite has magnetic profile of the nanoparticles and the magnetization is reduced. The nanoparticles were all superparamagnetic as seen from the VSM data. The cobalt ferrite nanoparticles had a slightly larger coercivity, which was expected, since it is reported in literature that ferrite nanoparticles are hard magnetic materials [23]. The composites were found to have to be a mono-crystalline as determined by the SAED spectrum. This structure coupled with the mono dispersity of the nano particles on the graphene. This means that the samples can be used in the removal of Cr(VI) in water. The nanoparticles have active sites to adsorb the Cr(VI) ions and with the composites being magnetic. This allows the samples to removed the Cr (VI) and maybe regenerated. This work is detailed in Chapter 6 as an application of the nanocomposites.



Figure 5.31: Photograph showing easily magnetized Co-rGO.



Figure 5.32: Typical magnetic hysteresis loops of samples (a) cobalt ferrite and nickel nanoparticles, (b) cobalt nanoparticles.

Sample	Magnetisation/	Coercivity/T	Remanence
	(emu.g ⁻¹)		magnetization/(emu.g ⁻¹)
rGO	1.34	0.29	1.36
B-rGO	3.32	0.21	3.34
N-rGO	1.61	0.13	1.59
FeCo-rGO	12.54	0.24	12.52
Ni-rGO	3.64	0.26	3.54
Co-rGO	6.82	0.27	6.95
Ni-NP	54.93	0.016	55.25
Co-NP	20.51	0.067	20.45
CoFeO-NP	47.23	0.19	47.08

Table 5.6: Table of magnetization data for the all the prepared samples.

5.4. Conductivity

The conductivity of samples was measured using the 4-wire measurement technique. The samples were pressed into pellets, each was weighed (0.1 g) and pressed at 4000 psi. The samples were tested under vacuum, where the resistivity was measured from 50 K to 300 K. The data is given in Figure 5.31 and summarized in Table 5.7. The graphene sample had the least change in the resistivity while all the other samples the resistivity decreased with increasing temperature. At room temperature the graphene had a resistivity of $0.819 \times 10^{-3} \Omega \cdot m$, which is slightly higher than reported in literature [27], which in turn has a lower conductivity than reported in literature [26]. The B-rGO sample had the highest conductivity and the lowest resistivity as the

doping of the graphene had improved the conductivity of graphene. The N-rGO also had a conductivity higher than that of graphene. The doping of the reduced graphene oxide has improved the conductivity.



Figure 5.33: Graph of resistivity vs temperature for rGO, N-rGO and B-rGO.

In Figure 5.33 the doped rGO shows a 'freeze-out' response from 50 K to 250 K, where dopant charge carriers leave dopant atoms and become mobile charge carriers.

Sample	Conductivity*/ $S.m^{-1}$	Resistivity/ $m\Omega m$
rGO	532.19	1.879
B-rGO	7245.38	0.138
N-rGO	5376.34	0.186
FeCo-rGO	25477.77	0.03925
Ni-rGO	62695.82	0.01595
Co-rGO	15650	0.06389

Table 5.7: Table of resistivity and conductivity for the prepared samples

The samples anchored with nanoparticles had the highest conductivity. The Ni-rGO sample had the highest conductivity at 6267 S.m ⁻¹ which was a surprise, since it was close to the reported value 8333 S.m⁻¹ [27-28]. The conductivity after the anchoring of nanoparticles improved by a factor of 43 for Ni-rGO and 17 for FeCo-rGO. All the samples that were tested had logarithmic curves in the resistivity vs temperature graphs (Figure 5.33 and Figure 5.34), which shows that the samples are semiconductors. The obtained data showed experimentally that doping and anchoring of metal nanoparticles improved the conductivity of reduced graphene oxide.



Figure 5.34: Graph of resistivity vs temperature for (a) rGO, Ni-rGO and FeCo-rGO and (b) Co-rGO

References

[1] D.C. Marcano, D.V. Kosynkin, j.M. Berlin, A.S. Stinitsii, Z. Sun, A. Slesarev, L.B. Alemany, W. Lu, J.M. Tour, "Improve synthesis of graphene oxide", ACS Nano, vol. 8, pp. 4806 – 4814, 2010.

[2] V. Loryuenyong, K, Totepvimarn, P. Eimburanapravat, W. Boonchompoo, A. Buasri, "Prepation and Characterization of Reduced Sheets via Water-Based Exfoliation and Reduction Methods," *Advances in Materials Science and Engineering*, vol. 2013, Article ID 923403, 2013. <u>https://doi.org/10.1155/2013/923409</u>.

[3] S. Stankovich, D.A. Dikin, R.D. Piner, K.A. Kohlhaas, A. Kleinhammes, Y. Jia, Y. Wu, S.T. Nguyen, R.S. Ruoff, "Synthesis of graphene-based nanosheets via chemical reduction of exfoliated graphite oxide," *Carbon*, vol. 45, pp. 1558 – 1565, 2007.

[4] Q.A. Khan, A. Shaur, T.A. Khan, Y.F. Joya, M.S. Awan, "Characterization of reduced graphene oxide produced from though a modified Hoffman method," *Cogent Chemistry*, vol. 3, pp. 1298980 - 1298989, 2017.

[5] S-C. Kim, B.H. Kim, S-J. Kim, Y-S. Lee, H. Lee, S.H. Park, S-C. Jung. "Preparation and characterization of cobalt/graphene composite using liquid phase system," *Journal Nanoscience and Nanotechnology*, vol. 15, pp. 228 - 231, 2015.

[6] D.P. Suhas, T.M. Aminabhavi, H.M. Jeong, A.V. Raghu, "Hydrogen peroxide treated graphene as an effective nanosheet filler for separation application" *RSC Advances*, vol. 5, pp. 100984 – 100995, 2015.

[7] Z. Lei, L. Lu, X.S. Zhao, "The electrocapacitive properties of graphene oxide reduced by urea," *Energy and Environmental Science*, vol. 5, pp. 6391 – 6399, 2012.

[8] Wu, H., Shao, M., Gu, J., Wei, X.: Microwave-assisted synthesis of fibre -like Mg(OH)₂ nanoparticles in aqueous solution at room temperature. Mater. Lett. 58, 2166 – 2169 (2004).

[9] P. Ashok, S. Ramaprabhu, , "Investigation of catalytic activity towards oxygen reaction of Pt dispersed boron doped graphene in acid medium," *Journal of Colloid and Interface Science*, vol. 479, pp. 260 – 270, 2016.

[10] V. Pareders-Garcia, C. Cruz, N. Toledo, J. Dernadin, D. Venegas-Yazigi, C. Castillo, E. Spodine, Z. Luo, "Effect of the different synthetic parameters on the morphology and magnetic properties of nickel nanoparticles," *New Journal of Chemistry*, vol. 38, pp. 837 – 844, 2014.

[11] C. Fu, G. Zhao, H. Zhang, S. Li, "Evaluation and Characterization of reduced graphene oxide nanosheets as anode material for lithium-ion batteries," *International Journal of Electrochemical Science*, vol. 8, pp. 6269 - 6278, 2013.

[12] Y. Fu, H. Chen, X. Sun, X. Wang, "Combination of cobalt ferrite and graphene: High performance and recyclable visible-light photocatalysis," *Applied Catalysis. B: Environmental*, vol. 112, pp. 280 - 288, 2012.

[13] Q. Long, Z. Xu, H. Xiao, K. Xie, "A facile synthesis of a cobalt nanoparticlegraphene nanocomposite with high-performance and triple-band electromagnetic wave absorption properties," *RSC Advances*. vol. 8, pp. 1210 - 1218, 2018.

[14] W. Zhiqiang, T. Xia, J. Ma, P.X. Yan, "Investigation of the lattice expansion for Ni nanoparticles," *Materials Characterisation.*, vol. 58, pp. 1019 - 1027, 2007

[15] I.R. Gonsalves, V.M.S. Verenkar, "Synthesis and characterization of nanosize nickel-cobalt ferrite obtained by precursor combustion method," *Journal of Thermal Analysis Calorimetry*. vol. 108, p. 877 - 886, 2012.

[16] P.R. Kumar, P. Kollu, C. Santhosh, K.E.V. Rao, D.K. Kim, A.N. Grace, "Enhanced properties of porous CoFe₂O₄-reduced graphene oxide composites with alginate binders for Li-ion battery application," *New Journal of Chemistry*. vol. 38, pp. 3654, 2014.

[17] Y. Chang, J. Li, B. Wang, H. Lou, L. Zhi, "A facile synthetic approach to reduced graphene oxide-Fe₃O₄ composite as high-performance anode for lithium-ion batteries," *Journal Material Science Technology*, vol. 30, pp. 759 - 767, 2014.

[18] C.N.R. Rao, K. Gopalakrishnan, A. Govindaraj, "Synthesis, properties and application of Graphene doped with boron, nitrogen and other elements," *Nano Today*, vol. 9, pp. 324 - 343, 2014.

[19] M.I. Katsnelson, "Graphene: carbon in two dimensions," *Materials Today*, vol.10, pp. 20 – 27, 2007.

[20] M.A. Akhukov, A. Fasolino, Y.N. Gornostrev, M.I. Katsnelson, "Dangling bonds and Magnetism of grain boundaries in graphene," *Physical Review B*, vol. 85, pp. 115407-1 – 115407-10, 2012.

[21] J. Zhu, H. Park, R. Podila, A. Wadehra, P. Ayala, L. Oliveira, J. He, A.A. Zakhidov, A. Howard, J. Wilkins, A.M. Rao, "Magnetic properties of sulfur-doped graphene," *Journal of Magnetism and Magnetic Materials*, vol. 401, pp. 70-76, 2016.

[22] R.R. Nair, M. Sepioni, I-Ling Tsai, O. Lehtinen, J. Keinonen, A.V.
Krasheninnikov, T. Thomsoin, A.K. Geim, I.V. Grigorieva, "Spin-half paramagnetism in graphene Induced by point defects," *Nature Physics*, vol. 8, pp. 199 – 202, 2010.

[23] C. de Julián Fernández, G. Mattei, C. Sangregorio, C. Battaglin, D. Gatteschi, P. Mazzoldi, "Superparamagnetism and coercivity in HCP-Co nanoparticles disperse in silica matrix," *Journal of Magnetism and Magnetic Materials*, vol. 272-276, pp. e1235 – e1236, 2004.

[24] Munjal, N. Khare, C. Nehate, V. Koul, "Water dispersible CoFe₂O₄ nanoparticles with improved stability for biomedical applications," *Journal of Magnetism and Magnetic Materials*," vol. 404, pp. 166 – 169, 2016.

[25] M. Houshiar, F. Zebhi, Z. Razi, A. Alidoust Z.Askari, "Sythensis of cobalt ferrite (CoFe₂O₄) Nanoparticles using combustion , coprecipitation and precipitation methods: A comparison study of size, structural and magnetic properties," *Journal of Magnetism and Magnetic Materials*, vol. 371, pp. 43 -48, 2014

[26] H. Hu, Y. Lui, Q. Wang, J. Zhao, Y. Liang, "A study of the preparation of highly Conductive graphene," *Materials Letters*, vol. 65, pp. 2582 – 2584, 2011.

[27] A.S. Lanje, S.J. Sharma, R.B. Pode, Magnetic and electrical properties of nickel nanoparticles prepared by hydrazine reduction method. *Archives of Physics Research*, vol. 1, pp. 49 – 56, 2010.

[28] Y. Zhu, S. Murali, W. Cai, Xuesong, J.W. Suk, J.R. Potts, R.S. Ruoff, "Graphene and Graphene oxide: Synthesis, properties and application," *Advanced Materials*, vol. 22, pp. 3906 – 3924, 2010.

Chapter 6: Removal of Cr(IV) from Aqueous Media

Chapter 6: Removal of Cr(IV) from aqueous media.

This chapter serves as a summary of applications of the prepared samples. The focus will be on the magnetic nanoparticle reduced graphene oxide composites. The availability of equipment allowed for the application in water treatment for the removal of heavy metal ions. The method is a relatively simple process, whereby the composite is separated from the solution with the aid of a magnet and the filtrate is collect for analysis. The high surface area in reduced graphene and nanoparticles imparts the application as sorbent material, as this chapter explores.

6.1 Removal of Cr (IV) from aqueous media using Co-rGO.

6.1.1. Introduction

Chromium is an element that is widely used in several different industrial applications such as metallurgy, electroplating, pigments and wood preservation [1-3]. Trivalent chromium (Cr (III)) ions are a micronutrient in biological systems, which play a pivotal role in glucose levels normalization, metabolism of lipids and steroid regulation [3]. Cr (VI) is a largely toxic carcinogen. Being in the hexavalent state it serves as a strong oxidizing agent to return to the trivalent state. In living cells hexavalent chromium forms free radicals in the form of reactive oxygen species, which damages DNA and oxidative stress in cellular activities [4]. Hexavalent chromium is introduced to water systems, by human industrial activities. This is catastrophic in environmental systems as it kills flora and fauna. Most plants do not have a proper and specific transport system for chromium. It interferes with the carrier channels for essential micronutrients which in turn alters germination processes, photosynthesis and other metabolic pathways [4]. Cr (VI) is highly toxic to humans and has adverse effects on human health. Cr (VI) is a hindrance to human health, because it blocks metalloenzymes systems, which carry out metabolic functions including

mitochondrial function [5]. Other effects of Cr (VI) is that it poisons the liver and kidneys through ingestion of contaminated water or food [5]. Cr(VI) is also a carcinogenic agent which alters the DNA transcription process [6]. The Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) of the United States has recognized Cr(VI) compounds as a top priority toxin. Thus, there is need for an economical method of remediation in order to remove Cr (VI) from fresh water.

Most reported methods of remediation of Cr(VI) include ion exchange, coagulation, precipitation, adsorption and membrane filtration [7-13]. Adsorption has been categorized as an economical method when compared to the other methods. One of the contenders for the adsorption is activated carbon but it has some problems such as fouling. The discovery of carbon nanotubes and graphene has allowed for the expansion of adsorption of Cr(VI) technologies. These materials have been reported to have high surface area, which in turn has a large number of active sites for the adsorption of Cr (VI). Graphene is obtained from the reduction of graphene oxide which is a single graphite oxide sheet [14]. Graphene oxide contains oxygenated functional groups such as hydroxyl, epoxide, carbonyl and carboxyl groups. Graphene generally has slow adsorption kinetics of Cr(VI). Nanoparticles have been studied to remove Cr(VI) from aqueous solution. Nanoparticles have a high surfaceto-volume ratio, which has been shown to have benefits of fast adsorption kinetics. Magnetic nanoparticles usually have a poor adsorption capacity for Cr(VI), because due to the agglomeration of the nanoparticles [15]. The combination of the nanoparticles with reduced graphene oxide improves the dispersion of the nanoparticles. The adsorption of Cr(VI) on reduced graphene oxide decorated with magnetic nanoparticles occurs via electrostatic interaction [16]. The nanoparticles Fe₂O₃ are ferromagnetic allows for the formed Fe₂O₃ reduced graphene oxide nanocomposite (Fe₂O₃-rGO) to be easily removed using a hand held magnet. The ease of separation allows the nanocomposite to be reusable. Fe₂O₃-rGO with the adsorbed Cr(VI) is ultra-sonicated in a solution of pH 9 to remove the adsorbed Cr(VI) from Fe₂O₃-rGO [15]. In this study cobalt nanoparticles on reduced graphene oxide nanocomposite (Co-rGO) was used in the removal of Cr(VI) from aqueous solutions. Cobalt nanoparticles are superparamagnetic, and when conjugated with reduced

graphene oxide, the composite become a weak ferromagnetic substance. The composite can be easily attracted to a hand held magnet. It also has a high surface area, which can be applied in the adsorption of pollutants in aqueous media. The cobalt nanoparticles are well dispersed in the matrix of the reduced graphene oxide. This ensures a large number of active sites for adsorption of Cr(VI). This makes the Co-rGO an effective adsorbent for Cr(VI). The ferromagnetic nature of the Co-rGO allows the adsorbent material to easily separate from samples containing Cr(VI) ions. The Cr-rGO was selected as a mono metallic and non-metal oxide nanoparticle graphene composite to be used in the removal of Cr(VI) ions. This was reported before on Ni-rGO composites, but it catalyzed the reduction of Cr(VI) to Cr(III). In this experiment the emphasis is on the removal of the Cr(VI). The Co-rGO is the first monometallic nanoparticle graphene that was used for removal of Cr (VI) from aqueous media. The Co-rGO was characterized using XRD, TEM, Raman and IR. The ability of Co-rGO as sorbent material for Cr(VI) was evaluated in basic media. The removal efficiency of the Co-rGO was evaluated and the kinetics of the adsorption was also evaluated.

6.1.2. Experimental

6.1.2.1. Adsorption experiments

The adsorption experiments were contained in a series of Erlenmeyer flasks containing a 50 mL solution of Cr (VI) ions. The adsorption tests were conducted in order to evaluate the uptake of the Cr(IV) ions by Co-rGO. Different parameters such as mass of adsorbent, initial concentration, pH, and contact time were evaluated. The Cr (VI) solutions were fashioned from a 1000 mg L⁻¹ standard solution. A working solution of 100 mg L⁻¹ was used to create samples ranging from 10 to 80 mg L⁻¹. The mass of the Co-rGO used as an adsorbent was varied from 3 mg to 25 mg to determine the optimal mass for the adsorption of Cr(VI). The pH of the Cr(VI) solutions ranged from 2 to 12, and were adjusted using 0.1 M HCl and 0.1 NaOH. The agitation time

was varied from 30 to 180 minutes. The temperature of Cr(VI) varied from 298 to 318 K. The Co-rGO was separated from the Cr(VI) solution with the aid of a rare-earth magnet. The supernatant was collected, and the remaining heavy metal ion was evaluated using ICP-OES. The removal efficiency (R, %) and the amounts of heavy metal ions adsorbed q (mg.g⁻¹) were determined according to the formula:

$$R = \frac{(C_0 - C_t)}{C_0} \times 100 \% , \qquad (1)$$

$$q = \frac{(C_0 - C_e)V}{m} \quad , \tag{2}$$

where R is the removal efficiency of the metals ions, C_0 (mg.L⁻¹) the initial concentration of metal ions, and C_t (mg.L⁻¹) is the concentration of metal ion at time (t), q (mg.g⁻¹) is the amount of metal ions adsorbed per unit amount of adsorbents, V(L) is the volume of adsorbates , and m (g) is the mass of the adsorbents [17,18].

6.1.2.2. Kinetics and Adsorption studies

The kinetics of the adsorption is calculated a using pseudo first-order rate equation (3) [17], second-order rate equation (4) [17] and Avrami equation (5) [18] which are shown below:

$$q_t = q_e \left(1 - e^{-k_1 t} \right) , \qquad (3)$$

$$\frac{t}{q_t} = \frac{1}{k_2 q_e^2} + \frac{t}{q_e} \,, \tag{4}$$

$$q_t = q_e [(1 - e^{-k_3 t})]^{n_A} , (5)$$

where k_1 (min⁻¹) is the rate constant for the pseudo first-order rate equation, k_2 is the rate constant for pseudo second-order rate equation, k_3 is the Avrami rate constant

and n_A is the Avrami constant. $q_e \pmod{(mg.g^{-1})}$ and $q_t \pmod{(mg.g^{-1})}$ are the amounts of Cr (VI) adsorbed at equilibrium and at time (t), respectively.

The adsorption isotherms also relate the amount of the chromate ions adsorbed at equilibrium, as per weight of the adsorbent, $q_e(mg.g^{-1})$, to the adsorbate concentration also at equilibrium, C_e (mg.L⁻¹). The data was evaluated using three isotherms equations, which were Langmuir, Freundlich and Lui. The Langmuir model [18], Freundlich [19,20] and Liu model/equations, are given below.

Langmuir:

$$q_e = \frac{bq_m C_e}{1 + bC_e},\tag{6}$$

where q_m (mg.g⁻¹) and b are Langmuir constants related to the adsorption capacity and the energy of the adsorption.

Freundlich:

$$q_e = K_F C_e^{1/n},\tag{7}$$

where K_F , is the adsorption capacity and n is the adsorption intensity. Lui:

$$q_{e} = \frac{q_{m}(K_{L}C_{e})^{n_{L}}}{1 + (K_{L}C_{e})^{n_{L}}}.$$
(8)

where κ_L , is the adsorption capacity, C_e is equilibrium concentration and n_L is the dimensionless exponent of the Lui equation. The statistical evaluation of the data is obtained, using the determination coefficient R^2 and standard deviation *SD*.

6.1.3. Results and Discussion

6.1.3.1. Synthesis and Characterization.

The characterization of the Co-rGO, using FTIR, XRD, TEM and TGA has been discussed in chapter 5.

The Co-rGO surface area was determined using adsorption and desorption of nitrogen gas, using the BET model shown in Figure 6.1. The specific surface area was determined to be 92 m².g⁻¹. The Barret-Joyneer-Halenda (BJH) analysis was used to determine the pore volume of the Co-rGO. The pore volume was found to be 0.0284 cm³ g⁻¹ with a pore diameter of 4.5 nm.



Figure 6.1: BET analysis of Co-rGO.

6.1.4.2. Removal of Cr (VI) in water.

The removal of the chromate ions in water is shown in Figure 6.2. The figure shows (a) Cr(VI) solution before removal, (b) Cr(VI) solution with Co-rGO before 3 hours had lapsed and (c) Cr(VI) solution with Co-rGO after 3 hours had lapsed. It was observed that the magnet attracted Co-rGO from the solution, as shown in Figure 6.2(c). The colour of the solution also changed from a dark yellow shown in Figure 6.2 (a) which showed the presence of Cr(VI) ions to a pale/faint yellow as observe in the Figure 6.2 (c), after the removal of Cr(VI) ions by the Co-rGO.



Figure 6.2: Picture showing removal of chromate ion in water using Co-rGO.

The effect of Co-rGO dosage on the removal efficiencies of Cr(VI) was evaluated and shown in Figure 6.3 (a). The concentration of Cr(VI) ions used in this study was 100 mg.L⁻¹. The temperature of the Cr(VI) solution was kept at 298 K and the agitation time was 3 hrs. The dosages of Co-rGO were 80, 100, 160, 200, 300 and 400 mg.L⁻¹, respectively, which adapted from reported method [10-12]. The results showed that

the adsorption efficiency of Co-rGO increased with increasing dosage of Co-rGO and it started to plateau at 65 % removal efficiency, as shown in the Figure 6.3 (a). The dosages of 80, 100, 160 and 200 mg L⁻¹ had removal efficiencies of 15, 23, 37 and 43%, respectively. The pH of the solution has been recognized as an important parameter in controlling the adsorption process [18]. The effect of pH on the removal efficiency of Cr(VI) was evaluated and the results are shown in Figure 6.3 (b). The pH of the Cr(VI) solution was in the range of 2 to 12. It was observed that at low pH the removal efficiency was low but the increase in pH saw a rise in the removal efficiency. At a pH of 8 the highest removal efficiency of 40% was achieved. Further increases in the pH beyond 8 saw a decrease in the adsorption efficiency. In basic media the Cr(VI) exists as CrO₄²⁻, which has an affinity for the Co-rGO which is positively charged [19, 21]. At pH greater 8 there is a high concentration of OH- which competes for adsorption with Cr(VI) ions as reported previously [22, 23]. The graphene nanocomposites with metallic oxide nanoparticles remove Cr(VI) efficiently in lower pH because the metallic oxides have an affinity for H⁺ ions [23]. The effect of initial concentration of the Cr(VI) ions was evaluated. The obtained data is shown in Figure 6.3 (c). The data shows the initial 20 mg.L⁻¹ concentration of Cr(VI) with the highest removal efficiency. The removal efficiency decreased with increasing concentration of Cr(VI). This trend was expected because the increase in concentration tends to saturate active sites, which in turn lowered the removal efficiency [24]. The effect of contact time is shown in Figure 6.4 (d). The removal of the heavy metal Cr(VI) ions reached equilibrium at 90 min. The drop in the removal efficiency beyond 90 min was a trend, which was reported on. The heat from evolved the agitation for extended hinders the performance of the Co-rGO as adsorbent material [17-27]. The optimum conditions for adsorption studies were determined from Figure 6.3. It was found to be a contact time of 90 min, a pH of 8, concentration of 20 mg.L⁻¹ and a dosage of 300 mg.L⁻¹.







Figure 6.3: Effect of initial parameters such (a) dosage, (b) pH, (c) concentration and (d) contact time on removal efficiency of Cr(VI).

The point zero charge was determined according to a reported method [25]. The potential was measured as a function of the changing pH and is shown in Figure 6.4. The results explain that the surface charge above a pH of 7.35 is positive. The operating pH of Co-rGO in this experiment was 8, which was positively charged and will attract the negatively charged $CrO_{4^{2-}}$ ions. Figure 6.5 shows the proposed mechanism of how the Co-rGO adsorbs the $CrO_{4^{2-}}$ through positively charged cobalt nanoparticles.



Figure 6.4: Point zero charge of Co-rGO.



Figure 6.5: Proposed scheme of the adsorption Cr(VI) ions on Co-rGO.

6.1.4.3. Adsorption studies

6.1.4.3.1. Adsorption kinetics

The adsorption parameters and the kinetics of the adsorption process are important parameters to evaluate. This is important in dealing with waste water purification. The parameters which were determined in the above section were used in this study. The parameters were a concentration or 20 mg.L⁻¹, pH of 8 and a contact time of 90 min. The adsorption kinetics were evaluated with the pseudo first-order, pseudo second-order kinetic models and Avrami fraction kinetic model [26, 17]. The fitting of the raw data to the kinetic models is shown in Figure 6.6.

The data was summarized in Table 6.2. Figure 6.7 shows the plot of the raw data and the fitting of the raw data to the rate equations. The smooth plots were obtained by using the equation to obtain the different parameters. From the plot it is observed that the adsorption of Cr(VI) on Co-rGO follows a pseudo-second-order kinetics model. This was evaluated using the statistical R² values of the data. The correlation coefficient of the pseudo-second-order model was 0.992, which was closer to 1. R² was used to evaluate how the model correlated to the obtained values. The pseudo second kinetic equation had the highest R² when compared to the other two models. It also had the lowest standard deviation value of 4.33, which concluded that the adsorption kinetics followed the pseudo second order kinetic equation. The Avrami fractional order kinetic model and the pseudo first order kinetic model had R² values of 0.981 and 0.945 respectively. The pseudo first order kinetic model had the highest standard deviation of about 20.7. The value for q_e 92.3 mg.g⁻¹ was determined using the graph.

 Table 6.2: Table of constants and correlation coefficient.

Pseudo-first-order			Pseudo-second-order			Avrami fractional order					
k ₁ /(min ⁻¹)	q _e /(mg.g ⁻¹)	R ²	SD	k ₂ /(g.mg ⁻¹	q _e /(mg	R ²	SD	k ₁ /(min ⁻¹)	$q_{\rm e} /({\rm mg.g-1})$	R ²	SD
				min ⁻¹)	g-1)						
0.0319	89.9	0.945	20.7	0.0421	92.3	0.992	4.33	0.0347	90.6	0.981	7.89



Figure 6.6: Adsorption kinetics curves of the Cr(VI) on the Co-rGO.

6.1.4.3.2. Adsorption isotherms and thermodynamics parameters.

The adsorption isotherm is used to determine the distribution of the chromate molecule within the solid phase when the adsorption process reaches equilibrium [25]. The adsorption isotherms also relate the amount of the chromate ions adsorbed at equilibrium, as per weight of the adsorbent, $q_e(mg g^{-1})$, to the adsorbate concentration also at equilibrium, $C_e(mg L^{-1})$. The models are plotted from the of qe using the equation of the different adsorption models. The raw data is plotted along to model data point to evaluated which model the raw was in concordance with model data points. The extent of how well the experimental data fitted to the studies' models was evaluated using R^2 and SD values. Values of R^2 and SD which are closer to 1 denote that the data fitted the model better. It also affirms that there are no differences between the experimental and theoretical values. The raw data is plotted in Figure 6.7.

The data is summarized in Table 6.3. The Langmuir isotherm describes an adsorption process which is monolayered and has uniform distribution process between the adsorbed. This correlated to the adsorbed molecules to have no interaction with each other and the adsorption surfaces are of equivalent energies. However, it was determined that the R_L was less than 1 which meant that the adsorption process was unfavorable [26]. Qm and adsorption capacities were obtained by calculating the mean value from the model equations. The Freundlich isotherm describes a monolayered to multilayered adsorption of heterogeneous surfaces. The adsorption is between the liquid and solid surfaces. The model assumes that there is interaction between the adsorbed molecules [27 - 37]. The nature of the adsorption can be verified by the value of n_F . If $n_F = 1$, the adsorption is chemical, when $n_F < 1$ the adsorption is unfavourable and $n_F > 1$ is favourable. The data fitted well to the Freundlich isotherm and the value n_F was 2.99 at 298 K. This affirms that the adsorption fitted well to the Freundlich isotherm and that the process is favourable. The correlation coefficient R^2 was 0.996. This was closer to 1 and standard deviation for the Freundlich fitting was the lowest and the data could be multilayered. There was a decrease in the adsorption capacity when the temperature increased, which was expected since it is well reported in literature [27 - 38]. The increase in the temperature corresponds to the decrease adsorption capacity of the Co-rGO. The comparison of obtained adsorption capacity compared to other carbon based materials is summarized in Table 6.3.

T/	Langmuir				Fruendlich			Lui						
Κ	q _m	В	RL	R ²	SD	K _F	n_F	R ²	SD	KL	Qm	n_L	R ²	SD
	(mg.g ⁻¹)	(L mg-1)								(L.g ⁻¹)	(mg. g ⁻¹)			
298	113.3	0.689	0.456	0.989	3.29	17.1	2.99	0.996	0.632	0.119	119.5	1.21	0.969	5.77
308	106.2	0.519	0.325	0.948	5.51	12.3	2.22	0.989	0.741	0.418	108.4	1.15	0.926	2.97
318	82.3	0.332	0.192	0.922	3.62	10.3	2.05	0.945	0.845	0.621	88.8	1.13	0.882	3.87

Table 6.3: Table of constants, adsorption isotherms parameters, and Qm.





Figure 6.7: Adsorption isotherms (Langmuir, Freundlich and Lui) Cr(VI) on Co-rGO at different temperatures (a) 298 K, (b) 308 K and (c) 318 K. The plot shows the raw data and the fitting of the raw data to the adsorption isotherms.

Table 6.4: Maximum adsorption capacities for the adsorption of (VI) on carbon based materials.

Adsorbent	Adsorbate	Adsorption	Conditions	References
1 usor bene	laborbate	ridsorption	Contantionio	References
		capacity/(mg g ⁻¹)		
Co ₃ O ₄ -rGO	Cr(VI)	208.8	298 K, pH =2	[22]
GSC	Cr(VI)	2859.4	298 K, pH = 1.5	[14]
ZVI-Fe ₃ O ₄ -rGO	Cr(VI)	101	298 K, pH= 8	[21]
			-	
rGO	Cr(VI)	98.2	298 K, pH= 2	[24]
	``		1	
MWCNT- Fe ₃ O ₄	Cr(VI)	65	298 K, pH= 3	[25]
	~ /			
Activated carbon	Cr(VI)	69	298 K, pH= 3	[26]
	~ /			
Magnetic rGO -	Cr(VI)	119	298 K, pH= 3	[15]
	~ /			
loaded PEGDMA				
Co-rGO	Cr(VI)	116.8	298 K, pH= 8	This work

The thermodynamic equilibrium constant can be determined using the following equations [21, 22]:

$$K_d = \frac{q_e}{C_e} , \qquad (9)$$

$$\Delta G = -RT ln K_d \quad , \tag{10}$$

and

$$lnK_d = \frac{\Delta S}{R} - \frac{\Delta H}{RT},\tag{11}$$

where *R* (8.314 J.mol⁻¹.K⁻¹) is the gas constant, *T* (K) is the absolute temperature, K_d is the thermodynamic equilibrium constant, ΔG (kJ.mol⁻¹) is the Gibbs free energy, and ΔH (kJ.mol⁻¹) is the enthalpy of the adsorption and ΔS (J.mol⁻¹.K⁻¹) is entropy. The

values of ΔH and ΔS are calculated by plotting the Van Hoff equation in the form of $ln K_d$ vs 1/T and are shown in Figure 6.8. From Table 6.5, it was observed that the Gibbs energy values were negative, suggesting that the adsorption is spontaneous. The positive value of the entropy suggests there is a high disorder in the system and increased randomness. The interaction between the solution and solid is increased. The interface solid/solution had an increased uptake of Cr(VI) by the Co-rGO. Thus the Co-rGO has an affinity for Cr(VI) ions. The enthalpy of the sorption process was negative which affirms the process is exothermic [17, 18]. The magnitude of the enthalpy can be used to distinguish between chemisorptions and physisorption. For Δ H > 40 kJ mol⁻¹ the sorption process is chemisorptions, and for Δ H < 40 kJ mol⁻¹ the sorption process is physisorption. Thus the obtained value of -14.2 kJ mol⁻¹ for Δ H indicates that the adsorption process was physisorption [17]. The exothermic nature of the adsorption process affirms the decrease in the adsorption capacity. The correlation coefficient was 0.996 which is a measure of how well the values concur which other. The magnitude of the correlation coefficient suggests that the obtained values of ΔH and ΔS are reliable. The adsorption process occurs as a result of the electrostatic interaction between the positively charge cobalt nanoparticles and the negatively charged CrO₄²⁻ ions.

Table	6.5:	Table	of the	thermody	ynamic	parameters	for	the	adsorption	at	different
tempe	eratur	es.									

T/K	$\Delta G/$ (kJ mol ⁻¹)	$\Delta H/(kJ mol^{-1})$	$\Delta S/(kJ \text{ mol}^{-1} \text{ K}^{-1})$
298	-1.72	-14.2	4.76
308	-1.95		
318	-2.21		



Figure 6.8: Van'Hoff plot for the adsorption of Cr(VI) on Co-rGO.

6.1.4.3.3. Regeneration and desorption.

The economical feasibility of the Co-rGO is the ability for the composite to be regenerated. The Cr(VI) was soaked in an ethanol solution with 10 % NaOH. The mixture was then ultrasonicated which loosened the electrostatic interaction between the Co-rGO and Cr(VI). Desorption was then achieved when CrO_4^{2-} was displaced by the OH⁻. After soaking and ultrasonication the ethanol solution turned from a clear to a yellowish solution. The Co-rGO was separated from the solution using a held magnet. The Co-rGO was washed with water and acetone. The Co-rGO was then dried in a vacuum oven at 60° C. The concentration used for regeneration of Co-rGO was 20 mg L⁻¹. The adsorption-desorption cycles are shown in Figure 6.9. The first regeneration resulted in a drop in the removal efficiency from 90 % to 82 %. The removal efficiency did not change after the sixth cycle.



Figure 6.9: The removal efficiency of recycled Co-rGO.
6.2. Reduction of Cr (VI) to Cr (III) using Ni-rGO and CoFe-rGO.

6.2.1. Method.

The reduction experiment was contained in a series of Erlenmeyer flasks containing 50 mL solution of Cr (VI) ions. The reduction tests were conducted in order to evaluate the catalytic reduction of the toxic Cr (IV) ion to Cr(IIIn) which is non toxic, by Ni-rGO and rGO. The CoFe-rGO and Ni-rGO was then separated from the solution with the aid of rare-earth magnet. The supernatant was collected, and the remaining heavy metal ions were evaluated using UV-Vis spectroscopy. The Cr (VI) solutions were fashioned from 1000 mg/L standard solution. A working standard solution of 100 mg/L was used to create samples of 100 mg/L. The pH of the solution was adjusted to 8 by adding drops of a concentrated of sodium hydroxide solution.

6.2.2. Results.

The other synthesized sampl,es such as Ni-rGO and rGO, were also tested using a 100 ppm standard of Cr(VI). A mass of 30 mg of each sample was added to 50 mL of 100ppm standard and agitated for 3 hours. The solution was then analyzed using UV/Vis spectrophotometry as shown in Figure 6.16. The UV/Vis spectrum revealed that the sample of Ni-rGO and FeCo-rGO had reduced the Cr(VI) ions to Cr(III). This evident in appearance of the Cr(III) absorption peak at λ_{max} 398 nm. It has been observed in literature that the positively charged rGO function groups tend to facilitate the reduction of the Cr(VI) to Cr(III) [6]. Cr(VI) ions are in the form of HCrO₄⁻, which is attracted to the positively charged centers of the rGO. It has been reported before in literature that Ni-rGO has the ability of reducing Cr(VI) to Cr(III) [43]. The Cr(III) ions are non-toxic to life and are a micronutrient.



Figure 6.10: Plot of UV/Vis spectrum of 100 ppm Cr(VI)standard, Cr(VI) after adding Ni-rGO and, FeCo-rGO.

6.3. Conclusions

The study was to synthesize Co-rGO using a coprecipitation method, with graphene oxide and Co(acac)₂ as starting materials. The Co-rGO was characterized and it was found that the cobalt nanoparticles were on the surface of the rGO. The Co-rGO was a monocrystalline material. The Co-rGO was subsequently used in the removal of Cr(VI) under basic medium. High concentrations of Cr(VI) saturate the active sites and decrease the removal efficiency of the Co-rGO. The adsorption processes follow pseudo-second-order kinetics. The best removal efficiency was at pH 8 that once exceed, hydroxide ions competed with Cr(VI) ions for active adsorption sites. The adsorption fitted well to the Freundlich adsorption mode, much better than to the the Langmuir and Liu isotherm models. The model suggested that the adsorption sites The adsorption process follows a monolayer to multilayer are heterogeneous. sorption with interaction between the adsorbed molecules. The adsorption process occurs due to the electrostatic interaction between the positively charge cobalt nanoparticles and the negatively charged CrO₄²⁻ ions. The adsorption capacity of the Co-rGO for Cr(VI) was 116 mg.g-1, which was higher than some of magnetic nanoparticles-graphene composites. The magnitude of the ΔH was 14.2 kJ mol⁻¹, suggesting that the adsorption process and the adsorption capacity decrease with increases in temperature. Co-rGO, being a weak ferromagnetic material was easily removed from Cr(VI) solution. The Co-rGO can be regenerated using an ethanol solution treated with a 10 % NaOH solution. The Co-rGO was recycled 6 times and showed no significant change in the removal efficiency. Ni-rGO, rGO and FeCo-rGO were found to catalyze the reduction of Cr(VI) to Cr(III).

References

 M. F. Brigatti, G. Franchini, C. Lugli, I. Medici, L. Poppi, E. Turci, "Interaction between aqueous chromium solutions and layer silicates," *Applied Geochemistry*, vol. 15, 1307 – 1316, 2000.

[2] L.-C. Hsu, S. L. Wang, Y. M. Tzou, C. F. Lin, J. H. Chen, The removal and recovery of Cr(VI) by Li/Al layered double hydroxide (LDH)," *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, vol.142, 242 – 249, (2007).

[3] S. R. Frois, M. T. Grassi, M. S. de Campos, "Determination of Cr(VI) in water samples by ICP-OES after separation of Cr(III) by montmorillonite," *Analytical Methods*, vol. **4**, pp. 4389 – 4394, 2012.

[4] A. Nigam, S. Priya, P. Bajpai, S. Kumar, Indian. "Cytogenomics of hexavalent (Cr 6+) exposed cells: a comprehensive review," *Indian Journal of Medical Research*, vol. 139, pp. 349 – 370, (2014).

[5] V. K. Gupta, M. Gupta, S. Sharma, Processs development for the removal of lead and chromium from aqueous solutions using red mud an aluminium industry waste," *Water Research*, vol. **35**, pp. 1125 – 1134, (2001)

[6] R. Dubey, J. Bajpai, A.K. Bajpai, "Green synthesis of graphene sand composite (GSC) as novel adsorbent for efficient removal of Cr(VI) ions from aqueous solution," *Journal of Water Process Engineering*, vol. **5**, pp. 83 – 94, 2015.

[7] A. K. Shanker, C. Cervantes, H. Loza-Tavera, S. Avudainayagam, "Chromium toxicity in plants," *Environmental International*, vol. 31, pp. 739 -753, 2005.

[8] M. Yusuf, F. M. Elfghi, S. A. Zaidi, E. C. Abdullah, M. A. Khan, "Application of graphene and its derivatives as an adsorbent for heavy metal and dye removal: a systematic and comprehensive overview, "*RSC Advances*, vol.5, pp. 50392 - 50420, 2015.

[9] A. Dabrowski, Z. Hubicki, P. Podkoscielny, E. Robens, "Selective removal of the heavy metal from waters and industrial wastewaters by ion-exchange method," *Chemosphere* vol. 56, pp. 91 -106, 2004.

[10] G. Ayoub, L. Semerjian, A. Acra, M. Fadel, B. Koopman, "Heavy metal by coagulation with seawater liquid bittern," *Journal of Environmental Engineering*, vol. **127**, pp. 196 - 207, 2001.

[11] M. M. Matlock, B. S. Howerton, D. A. Atwood, "Chemical precipitation of lead from battery recycling plant wastewater," *Industrial and Engineering Chemistry Research.*, vol. **41**, pp. 1579 -1582 (2002).

[12] Y. Zhang, L. Yan, W. Xu, X. Guo, L. Cui, L. Goa, Q. Wei, B. Du, "Adsorption of Pb(II) and Hg (II) from aqueous solution using magnetic CoFe₂O₄-reduced graphene oxide," *Journal of Molecular Liquids*, vol. **191**, pp. 177 – 182, (2014).

[13] M. Soylak, Y. E. Unsal, N. Kizil, A. Aydin, "Utilization of membrane filtration for preconcentration and determination of Cu(II) and Pb(II) in food, water and geological samples by atomic absorption spectrometry,' *Food Chemical Toxicology*, vol.**2**, pp. 517 – 521, (2010).

[14] H. Saleem, M. Haneef, H. Y. Abbasi, "Synthesis route of reduced graphene oxide via thermal reduction of chemically exfoliated graphene oxide," *Material Chemical Physics*, vol. **204**, pp. 1 – 7, (2018).

[15] F. Halouane, Y. Oz, D. Meziane, A. Barras, J. Juraszek, S. K. Singh, S. Kurungot, P. K. Shaw, R. Sanyal, R. Boukherroub, A. Sanyal, S. Szinerits, "Magnetic reduced graphene oxide loaded hydrogels: Highly versatile and efficient adsorbents for dyes and selective Cr(VI) ions removal," *Journal Colloids and Interface Sciences*, vol. 507, pp. 360 – 369, (2017).

[16] H. Wang, X. Z. Yuan, Y. Wu, H. Huang, G. Zeng, Y. Liu, X. Wang, N. Lin, Y. Qi, "Adsorption characteristics and behaviors of graphene oxide for the Zn(II) from aqueous solution," *Applied Surface Science*, vol. **279**, pp. 432 – 440, (2013). [17] A.M. Prajapathi, M.K. Mondal, "Hazardous As(III) removal using nanoporous activated carbon of waste garlic stem as adsorbent: Kinetic and mass transfer mechanisms," *Korean Journal of Chemical Engineering*, vol. **36**, pp. 1900 – 1914, (2019).

[18] D.R. Lima, A. Hosseini-Bandegharaei, P.S. Thue, E.C. Lima, YR.T. de Albequerque, G.S. dos Reis, C.S. Umpieries, S.L.P. Dias, H.N. Tran, "Efficient acetaminophen removal from water and hospital effluents treatment by activated carbons derived from Brazil but nutshells," *Colloids and Surfaces*. *A*, vol. **583**, pp. 123966 - 123977 (2019)

[19] R. Muszynski, B. Seger, P. V. Kamat, "Decorating graphene sheets with gold nanoparticles," *Journal of Physical Chemistry*. C. Letters, vol. **112**, pp. 5263 – 5266 (2008).

[20] J. Romero-González, J.R. Peralta-Videa, E. Rodríguez, S. L. Ramirez, J. L. Gardea-Torresdey, "Determination of thermodynamic parameters of Cr(VI) adsorption from aqueous solution onto Agave Lechuguilla biomass," *Journal of Chemical Thermodynamics*, vol. **37**, pp. 343 – 347, (2005).

[21] M. A. Al-Ghouti, M. A. M. Khraisheh, S. J. Allen, M. N. Ahmad, "The removal of dyes from textile wastewater: a study of the physical characteristics and adsorption mechanisms of diatomaceous earth," *Journal of Environmental Management*, 69, pp. 229 – 238, (2003).

[22] J.M. Chaba, P. N. Nomngongo, "Preparation of V2O5-ZnO coated carbon nanofibres: Application for removal of selected antibiotics in environmental matrices," *Journal of Water Process Engineering*, vol. **23**, pp. 50 - 60 (2018).

[23] H. T. Yang, Y. K. Sum, C. M. Shen, T. Z. Yang, H. J. Gao. "Synthesis and magnetic properties of ε-cobalt nanoaparticles," *Surfaces Interface and Analysis*, **36**, pp. 155 - 160 (2004).

[24] L. R. Gonsalves, V. M. S. Verenkar, "Synthesis and characterization of nanosize nickel-doped cobalt ferrite obtained by precursor combustion method," *Journal of Thermal Analysis and Calorimetry*, **108**, pp. 877 – 880, (2012).

170

[25] C-S. Park, D.H. Kim, B.J. Shin, D.Y. Kim, H.-K. Lee, H.-S. Tae, "Conductive polymer synthesis with single crystallinity via a novel plasms polymerization technique for gas sensor applications," *Materials.*, vol. **9**, **pp.** 812- 818, (2016).

[26] X. Diez-Betru, S. Alvarz-Garcia, C. Botas, P. Alvarez, J. Sachez-Marcos, C. Prieto, R. Menendez, A. de Andres, "Raman spectroscopy for the study of reduction mechanisms and optimization of conductivity in graphene oxide thin films, *Journal of Materials Chemistry*, *C.*, **1**, 6905- 6912 (2013).

[27] A. Al-Marri, M. Khan, M. Khan, S. F. Adil, A. Al-Wrthan, A. Z. Alkhathlan, W. Tremel, J. P. Labis, M. R. H. Siddiqul, M. N. Tahir, "Pulicaria glutinosa extract: a toolbox to synthesize highly reduced graphene oxide-silver nanocomposites," *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, **16**, 1131 -1142 (2015).

[28] S.-C. Kim, B. H. Kim, S.-J. Kim, Y.-S. Lee, H.-G. Kim, H. Lee, S. H. Park, S.-C. Jung, "Preparation and characterization of ccobalt/graphene composited using liquid thin phase plasma system," *Journal of Nanosciences and Nanotechnology*, **15**, 228 – 231, (2015).

[29] P. R. Kumar, P. Kollu, C. Santhosh, K. E. V. Rao, D. K. Kim, A. N. Grace,) Enhanced properties of porous CoFe₂O₄-reduced graphene oxide composites with alginate binders for Li-ion battery application. *New Journal of Chemistry*, **389**, 3654 – 3661, (2014).

[30] Z. Ji, X. Shen, G. Zhu, A. Zhou, A. Yuan, "Reduced graphene oxide/nickel nanocomposite: facile synthesis and catalytic properties," *Journal of Materials Chemistry.*, **22**, 3471 - 3477 (2012).

[31] Y. Zhang, H.-L. Ma, J. Peng, M. Zhai, Z.-Z. Yu, "Cr(VI) removal from aqueous solution using chemically reduced and functionalized graphene oxide," *Journal of Material Sciences.*, **48**, 1883 – 1889, (2013).

[32] J. Zhu, S. Wei, H. Gu, S. R. Rapole, Q. Wang, Z. Lou, N. Haldolaarachchige, D.P. Young, Z. Guo. "One-pot synthesis of magnetic graphene nanocomposites decorated with core@double-shell nanoparticles for fast chromium removal," *Environmental Sciences and Technology.*, **46**, 977 -985 (2012).

[33] J. Hu, G. Chen, "Fast removal and recovery of Cr(VI) using surface-modified jacobsite (MnFe₂O₄) nanoparticles," *Langmuir.*, **24**, 11173 – 11179, (2005).

[34] A. Nafiey, A. Addad, B. Sieber, B. Chastanet, A. Barras, S. Szunerits, R. Boukherrrout, Reduced graphene oxide decorated with Co_3O_4 nanoparticles (rGO- Co_3O_4) nanocomposite: A reusable catalyst for highly efficient reduction of 4-noitrophenol, and Cr(VI) and dye removal from aqueous solutions," *Chemical Engineering Journal*, vol. **322**, 375 – 384, 2017.

[35] X. Lv, X. Xue, G. Jiang, D. Wu, T. Sheng, H. Zhu, X. Xu, "Nanoscale zero-valent (nZVI) assembled on magnetic Fe₃O₄/graphene for chromium (VI) removal from aqueous solution," *Journal Colloids and Interface Science*, vol. **417**, pp. 51- 59, (2014).

[36] S. Yavari , N. M. Mahmodi, P. Teymouri , B. Shahmoradi, A. Maleki, "Cobalt ferrite nanoparticles: preparation, characterization and anionic dye removal capability," *Journal of Taiwan Institution Chemical Engineers*, vol. **59**, pp. 320 – 329, (2016).

[37] S. Phanichphant, A. Nakaruk, D Channei, "Photocatalytic activity of the binary composite CeO2/SiO2 for degradation of dye," *Applied Surfaces Sciences*, vol. 387, 214 – 220, 2019.

[38] L. Cui, X. Guo, Q. Wei, Y. Wang, L. Goa, L. Yan, T. Yan, B. Du, "Removal of mercury and methylene from aqueous solution by xanthate functionalized magnetic graphene oxide: Sorption kinetics and uptake mechanism," *Journal of Colloids and Interface Science*, vol. 439, pp. 112 - 120 (2015).

[39] T.S. Kareen, M. Zubait, M. Duad, N.D. Mu'azu, M.A. Al-Harthi, "Graphene/ternary layered double hydroxide composites: Efficient removal of anionic dye from aqueous phase," *Korean Journal of Chemical Engineering*, vol. 36, 1057 – 1068, 2019.

[40] R. Lafi, A. Fradj, A. Hafiane, B.H. Hameed, "Coffee waste as potential adsorbent for the removal of basic dyes from aqueous solution," *Korean Journal of Chemical Engineering*, vol. 31, 2198 – 2206, 2014. [41] P. Wang, M. Cao, C. Wang, Y Ao, J. H.J. Qian, "Kinetics and thermodynamics of adsorption of methylene blue by a magnetic graphene-carbon nanotube composite," *Applied Surface Sciences*, vol. 290, pp. 116 – 124, 2014.

[42] M. Song, Z. Duan, R. Qin, X. Xu, S. Lui, S. Song, M. Zhang, Y. Li, J. Shi, "Simultaneous adsorption of Cd2+ and methylene blue from aqueous solution using xanthate-modified baker's yeast," *Korean Journal of Chemical Engineering*, vol. **36**, pp. 869 - 879, 2019.

[43] K. Bhowmik, A. Mukherjee, M.K. Mishra and G. De, "Stable Ni Nanoparticlereduced graphene oxide composites for the reduction of highly toxic aqueous Cr(VI) at room temperature," *Langmuir*, vol. 30, pp. 3209 – 3216, 2013.

Chapter 7: Conclusions and Recommendations.

Chapter 7: Conclusions and Recommendations

7.1. General Conclusions

The main aim of this thesis was to, in principle, demonstrate the use of rGO to purify water. Synthesis of GO and rGO was researched and a number of different documented methods were investigated. Both GO and rGO offered great surface area per gram in order to adsorb contaminants in the form of pollution. In order to collect the adsorbed contaminants a method of anchoring nano-magnetic particles to rGO ('scaffolding') was employed. This thesis has shown the novelty of synthesis where there is pretreatment step is introduced and the conductivity studies of prepared samples.

Chemical exfoliation uses the route of the formation of graphene oxide as an intermediate. In this work the intermediate was synthesized using expanded graphite which was irradiated using a microwave oven and less oxidants were thus used in the production. The formation of reduced graphene oxide was obtained from using sodium borohydride as a reducing agent. The experiment proved that graphene oxide and reduced graphene oxide can be obtained affordable starting materials. The synthesized graphene oxide was characterized with TEM, XRD and FTIR. The characteristic peaks for graphene oxide was obtained from XRD at 10° and 26°, an which is indication of the successful formation graphene oxide. This was complemented FTIR. The TEM analysis showed that the graphene oxide was wrinkled. The two main methods used in the oxidation was Tour's method and the modified Hummer's method. The two methods yielded two different types of graphene oxide. Tour's method yielded graphene which was more soluble and wrinkled.

The graphene oxide synthesized using Tour's method was used in subsequent reactions to produce reduced graphene oxide samples. The doped reduced graphene oxide was tested in the Material Science laboratory for resistivity vs temperature. The doped samples were obtained from chemical vapour deposition. The dopants were boron and nitrogen, which were found to increase the conductivity of the reduced graphene oxide. The reduced graphene oxide was found to exhibit semiconductor behavior. The doped reduced graphene oxide was slightly more conductive as the dopants increased the number of charge carriers. The magnetic properties were also increased. The doped samples were found to be magnetic, as verified by VSM analysis.

The composites were obtained from decorating reduced graphene oxide with metallic nanoparticles. The nanoparticles were cobalt, nickel and cobalt ferrite. The composites were analysed with TEM, Raman, XRD, ICP-OES and VSM. The TEM showed that the nanoparticles were mono dispersed on the surface of graphene. The Raman spectroscopy showed that the composites where highly disordered and not pristine graphene sheets. It also showed that specimens were multilayered in nature. ICP-OES was used as qualitative and quantitative analysis of the composites. It was found that the cobalt was 10 % by weight in the Co-rGO composite, nickel was 15 % by weight in Ni-rGO, and on the FeCo-rGO cobalt was 7 % and iron 14 % by weight. The composites showed semiconductor behavior on resistivity vs temperature measurements. The composites were slightly more conductive than reduced graphene oxide. The VSM showed that the composite were soft magnetic materials. The XRD showed that the composites had peaks corresponding to nanoparticles and reduced graphene oxide.

The Co-rGO specimen was used in the removal of chromate ions in aqueous media. The study revealed that the Co-rGO sample was porous, and that the adsorption of the chromate ions followed pseudo second-order rate kinetics. The adsorption was tested with several adsorption isotherms such as Langmuir, Freundlich and Lui. Langmuir and Freundlich are mono-layered adsorption isotherms, and the results suggested that the data followed the Freundlich adsorption isotherms. This isotherm suggested that the adsorption sites were heterogenous and there was interaction between adsorbed chromate molecules. The nature of the adsorption was determined to be physisorption and the adsorption occurred via electrostatic interaction between negatively charged chromate ions and positively charged Co-rGO.

7.2. Recommendations.

- The recommendation would be the different techniques that are used to synthesize graphene oxide such as different modified Hummer's method and such unzipping of CNT's.
- ii) The production of reduced graphene oxide obtained from different methods of producing graphene oxide.
- iii) The study of physical properties of the different sample of reduced graphene oxide.
- The applications of N-rGO and B-rGO in supercapacitor applications. The effect of increased charge carriers from may be explored and exploited in the targeted application such as supercapacitors.
- v) The successful use of Co-rGO in the removal of Cr(VI) from water. The other samples were found to catalyze the reduction of Cr(VI) to Cr(III). There is a possibility of catalyzing toxic pollutants to less toxic compounds which can be easily removed
- vi) TEM analysis proved to be challenging since the superparamagnetic nature of the composite. This suggests that this composite can be used in antenna research as a reflector reflecting the electron beam used by the TEM instrument. The other composites which were magnetic such as Co-rGO, Ni-rGO and FeCo-rGO, can also be used in antennas, membrane electrode assemblies and photonics.

Chapter 8: Appendices

Chapter 8: Appendices

8.1. Patch Antenna Application

8.1.1. Introduction.

Graphene nanoparticles composite has been used in many technological application in recent year. Graphene cobalt-boron nanoparticles has been shown to promising candidates for anode for lithium ion batteries. The electrode has been shown to have a high reversible capacity [1]. The other promising application of graphene-based compounds is graphene aerosol decorated with iron cobalt oxide nanoparticles which is Li-ion batteries [2]. Composite graphene material has been shown to be useful as anode material for Lithium ion batteries, where the nanoparticles prevent graphene sheets restacking. The composite has superior lithium ion storage, specific capacity and cycle stability [2]. Magnetic nanoparticles such as iron, cobalt and nickel have large saturation magnetization and high Snoek's limit and compatible dielectric loss [3]. The combination of the magnetic nanoparticle with graphene is beneficial. The large surface area is combined with dielectric loss, magnetic loss component, increased interface polarization and electromagnetic loss ability. This implies graphene-based compounds have microwave absorbance antenna performance [3]. The combination of graphene and nickel nanoparticles showed enhanced performance as microwave absorbance than graphene and nickel nanoparticles individually due to the improvement of electromagnetic loss [3]. Reduced graphene oxide has promising properties in the microwave absorption properties. The reduced graphene oxide has a Fermi level with defects in the polarization relaxation and electronic dipole relaxation. This favors light absorption and in turn graphene and graphene composites can exhibit microwave absorption properties.

8.2.2. Preparation of micro strip antenna and measurements

The length and width of the patch were determined using equations (1) and (2) [6], using copper model.

$$L = \frac{c}{2f_r \sqrt{\varepsilon_r}} \tag{1}$$

$$w = \frac{c}{2f_r} \sqrt{\frac{2}{1+\varepsilon_r}} \tag{2}$$

Where, *L* is the length of the patch, *w* is the width of the patch, f_r is the resontant frequency of the patch, ε_r is the extinction coefficient, *c* is the speed of light. The effective dielectric constant, at low frequencies is basically constant, at higher frequencies it began to increase given by:

$$\varepsilon_{reff} = \frac{\varepsilon_{r+1}}{2} + \frac{\varepsilon_{r-1}}{2} \left[1 + 12\frac{h}{w} \right]^{-\frac{1}{2}} \quad \frac{W}{h} > 1 \tag{3}$$

The extended length by the distance ΔL with respect to the effective dielectric constant and width-height ration given by:

$$\frac{\Delta L}{h} = 0.412 \frac{(\varepsilon_{\text{reff}} + 0.3)(\frac{W}{h} + 0.264)}{(\varepsilon_{\text{reff}} - 0.258)(\frac{W}{h} + 0.8)}$$
(4)

Where h is height of the substrate. The thickness of the substrate was determined to be 1.5 mm. After all the parameters were determined, a boundary of the patch in order to keep the dimension of the patch for dropcasting of the Ni-rGO slurry. The Ni-rGO was mixed with 50:50 solution of water and isopropanol forming a slurry. The slurry was dropcasted in the patch boundary. The patch had a ground plain and the substrate used was a FR4 substrate. Figure 7.1 shows a (a) plain patch showing the boundary and (b) patch antenna with dropcasted Ni-rGO.

In order to determine the reflection coefficient, radiation pattern and the gain of the patch a simulation was done using CST microwave studio. The radiation pattern was also measured using Rohde & Schwarz ZVL Network Analyser 13.6 GHz. The simulations and measurements were done between 2 and 3 GHz. The dimensions of the patch are summarized in table 8.1.

Parameters	Value	unit
Resonant Frequency, f_r	2.4	GHz
Dielectric constant of substrate,	4.4	-
Thickness of the substrate, h_s	1.5	mm
Copper thickness, h_t	0.035	mm
Patch length, L	28.95	mm
Patch width, W	28.95	mm
Ground plane length, L_g	57.9	mm
Ground Plane width, W_g	57.9	mm
Feedline length, <i>F</i> _i	9	mm
Feedline width, W_f	2.932	mm
Dielectric constant of Ni-rGO	65	-
Gap between feed and patch, <i>G</i> _{pf}	1	mm

Table 8.1: Table of parameters and value for the simulations of patch antenna





Figure 8.1: Picture showing patch used in the experiment (a) plain patch, (b) patch antenna with Ni-rGO drop casted and (c) measurement of patch using network analyzer.

8.3. Results and Discussion

The synthesis of reduced graphene oxide decorated with magnetic nanoparticles was successful, as seen by inspection of TEM images in Figure 7.2. TEM data shows the

prepared specimens Ni-rGO, were monodispersed in the graphene sheet. The selected electron area diffraction shown that Ni-rGO was monocrystalline and that the metal nanoparticles are on the graphene sample [7]. The conductivity of Ni-rGO was previously determined to be 62695.82 S/ m and the extinction coefficient (ϵ) was 4.82 × 10⁶ L/g m [8]. The values were used in the simulation of the microwave absorption characteristics for Ni-rGO. The targeted measurement frequencies were between 2 to 3 GHz because of the wide applications of communication devices at 2.4 GHz [9].



Figure 8.2: (a) TEM image of Ni-rGO and (b) selected area electron diffraction of Ni-rGO.

The proposed antenna design was carried out using CST Microwave Studio. The parameters that were investigated were return loss and radiation pattern as well the gain in dBi. The return loss is value which indicates the amount of the reflected and forward power of the patch which is given by S11 [9]. An acceptable operation of the antenna the S11 must be less than -10dB [10]. The bandwidth of the operation antenna is measured at the return loss of -10 dB [10]. Figure 3 shows the return loss parameter from the simulation and the measured results. The measured results with the simulated both had resonant frequencies less than -10 dB. This meant that NI-rGO can be used as a patch antenna. The simulated data has on one resonant frequency at 2.5

GHz at -13.5 dB. The measure data multiple resonant frequencies with the lowest return loss at 2.78 GHz with -14.35 dB. The measured result had a wide bandwidth from 2.28 to 2.97 GHz and the simulated data had a bandwidth of 2.46 to 2.54 GHz. The measured results show that the Ni-rGO can be used in WLAN, Bluetooth and wireless applications [11]. The other application for the patch antenna is WiMAX which operates between 2.4 GHz to 2.8 GHz which is known as the low band [12]. The other value important parameter is the voltage standing wave ratio (VSWR) which should be between 1 and 2 [13]. The simulated data is plotted in Figure 7.4; the obtained from the simulation is 1.73 which lies in the acceptable operation of the antenna is reflecting the power and transmission of the power is not achieved. Therefore the proposed antenna has the ability to transmit power.



Figure 8.3: Measured and simulated reflection coefficient [S1, 1] of the Ni-rGO patch antenna.



Figure 8.4: Simulated values Voltage Standing Wave Ratio of the Ni-rGO patch antenna.

The operation of the antenna can be improved by employing a defected ground structure (DGS). This method improves the radiation efficiency of the patch antenna by removing higher harmonics and impeding power loss [14]. It also lowers the resonant frequency of the antenna.

Figure 7.5, shows the simulated and measured results of the reflection coefficient. The simulated reflection coefficient result has shifted and as low as – 31 dBi. The measured results multiple resonant frequencies at 2.45 and 2.56 GHz. The reflection coefficient was -14.56 and -15.12 dB, which was a marginable improvement to the normal ground state patch antenna. The measured result had a wide bandwidth from 2.28 to 2.97 GHz and the simulated data had a bandwidth of 2.46 to 2.54 GHz. The measured results show that the Ni-rGO can be used in WLAN, Bluetooth and wireless applications [11]. The other application for the patch antenna is WiMAX which operates between 2.4 GHz to 2.8 GHz which is known as the low band [12].



Figure 8.5: Measured and simulated reflection coefficient [S1, 1] of the Ni-rGO patch antenna with defected ground structure (DGS).

The simulated data is plotted in Figure 7.6; the obtained from the simulation is 1.2 which lie in the acceptable operation of the antenna. Value of the VSWR which is greater than 2 usually implies that the antenna is reflecting the power and transmission of the power is not achieved. Therefore, the proposed antenna has the ability to transmit power.



Figure 8.6: Simulated values Voltage Standing Wave Ratio of the Ni-rGO patch antenna with defected ground structure (DGS).

The radiation pattern is another important parameter the simulated results are show in Figure 7.7. The patch without DGS is shown as 7.7 a where the main lobe has a directivity of 6.25 dBi with a gain of -1.18 dBi. The patch with DGS was different to patch without DGS. The directivity at the main lobe was 3.75 dBi and the gain was 2.6 dBi. The patch with DGS performed better when compared with the patch antenna without DSG. The patch antenna with DGS had positive gain and faced the opposite direction. **Table 8.2:** Table of resonant frequency, bandwidth, directivity and gain for Ni-rGO patch antenna.

Sample	Resonant free	juency/GHz	Bandwidth/GHz		Directivity/	Gain/dBi
	Measured	Simulated	Measured	Simulated	dBi	
Ni-rGO	2.79, 2.89	2.45	2.28 -2.92	2.45 - 2.55	-6.25	-1.18
Ni-rGO (DGS)	2.45,2.77	2.69	2.16 - 2.81	2.53 - 2.83	3.75	2.63



Figure 8.7: Simulated values radiation pattern of Ni-rGO patch antenna (a) without DGS and (b) with DGS.

Conclussion

The Ni-rGO was used in the patch antenna application. The results of the reflection coefficient were both from simulations and measured results. The patch antennas had reflection coefficient which were less than -10 dBi. The resonant frequencies of the

patch were between 2.2 to 2.9 GHz. The results shows the Ni-rGO can function as antenna with application in wireless communications such as Bluetooth, WiLAN and WiMAX. The patch with defected ground state structure was found to perform better than the antenna without DGS. The gain was found to be positive and had the lowest reflective coefficient.

Other Simulations

The other samples were prepared for the preparation of patch antennas. The samples were rGO, N-rGO, B-rGO, Co-rGO and FeCo-rGO. Their conductivities less than of conductivity of Ni-rGO. The ability of the prepared samples perform as patch antennas were simulated also. The simulation data is Figure 7.8 and summarized in Table 7.3. The samples that were found to have the potential to be used in patch antenna applications were B-rGO, Co-rGO and FeCo-rGO which have the reflection coefficients that surpass -10 dBi. Even though the gains were negative we can theorize that employing the ground state structure on the sample. The N-rGO samples had a reflection that did not reach -10 dBi and can be applied in patch antenna applications.



Figure 8.8: Simulated results of the reflection coefficient of Co-rGO, FeCo-rGO, B-rGO and N-rGO.

Sample	Bandwidth/GHz	Resonant frequency/GHz	Directivity/dBi	Gain/dBi		
FeCo-rGO	0.82	2.505	-16.2	-1.44		
Co-rGO	0.75	2.509	-16.4	-1.43		
N-rGO	-	-	-	-		
B-rGO	0.051	2.45	-16.5	-2.33		

Table 8.3: Table of simulated data: resonant frequency, bandwidth, directivity and gain for Co-rGO, FeCo-rGO, N-rGO and B-rGO.

References

[1] Wong, D., Zhou, J., Li, J., Jiang, X., Wang, Y., Gao, F.: Cobalt-boron nanoparticles anchored of graphene as anode of lithium ion batteries. *Chemical Engineering Journal*, vol. **360**, pp. 271 – 279, (2019).

[2] J. Shao, J. Feng, H. Zhou, A. Yuan, Graphene aerogel encapsulated Fe-Co oxide nanocubes derived from Prussian blue analogue as integrated anode with enhanced Li-ion storage properties. *Applied Surface Science*, vol. **471**, pp. 745 – 752 (2019).

[3] Meng, F., Wang, H., Huang, F., Guo, Y., Z. Wang, Hui, D.: Graphene-based microwave absorbing: A review and prospective. *Composites B*, vol. **137**, pp. 260 -277 (2018).

[4] H.N. Yang, D.C. Lee, K.W. Park, W.J. Kim, "Platinum-boron doped graphene intercalated by carbon black for cathode catalyst in proton exchange membrane fuel cell," *Energy*, vol. 89, pp. 500 – 510, 2015.

[5] V. Pareders-Garcia, C. Cruz, N. Toledo, J. Dernadin, D. Venegas-Yazigi, C. Castillo, E. Spodine, Z. Luo, "Effect of the different synthetic parameters on the morphology and magnetic properties of nickel nanoparticles," *New Journal of Chemistry*, vol. 38, pp. 837 – 844, 2014.

[6] M.A. Afridi, "Microstrip patch antenna- designing at 2.4 GHz," *Biological and Chemical Research*, vol. 2015, pp. 128 – 132, 2015.

[7] H. Wu, M. Shao, J. Gu, X. Wei, "Microwave-assisted synthesis of fibre -like Mg (OH)₂ nanoparticles in aqueous solution at room temperature," *Material Letters*, vol. **58**,pp. 2166 – 2169, 2004.

[8] Z. Chen, Y. Liu, L. Fang, P. Jiang, X. Huang, "Role of reduced oxide in dielectric enhancement of ferroelectric polymers composites," *Applied Surface Science*, vol. 470, pp. 348 -359, 2019.

[9] M. Karthick, "Desing of 2.4 GHz patch antennae for WLAN application," *IEEE National Conference on Computing, Communication and Information Systems*, 2015.

[10] J. Kaur, R. Khanna, "Co-axial fed rectangular microstrip antenna for 5.2 GHz WLAN application," *Universal Journal of Electrical and Electronic Engineering*, vol. 1, pp. 94 – 98, 2013.

[11] U. Deepak, T.K. Roshna, P. Mohanan, "A dual band SIR couped dipole antenna for 2.4/5.2/5.8 GHz applications," *Procedia Computer Science*, vol. 46, pp. 1311 – 1316, 2015.

[12] S. Punusa, M. Kumar, "Triple-band inverted F-Slot microstrip patch antenna for WiMAX application," *International Conference on Medical Imaging, m-Health and Emerging Communication Systems*, 2014

[13] S. Mrunalini, A. Manoharan, "Dual-band re-configurable graphene-based patch antenna in terahertz band for wireless network-on-chip application," *IET Microwaves, Antennas & Propagation*, vol. 11, pp. 2104 – 2108, 2017.



Hysteris loop of Co-NP



Hysteris loop of FeCo-rGO



Hysteris loop of Ni-rGO



Hysteris loop of Co-rGO



Hysteris loop of B-rGO



FTIR Spectrum of GO







FTIR Spectrum of rGO



FTIR Spectrum of B-rGO



XRD of FeCo-rGO






Operations: Import Pfile: NL_NP_rep to check for peaks shift.rew - Type: 2Th/Th locked - Start 25.000 * - End: 90.002 * - Step: 0.054 * - Step time: 38.4 s - Temp:: 25 *C (Room) - Time Started: 17 s - 2-Thete: 25.000 * - Thete: 12.500 * - Chi: 0.00 * - P Operations: Y Solah MU 2:000 | Beckground 0:009,1.000 | Import

XRD of Ni-NP







XRD of Co-NP



XRD of Co-rGO



Simulataneous TGA and DSC of Ni-rGO



Simulataneous TGA and DSC of FeCo-rGO



Simulataneous TGA and DSC of rGO



Simulataneous TGA and DSC of N-rGO



Simulataneous TGA and DSC of Co-rGO



Simulataneous TGA and DSC of B-rGO



Raman of FeCo-rGO



Raman of Ni-rGO



Raman of Co-rGO



Raman of N-rGO







Conductivity of rGO







Conductivity of FeCo-rGO